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Preface

The life sciences ecosystem encompasses a wide array of entities that discover, develop, and
manufacture health care products. Such entities include pharmaceutical manufacturers; biotechnology
companies; medical device, diagnostic, and equipment manufacturers; and service companies such as
drug distributors, contract research organizations (CROs), contract manufacturing organizations (CMOs),
and health technology companies.

Finance and accounting professionals in the life sciences industry face complex issues and must
exercise significant judgment in applying existing rules to matters such as research and development
(R&D) costs, acquisitions and divestitures, consolidation, contingencies, revenue recognition, income
taxes, financial instruments, and financial statement presentation and disclosure. The 2024 edition of
Deloitte’s Life Sciences Industry Accounting Guide (the “Guide”) addresses these and other relevant topics
affecting the industry this year. It includes interpretive guidance, illustrative examples, recent standard-
setting and rulemaking developments (through March 8, 2024), and key differences between U.S. GAAP
and IFRS® Accounting Standards. In addition, this Guide discusses (1) accounting and financial reporting
considerations associated with the macroeconomic and geopolitical environment that apply specifically
to the life sciences industry, (2) environmental, social, and governance (ESG) matters that have become
topics of increased focus, and (3) the impact of the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (IRA).

Appendix B lists the titles of standards and other literature we cited, and Appendix C defines the
abbreviations we used. Key changes made to this Guide since publication of the 2023 edition are
summarized in Appendix D.

We hope the Guide is helpful in navigating the various accounting and reporting challenges that life
sciences entities face. We encourage clients to contact their Deloitte team for additional information and
assistance.
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Chapter 1 — Accounting and
Financial Reporting in Uncertain
Times: Considerations for Navigating
Macroeconomic and Geopolitical
Challenges

1.1 Executive Summary

Today's consumers and companies face numerous challenges associated with the current
macroeconomic and geopolitical environment (the “current environment”). Reports of continuing global
supply-chain disruptions, labor shortages, inflation, and geopolitical events dominate the news and are
top of mind for many financial executives.

On the basis of Deloitte’s Q3 2023 CFO Signals survey, some of the most common issues affecting

CFOs include (1) internal matters such as employee retention, employee working arrangements and
morale, generative artificial intelligence (GenAl), and cost management and (2) external concerns such as
inflation, interest rates, policies and regulations, and geopolitical tensions.

Certain of these challenges started during the COVID-19 pandemic, which gave rise to new operational
and financial difficulties, often with unique accounting and financial reporting implications (see Deloitte’s
March 25, 2020 [updated January 11, 2021], Financial Reporting Alert). For example, as a result of
significant global supply-chain disruptions and labor shortages brought on by the pandemic, many
product and employment costs increased. In addition, global central banks raised interest rates in an
attempt to temper the impact of historically high inflation rates.

More recently, the convergence of various macroeconomic and geopolitical factors has created a volatile
and uncertain environment in which a business's decision-making and accounting and financial reporting
have become increasingly challenging. As business leaders struggle to deal with macroeconomic and
geopolitical changes, both preparers and users of financial statements need to understand the impacts
and potential impacts of those changes, which involve a myriad of factors. Some of the more prominent
factors affecting life sciences companies include:

» Risk of recession.

* Interest rate increases.

» Tightening of credit and concerns about the banking sector.

» Concerns about the real estate sector, both residential and commercial.

» Continuing inflation, including geographic and sector-specific impacts.


https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/finance/us-3q23-cfo-signals-full-report-final.pdf
https://dart.deloitte.com/USDART/home/publications/deloitte/financial-reporting-alerts/2020/financial-reporting-considerations-economic-downturn-covid-19
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» Tightened labor market.

* Changes in foreign currency exposures as a result of both the geopolitical environment and
supply-chain challenges.

o Climate risk.

While each factor on its own poses challenges in the application of accounting standards, the
convergence of these factors significantly increases the level of complexity involved and, therefore,
the amount of effort needed to develop significant accounting estimates, such as the valuation of
receivables, inventory, investments, property and equipment, leased assets, goodwill, and intangibles. In
addition to the many potential impacts on accounting estimates, the factors can also have more direct
accounting implications. For example, as interest rates rise, debt covenant violations may increase,
which could call for an evaluation of debt classification and going-concern considerations, among
others. Further, given the current environment, life sciences companies may also need to reevaluate
their foreign currency exposures, the effectiveness of hedging relationships, and — while generally
considered rare — the potential need to change a foreign entity's functional currency as a result of
significant changes in economic facts and circumstances.

In light of the changing macroeconomic and geopolitical environments, life sciences companies should
also be mindful of the considerations below related to risk assessment, internal controls, and SEC
disclosures.

1.1.1 Risk Assessment

To address the complexity in the current environment, life sciences companies may need to revisit their
historical risk assessments and revise their processes and controls to ensure that their accounting

and reporting reflects the changing macroeconomic and geopolitical factors. In August 2023, SEC

Chief Accountant Paul Munter released a statement reinforcing the importance of assessing risk
comprehensively to ensure effective financial reporting and internal controls. He discussed risk
assessment considerations for both management and auditors related to the changing economic
conditions.

At the highest level, addressing this changing environment means revisiting risk assessments to ensure
that management has identified new risks or changes in existing risks, including fraud risks, that are
affecting the company. For example, management might consider the following:

* If management mitigated its exposure to foreign currency fluctuations by denominating more
of its transactions in a particular currency, has it unwittingly changed the functional currency of
the related business? Alternatively, if management mitigated its foreign currency exposure by
expanding its hedging program, has it adequately considered counterparty risk, especially given
the concerns about the banking sector?

* If management changed or diversified its suppliers in response to supply-chain constraints or
geopolitical concerns, has this supplier change increased the company’s exposure to foreign
currency fluctuations and, if so, is that appropriately disclosed in the company’s financial
statements and SEC filings?

»  Which of the current macroeconomic and geopolitical factors, or combination of factors, affect
the overall risk of fraud either at an entity level or with respect to specific risks within the entity's
existing accounting and reporting structure?


https://www.sec.gov/news/statement/munter-importance-risk-assessment-082523

Chapter 1 — Accounting and Financial Reporting in Uncertain Times: Considerations
for Navigating Macroeconomic and Geopolitical Challenges

In addition, organizations that use or are considering using GenAl in accounting and financial reporting
should carefully consider the potential risks associated with this technology. GenAl models can be
biased and inaccurate, and they may not be able to capture all the nuances of the current business
environment. Therefore, organizations may need to revise their processes and controls to mitigate these
risks.

While many of the changes outlined above are one-off occurrences, others have a clear recurring
impact. For instance, when the inflation rate was lower, life sciences companies may have been
successful in passing on minor cost increases to their customers so that cost changes may not have
had a substantial impact on margins. However, because customers may now be more resistant to price
increases, companies may face difficulties in passing on significant cost increases to their customers.
Pressure to increase margins may instead lead companies to explore cost-saving initiatives such as
layoffs and restructuring activities, which can create new accounting, reporting, and fraud risks.

1.1.2 Design and Operation of Internal Controls

Each new material risk identified by management is typically accompanied by a corresponding change
in the design or operation of a company's internal control over financial reporting. From a design
point of view, management may consider the need to challenge (1) how well the control addresses

the risk, (2) the frequency with which the control is performed, (3) the competency and authority of
those performing the control, and (4) the level of aggregation or disaggregation, predictability, and the
criteria for investigation in a management review control. For example, management may consider the
following:

* Ina highly inflationary environment, does the existing fluctuation analysis, in which management
reviews changes over an amount or percentage, continue to be effective as an internal control
or should the criteria for investigation be changed? For example, in an inflationary environment,
a decrease in costs as a percentage of sales may warrant investigation even if the decrease did
not exceed a defined threshold for investigation. Conversely, in situations in which every cost
has increased above management's threshold for investigation, should management consider
whether that investigation has been diligent or whether it reflects a confirmation bias since
management expected costs to increase?

» Do personnel reviewing the fluctuation analysis understand the business well enough to tell the
difference between an unusual fluctuation and an expected fluctuation?

* Asaresult of the tight labor market, has the company experienced turnover and had challenges
hiring qualified personnel? Management should also consider whether, as a result of these
challenges in hiring qualified personnel, it takes more time to fill vacancies, which possibly puts
stress on existing controls and processes and thereby increases the opportunity for fraud.

A common example of changing the frequency of when a control is performed is an interim goodwill
impairment analysis in response to a triggering event. However, there are other circumstances in which
the frequency of a control may need to be changed, even if it is not called for by accounting standards.
For example, if an entity is experiencing significant cost increases, management should consider
whether to only update the standard cost of inventory annually or to do it on a more frequent basis. If
management instead relies on its process for capitalizing variances, it should assess whether (1) that
process adequately considers the fact that some costs are relatively stable while others continue to
undergo significant change and (2) the analysis should be disaggregated by product line, cost type, or
other unit to ensure a reasonable allocation.
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Beyond the design of a control, it is also important to think about how controls operate in a changing
environment. Processes such as developing a forecast for use in an impairment analysis and reviewing
that forecast may need to be modified when many of the factors discussed above come together. For
example, a global entity may encounter very different economic circumstances in different geographic
locations, with some countries experiencing deflation and others experiencing significant inflation.

The company’s consideration of inflation will necessarily be affected by the degree of inflation in the
geographic locations in which the company operates, and a one-size-fits-all approach will not fit every
company. In addition, since interest rate changes will affect the weighted-average cost of capital used
in a discounted cash flow analysis, management should consider whether tightening credit has had an
impact on debt-to-equity ratios. Even if a company is projecting solid profitable growth, its ability to grow
could be challenged by labor availability in a tight labor market.

Management should consider the above factors, among others, in the preparation and review of
forecasts and should challenge whether historical results and relationships continue to be indicative of
future projected results. It should also consider potential fraud risks and schemes related to pressures
resulting from interest rate changes, since such pressures could affect the company’s forecasts and
ability to meet targets for key performance indicators.

1.1.3 Inflation

Although the effects of inflation vary by company, there are some common topics that life sciences
companies should evaluate when considering how recent inflationary trends may affect their accounting
and financial reporting.

Because inflation is most likely driving up costs of acquiring goods/inventory and related packaging
materials, as well as employee wages, life sciences companies should consider whether they can pass
along those increased costs to their customers.

Life sciences companies may also have increased costs associated with long-term revenue contracts
that they may or may not be able to pass along to their customers. If a company is unable to raise its
prices under a revenue contract, the company's estimated profitability on the contract may decline or
result in a loss on the contract. Companies should consider the potential accounting implications of
reduced or negative profitability on a revenue contract, including the period in which to record a loss if
applicable.

Inflation may result in renegotiating long-term contracts, such as leases or long-term supply agreements,
which in turn may have potential accounting implications. For example, depending on the terms, a
modification to a lease contract may require a company to reassess the classification and measurement
of the lease.

In addition, global central banks have raised interest rates in an attempt to temper the impact of

high inflation. Companies should consider whether the increase in interest rates has resulted in an
impairment of financial assets. Companies should also consider potential impacts on estimated credit
and loan loss reserves.

As life sciences companies review their investment strategies in light of recent inflation, they may
consider making different types of investments or moving away from holding excess cash on hand. For
example, a company may consider investing in digital assets (such as cryptocurrencies) or Treasury
Inflation-Protected Securities as a hedge against inflation. Companies contemplating such investments
should consider the complex accounting and financial reporting that may result from holding them. For
example, inflation-indexed debt securities are subject to specific interest recognition guidance under
U.S. GAAP and should be evaluated to determine whether they contain any derivative that is required to
be accounted for separately for accounting purposes.

4
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Further, life sciences companies should monitor the appropriateness of the discount rate used to
measure any pension-related liabilities, particularly since even a seemingly small change in the discount
rate can affect a company's pension liability significantly. For example, higher interest rates may lead to
decreases in pension liabilities and required employer contributions. However, such decreases may be
offset by higher employee wages, which are further discussed in Section 1.1.4.

1.1.4 Labor Shortages

Labor shortages may manifest themselves in the form of employee turnover, departures, and demands
for higher wages at all levels of the organization. As costs of retaining labor increase in a production
environment, companies should consider how these increased labor costs affect the cost of inventory
and whether these higher costs can be offset by price increases as companies sell these goods to their
customers. Companies should also consider the potential accounting implications of including increased
Costs in inventory.

To address employee demands for increased compensation, many companies are revisiting their
compensation structures. Adjustments may take the form of increased hourly wages, retention bonuses,
improved incentive compensation or stock compensation, or other benefits. Companies should consider
the accounting implications of these changes in compensation structure. For example, if a company
provides retention bonuses to employees, the company should consider the contractual terms of those
arrangements and assess during what period those bonuses should be recognized. In addition, certain
companies may need to consider changes in their workforce and the related compensation structure
when evaluating assumptions used to measure their pension liability.

In response to a shortage in labor, some companies may be forced to operate at a reduced capacity.
In such a case, companies should consider whether there are costs that have been capitalized into
inventory historically but should be expensed currently because of abnormal production levels (e.g.,
indirect costs such as rent and depreciation).

Increased turnover and the shortage of employees may also put stress on a company's internal control
environment. As employee responsibilities shift, companies should assess whether appropriately skilled
and trained individuals are in place to effectively design, implement, operate, and monitor controls,
including controls related to information technology (IT).

1.1.5 Communication With Stakeholders

In addition to considering potential accounting-related impacts of inflation and labor shortages,

life sciences companies will need to evaluate their communication strategies related to such risks

and uncertainties. While private and public companies alike will need to comply with the disclosure
requirements under U.S. GAAP, public companies will also need to consider the SEC's reporting
requirements, including required disclosures about trends and uncertainties in the business, risk factors,
and MD&A sections of filings. For many companies, these issues may require disclosure in MD&A of
known trends or uncertainties that could affect sales, net income, or liquidity. Further, companies should
tailor these disclosures to their specific circumstances and avoid generic boilerplate descriptions of
inflation and labor shortages. When public companies identify new or emerging risks in the current
environment, they should consider the impacts of those risks and corresponding disclosure in MD&A.
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At the 2023 AICPA & CIMA Conference on Current SEC and PCAOB Developments, the SEC staff
discussed the importance of disclosures about risks and uncertainties, specifically the need for
registrants to provide high-quality and transparent disclosures, especially during times of economic
uncertainty. The SEC staff noted that when registrants discuss information about estimates and
uncertainties, they should clearly explain their significant management judgments, key assumptions, and
known risks so that investors can better understand the significant risks of adjustments to the financial
statements in future periods and make informed investment decisions.

For more information, see Deloitte’s September 15, 2023, Financial Reporting Alert and December 10,
2023, Heads Up.

1.1.6 Ongoing Accounting and Financial Reporting Considerations Stemming
From the Current Environment

We believe that in addition to the economic factors discussed above, the following accounting and
reporting issues will continue to be the most pervasive and challenging for life sciences entities as a
result of the current environment:

* Preparation of forward-looking cash flow estimates and forecasts — The use of forward-looking
information is pervasive in an entity's assessment of, among other things, the impairment of
nonfinancial assets (including goodwill), the realizability of deferred tax assets, and the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Unique complexities associated with preparing forward-
looking information in the current environment include the following:

o There is a wide range of possible outcomes.

o The associated economic impact of the current environment is highly dependent on
variables that are difficult to predict and may not affect all subsectors the same.

o Each entity must then translate the effect of those macro conditions into estimates of its own
future cash flows.

Nevertheless, entities will need to make good-faith estimates, prepare comprehensive
documentation supporting the basis for such estimates, and provide robust disclosure of the
key assumptions used and, potentially, their sensitivity to change.

» Recoverability and impairment of assets — Perhaps the most acute examples of the increased
challenge associated with forward-looking information are the impairment tests for long-lived
assets, intangibles, and goodwill. These nonfinancial assets use recoverability and impairment
models that rely on the development of cash flow projections that are subject to the significant
uncertainties noted above. However, impairments establish a new cost basis for the assets and
do not permit the subsequent reversal of the recorded impairment. Good-faith estimates in the
current reporting period could result in material recorded impairments; if unforeseen favorable
developments occur in subsequent quarters, the recognized impairment would no longer be
indicated, but it cannot be reversed.

» Accounting for financial assets — At the onset of the pandemic, many entities experienced severe
declines in the fair value of financial assets, particularly equity securities. Likewise, the ability
of debtors to comply with the terms of loans and similar instruments was adversely affected.
Entities should continue to carefully consider and apply the appropriate impairment and loss
recognition guidance.


https://dart.deloitte.com/USDART/home/publications/deloitte/financial-reporting-alerts/2023/considerations-for-navigating-macroeconomic-and-geopolitical-challenges
https://dart.deloitte.com/USDART/home/publications/deloitte/heads-up/2023/aicpa-cima-conference-sec-pcaob-developments-esg-crypto-accounting-reporting
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» Contract modifications and penalties — Changes in economic activity caused by the current
environment may cause many entities to renegotiate the terms of existing contracts and
arrangements. Examples include contracts with customers, compensation arrangements with
employees, leases, and the terms of many financial assets and liabilities. As a result of these
changes, entities will need to ensure that the appropriate guidance in U.S. GAAP is considered.

» Subsequent events — It may be challenging for an entity to separate recognized and
unrecognized subsequent events in a global marketplace that is extremely volatile and in which
major developments occur daily (e.g., the stock market's daily reaction to new information).
Although entities may not have all facts “on hand” on the balance sheet date, once such facts
are gathered, an assessment must be based on conditions as they existed on the balance sheet
date. As the global landscape evolves, entities are encouraged to remain vigilant, document the
nature and timing of events, and consult with their accounting advisers.

» Going concern — In the current environment, entities need to consider whether, in their specific
circumstances, they have the ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the
date on which the interim or annual financial statements are issued (or available to be issued,
when applicable). The initial assessment (before consideration of management's plans) will
require an entity to consider, among other things, (1) the extent of operational disruption,

(2) potential diminished demand for products or services, (3) contractual obligations due or
anticipated within one year, (4) potential liquidity and working capital shortfalls, and (5) access
to existing sources of capital (e.g., available line of credit). An entity can only base this initial
assessment on information that is available (i.e., known and reasonably knowable) as of the
issuance date of the financial statements. An entity may be able to alleviate substantial doubt,
if such doubt exists, if it is probable that the entity’s plans will be effectively implemented and,
when implemented, will mitigate the conditions that are raising substantial doubt in the first
instance and will do so within one year after the issuance date of the financial statements.
Further, an entity must provide comprehensive disclosures in its annual and interim financial
statements when events and conditions are identified that raise substantial doubt about the
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern even when management's plans alleviate such
doubt.

» Loss contingencies — Many entities are facing disruption and delays or are incurring other
contingencies in the current environment. Entities are required to disclose both recognized
and unrecognized contingencies and the nature of the contingencies, particularly when loss is
reasonably possible but not yet recorded in the financial statements.

» Share-based compensation — Many life sciences entities provide share-based compensation to
incentivize employees and retain talent. Share-based compensation awards may be subject to
various vesting conditions and requirements that have been affected in the current environment
or, as a result of declines in financial performance of the underlying stock, may be considered
deeply out-of-the-money. Entities should carefully evaluate changes in these awards to ensure
that the appropriate accounting treatments are being applied.

Entities must carefully consider their unique circumstances and risk exposures when analyzing

how recent events may affect their financial reporting. Specifically, financial reporting and related
financial statement disclosures need to convey all material current or potential effects of the current
environment. It is also critical that management understand the risks entities face and how those risks
affect them. Further, SEC registrants must consider whether (1) certain disclosures are required by
Form 8-K (e.g., material impairment charges, liquidity events that result in a violation of debt covenants)
and (2) to disclose information in areas such as MD&A or the risk factors section in addition to their
disclosures in the footnotes to the financial statements.
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Registrants must consider the impacts of the current environment on their required disclosures and
public filings. Applicable SEC staff guidance includes CF Disclosure Guidance Topics 9 and 9A (which
were issued in response to the pandemic) and a sample letter discussing disclosure considerations
(which was issued in response to the Russia-Ukraine War). While the guidance in those documents was
prompted by specific events, it continues to apply in the current environment.

The remainder of this chapter further discusses key accounting and financial reporting considerations
for life sciences entities related to conditions that may result from the current environment. In addition,
disclosure matters related to the current environment are discussed in Section 1.13. For more
information about the topics highlighted in the sections below, see the following Deloitte Financial
Reporting Alert newsletters:

» “Accounting and Financial Reporting in Uncertain Times: Considerations for Navigating
Macroeconomic and Geopolitical Challenges.”

» “Accounting and Financial Reporting Considerations Related to the Current Macroeconomic
and Geopolitical Environment.”

* “Financial Reporting Considerations Related to COVID-19 and an Economic Downturn.”

* “COVID-19 and Financial Reporting Trends — Accounting for the Pandemic in the Current
Quarter.”

* “COVID-19 and Non-GAAP Measures.”

» “COVID-19 Financial Reporting Trends — Different News or More of the Same?”

1.2 Potential Impact on Contract R&D Arrangements

Life sciences entities that have contractual arrangements to perform contract R&D for others (e.g.,
biotechs and CROs) may experience changes in the cost of performing contract R&D (e.g., as a result of a
shift in the mix of in-person monitoring visits and remote monitoring, or because of changes in patterns
of enrolling patients in clinical trials), which could have revenue recognition implications. For example,
an entity that uses a cost-based input method to measure its progress toward complete satisfaction

of a performance obligation would need to reevaluate whether its measure of progress is affected by
changes in the overall cost of the R&D program or whether any increased costs should be excluded
from the measure of progress because they do not depict the entity's performance in transferring
control of the contract R&D (e.g., if the costs are due to unexpected amounts of wasted materials,
labor, or other resources). Further, the potential disruption in an entity's performance of contract R&D
could affect its estimate of variable consideration in circumstances in which the entity is entitled to
receive R&D milestone payments if (1) clinical trial regulatory approvals are received by a certain date,
(2) regulatory approval for commercialization is ultimately achieved, or (3) both. See Chapter 2 for more
information about collaborative arrangements accounted for as revenue contracts.
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1.3 Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets (Including Goodwill)

As a result of the changes in the current environment, life sciences entities should consider whether they
are experiencing any conditions (e.g., decreased revenues, order cancellations, supply-chain disruptions,
or declines in share price) that indicate that their assets should be tested for impairment (i.e., a “triggering
event” has occurred). Even assets that have an annual impairment testing requirement, such as goodwill
or indefinite-lived intangible assets, should be tested for impairment when a triggering event occurs.

For example, the decline in global equity markets in the current environment may have led an entity to
conclude that it was required to test goodwill for impairment (because a decline in market capitalization
could signal a change in facts and circumstances “that would more likely than not reduce the fair value
of a reporting unit below its carrying amount,” in accordance with ASC 350-20-35-30). The guidance on
testing assets for impairment varies depending on the asset being tested. Some nonfinancial assets are
tested for impairment individually, while others are tested as part of a larger unit of account. Further,
some nonfinancial assets are tested by using a recoverability test, while others are tested by using a fair
value or net realizable value test.

In addition, it is important to consider the order in which assets are tested so that the entity can ensure
that any required adjustments are made before including those assets in the testing of larger units

of account. Assets that are not held for sale should be tested for impairment in the following order:

(1) assets outside the scope of ASC 360-10 (other than goodwill), such as inventory, capitalized costs of
obtaining or fulfilling a revenue contract, and indefinite-lived intangible assets; (2) long-lived assets in
accordance with ASC 360-10; and (3) goodwill in accordance with ASC 350-20.

1.3.1 Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets Other Than Goodwill

As stated in ASC 350-30-35-4, an indefinite-lived intangible asset is one for which “there is no
foreseeable limit on the period of time over which it is expected to contribute to the cash flows of the
reporting entity.” Certain brands, trademarks, or licenses are common examples.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested annually for impairment and more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it is more likely than not that the intangible asset is impaired

in accordance with ASC 350-30. ASC 350-30-35-18B provides examples of these events or changes

in circumstances, which include, but are not limited to, financial performance, legal or political

factors, entity-specific events, and industry or market considerations. On the basis of the impairment
assessment, if an entity determines that it is more likely than not that the carrying value of the intangible
asset exceeds its fair value, the entity performs a valuation to determine the fair value of the asset and
recognizes an impairment loss equal to the excess of the carrying amount of the intangible asset over its
fair value.

A valuation technique that is often applied to the measurement of a brand or trademark is the relief
from royalty method. This method, which focuses primarily on expected revenues and royalty rates,
requires the entity to make fewer assumptions than other income methods. Entities are expected to use
their best estimate of all required business and valuation assumptions for this or other income methods
used to measure the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset.

In addition to evaluating the need for an interim impairment test, an entity should also consider whether
there are any indicators that an intangible asset classified as indefinite-lived has become finite-lived,
which might occur if an entity changes its expected use of the asset in response to the effects of the
current environment.
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Disclosure Considerations

ASC 350-30-50-3 provides specific disclosure requirements for each recognized impairment loss
related to an intangible asset.

1.3.2 Long-Lived Assets

A life sciences entity should consider whether it is experiencing (1) a decline in revenues, (2) an increase
in costs (i.e., a decline in net cash flows), or (3) both as a result of the current environment. Such
changes may indicate that the entity should test its long-lived assets for recoverability. Although we
expect each entity to be affected differently in terms of both the effects of the current environment on
its cash flows and the susceptibility of its long-lived assets to impairment, an entity should document its
considerations regarding the recoverability of its long-lived assets.

Entities are required by ASC 360-10-35-21 to test a long-lived asset (asset group) that is classified as
held and used for recoverability “whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying
amount may not be recoverable” (e.g., a significant adverse change in the business climate that could
affect the value of a long-lived asset [asset group]). Events or changes in circumstances that prompt

a recoverability test are commonly referred to as “triggering events.” In light of events such as the

idling of manufacturing facilities, or trends related to decreases in consumer spending, many entities
are likely to experience one or more of the triggering events listed in ASC 360-10-35-21. For example,
triggering events that may be present as a result of the current environment include, but are not limited
to, a “significant decrease in the market price of a long-lived asset (asset group),” a “significant adverse
change in the extent or manner in which a long-lived asset (asset group) is being used or in its physical
condition,” or a “current-period operating or cash flow loss combined with . . . a projection or forecast
that demonstrates continuing losses associated with the use of a long-lived asset (asset group).”

ASC 360-10-35-23 states that “a long-lived asset or assets shall be grouped with other assets and
liabilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of
other assets and liabilities.” Such a combination is called an asset group.

An asset group may include not only long-lived assets that are within the scope of ASC 360-10 but also
other assets such as receivables, inventory, indefinite-lived intangible assets, or goodwill. ASC 360-10-
15-5 provides a list of assets that are not within the scope of ASC 360-10. Note that ASC 360-10 applies
to long-lived assets that are not within the scope of other GAAP, such as property, plant, and equipment
(PP&E); finite-lived intangible assets (customer relationships, technology, brands, and tradenames); and
right-of-use assets.

To test a long-lived asset (asset group) for recoverability, an entity compares the carrying value of the
asset (asset group) to the undiscounted net cash flows generated from the asset’s (asset group's) use
and eventual disposal. While the use of undiscounted cash flows generally indicates that a long-lived
asset (asset group) is less prone to impairment, reductions in the estimates of undiscounted cash flows
based on the expected duration and magnitude of conditions in the current environment may indicate
that the carrying amount of the long-lived asset (asset group) is not recoverable.

If an entity estimates future cash flows to test the recoverability of a long-lived asset (asset group), such
an estimate should include only the future cash flows (cash inflows minus associated cash outflows) that
are (1) directly associated with the asset (asset group) and (2) expected to arise as a direct result of the
use and eventual disposition of the asset (asset group). To estimate future cash flows, the entity must
consider both cash inflows and cash outflows. ASC 360 indicates that it may be useful for the entity to
apply a probability-weighted approach when it is considering alternative courses of action to recover the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset (asset group). Such an approach may also be beneficial when the
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entity is considering alternative courses of action to manage cash outflows in response to anticipated
revenue declines as well as when evaluating the extent of government intervention and the potential
effects of any such intervention on both cash inflows and cash outflows.

ASC 360-10-35-30 states, in part, that the “assumptions used in developing [cash flow estimates
should] be reasonable in relation to the assumptions used in developing other information used by the
entity for comparable periods, such as internal budgets and projections, accruals related to incentive
compensation plans, or information communicated to others.”

If the entity determines that the carrying amount of the long-lived asset (asset group) is not recoverable,
the entity then performs the next step in the impairment test by recognizing an impairment loss for the
amount by which the carrying amount of the long-lived asset (asset group) exceeds its fair value. It then
allocates that amount, in accordance with ASC 360-10-35-28, to the long-lived assets that are within the
scope of ASC 360-10 “on a pro rata basis using the relative carrying amounts of those assets, except that
the loss allocated to an individual long-lived asset of the group shall not reduce the carrying amount of
that asset below its fair value whenever that fair value is determinable without undue cost and effort.”

If an entity determines that a long-lived asset (asset group) is recoverable, it does not recognize an
impairment loss, even if the carrying value of that asset (asset group) exceeds its fair value. Regardless
of whether an entity recognizes an impairment loss, it should still consider whether the existence of a
trigger indicates that there has been a change in the useful life or salvage value of its long-lived assets. If
so, it should revise its depreciation or amortization estimates accordingly.

Sometimes, an entity may conclude that the affected long-lived assets will be sold, abandoned, or
otherwise disposed of. Under ASC 360, if the held-for-sale criteria in ASC 360-10-45-9 are met, the entity
is required to measure the asset (asset group) “at the lower of its carrying amount or [its] fair value less
cost to sell” in accordance with ASC 360-10-35-43. A long-lived asset that will be abandoned will continue
to be classified as held and used until it is disposed of. Such an asset is disposed of when it ceases to be
used. However, a “long-lived asset that [is] temporarily idled shall not be accounted for as if abandoned,”
in accordance with ASC 360-10-35-49. Further, in accordance with ASC 360-10-35-48, “[w]hen a long-
lived asset ceases to be used, the carrying amount of the asset should equal its salvage value, if any.”

Disclosure Considerations

ASC 360-10-50 provides disclosure requirements for impairments of long-lived assets classified
as held and used and for long-lived assets classified as held for sale or disposed of.

1.4 Forecasting

Life sciences entities continue to face challenges related to forecasting as a result of the ongoing
uncertainties associated with the current environment.

In thinking about both a new normal and future trends, some life sciences companies are evaluating
whether customer preferences have shifted in such a way that they most likely will not reach the same
performance levels they achieved before the pandemic. Other companies that may be benefiting
currently are assessing whether they will continue to outperform in future periods or revert back to
historical performance, or whether other trends or drivers (e.g., inflation, future regulations) are affecting
results.

1
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With all the unknowns and uncertainties, including the timing and pattern of economic recovery, we have
noted that more companies are preparing multiple forecasts with different recovery scenarios and are
probability-weighting the likelihood of each outcome. In addition, with the increase of liquidity challenges
and shortfalls of capital resources, many companies have enhanced their focus on forecasting cash
position and cash flows rather than allowing cash flow estimates to be simply derived on the basis of
forecasted operations.

While the approach to forecasting operations that some companies have taken leverages historical data
from the 2008 financial crisis (the “financial crisis”) as an appropriate benchmark, we believe that such
companies should exercise caution in determining the extent to which the financial crisis is comparable
to the current environment given the fundamental differences between the two economic periods.

For example, the current environment may present a myriad of factors such as change in customer
behavior, workforce adjustments, and industry-specific impacts, which were not necessarily present
during the financial crisis and may not affect all entities in the same fashion.

While we do not believe that there is a one-size-fits-all approach to addressing the forecasting
challenges that exist currently, we have seen the following strategies prove to be effective for a number
of companies:

» Evaluating recovery and financial forecasts from an outside-in perspective first. Specifically,
focusing on the factors, issues, and conditions outside of a company’s control that are known
and knowable.

* Automating components of forecasting to help remove bias and facilitate more real-time and
frequent reforecasting as key drivers and trends change, while also analyzing data at a more
detailed level.

» Considering facts that both support and contradict assumptions regarding the company’s timing
and pattern of recovery, sustainability, and growth.

1.5 Revenue Contracts

Some life sciences companies may seek to mitigate the effects of the current environment by offering
features such as price concessions, discounts on the purchase of future goods or services, free goods or
services, extended payment terms, opportunities to terminate agreements without penalty, or revisions
to purchase commitments.

If revisions are made to a revenue contract, significantly different reporting outcomes may result
depending on the nature of the changes. Companies must consider the specific facts and circumstances
of changes in contractual terms (including their business practices and communications with customers)
to determine whether to account for the impact of such changes at a single point in time or over a
longer period. See Chapter 2 for more considerations related to revenue recognition.

1.5.1 Failure-to-Supply Penalties

Some contracts with customers include a clause requiring the entity to pay a penalty to the customer

if it is unable to fulfill an order on a timely basis or to meet certain performance conditions specified

in the contract. As illustrated in Example 20 in ASC 606 (ASC 606-10-55-194 through 55-196), an entity
should consider such a penalty to be variable consideration in estimating the transaction price with

the customer. Further, the obligation to pay a penalty under such a scenario, once triggered, does not
represent a contingent loss under ASC 450-20; rather, the obligation should be accounted for as a
contractual liability. The probability of payment is irrelevant if settlement of the liability is required by
law or by contract. That is, other than deferred revenues, liabilities established by law or contract should
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be recorded at their stated amounts unless the guidance in U.S. GAAP requires otherwise. An entity's
uncertainty about whether an obligee will require performance does not (1) allow the entity to choose
to avoid the future sacrifice or (2) relieve the entity of the obligation. Once recognized, a contractual or
legal liability that is not deferred revenue (i.e., a contract liability under ASC 606) should be derecognized
only when the conditions for liability derecognition in ASC 405-20-40-1 have been met (i.e., relief through
repayment, or through a legal release either judicially or by the creditor).

1.5.2 Retroactive Payback Provisions

In certain countries, companies are required to pay rebates to the country's government health care
system if domestic industry sales exceed specified thresholds in a given year. In such a case, the portion
of the payback allocated to an individual company is based on that company's current market share (or
sales) in relation to the industry as a whole. For revenue recognition purposes, a retroactive payback
provision represents variable consideration that would need to be estimated, subject to the variable
consideration constraint. In light of the significant health care costs being incurred in many jurisdictions
with such provisions, there may be an increased likelihood that domestic industry sales will exceed
specified thresholds. Conversely, a life sciences entity's market share could be negatively affected

by supply-chain disruption as a result of the current environment. Therefore, an entity may need to
consider revising its estimates of such provisions.

1.6 Going-Concern Analysis and Disclosures

The current environment is significantly disrupting the operations of many businesses. Entities will need
to consider whether such disruption will be prolonged and result in diminished demand for products or
services or significant liquidity shortfalls (or both) that, among other things, raise substantial doubt about
whether the entity may be able to continue as a going concern.

As part of performing this assessment, management may need to consider whether the entity’s financial
statements should continue to be prepared on a going-concern basis (i.e., whether ASC 205-30 is
applicable). Even more importantly, management must consider whether (on the basis of ASC 205-40),
(1) there are conditions and events that, when considered in the aggregate, raise substantial doubt
about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date on which the
interim or annual financial statements are issued and (2) these conditions are able to be mitigated by
management’s plans.

ASC 205-40 requires an entity to provide disclosures in the annual and interim financial statements
when events and conditions are identified that raise substantial doubt about the entity's ability to
continue as a going concern within one year after the financial statements are issued. Such disclosures
are required even when management's plans alleviate such doubt about the entity's ability to continue
as a going concern. If management's plans do not alleviate substantial doubt about the entity's ability
to continue as a going concern, in addition to the required disclosures, management must state in the
notes to the financial statements that there is substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as
a going concern within one year after the date on which the annual or interim financial statements are
issued.

As indicated in ASC 205-40-55-2, assessing whether there is substantial doubt about an entity's ability to
continue as a going concern may involve the consideration of factors such as the following:

a. Negative financial trends, for example, recurring operating losses, working capital deficiencies, negative
cash flows from operating activities, and other adverse key financial ratios
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b. Other indications of possible financial difficulties, for example, default on loans or similar agreements,
arrearages in dividends, denial of usual trade credit from suppliers, a need to restructure debt to
avoid default, noncompliance with statutory capital requirements, and a need to seek new sources or
methods of financing or to dispose of substantial assets

c. Internal matters, for example, work stoppages or other labor difficulties, substantial dependence on the
success of a particular project, uneconomic long-term commitments, and a need to significantly revise
operations

d. External matters, for example, legal proceedings, legislation, or similar matters that might jeopardize
the entity's ability to operate; loss of a key franchise, license, or patent; loss of a principal customer or
supplier; and an uninsured or underinsured catastrophe such as a hurricane, tornado, earthquake, or
flood.

Entities should consider the impacts to their forecasts described earlier in this chapter when updating
their going-concern analysis. Management should be mindful of the timing of certain forecasted
transactions and the entity’s ability to accurately predict and consummate those transactions in the
current environment. See Section 13.6 for more information about a going concern.

1.7 Subsequent Events

Given the current environment and the likelihood that events may occur rapidly or unexpectedly, entities
should carefully evaluate information that becomes available after the balance sheet date but before
the issuance of the financial statements. ASC 855-10-25-1 and ASC 855-10-25-3 provide the following
guidance on evaluating subsequent events:

ASC 855-10

25-1 An entity shall recognize in the financial statements the effects of all subsequent events that provide
additional evidence about conditions that existed at the date of the balance sheet, including the estimates
inherent in the process of preparing financial statements. See paragraph 855-10-55-1 for examples of
recognized subsequent events.

25-3 An entity shall not recognize subsequent events that provide evidence about conditions that did not exist
at the date of the balance sheet but arose after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are
issued or are available to be issued. See paragraph 855-10-55-2 for examples of nonrecognized subsequent
events.

Often the “events” are (1) company-specific and (2) associated with a specific account that permits a
more precise analysis. However, sometimes the “events” are macroeconomic (such as those resulting
from the current environment) and have a pervasive impact on many estimates in a set of financial
statements, which may make it difficult to ascertain whether such conditions “existed” on the balance
sheet date. The medium-term and long-term effects of the current environment on economic activity
are still unknown. However, the current environment will be a factor in an entity’s analysis of estimates
residing in the financial statements, including, but not limited to, estimates related to receivable
reserves, obsolescence reserves, impairment analyses, variable and contingent compensation, and
current expected credit loss reserves. While the events stemming from the current environment are
extremely volatile, entities will nevertheless be required to consider conditions as they existed on

the balance sheet date when evaluating subsequent events. There are currently many approaches
to the consideration of subsequent events in complex estimate analyses such as impairment models
(e.g., whether changes in circumstances that alter projection models before the issuance date can be
considered given the fluidity of the situation).

Given the current environment, significant judgment will most likely be required in assessments related
to subsequent event matters. Entities are encouraged to consult with their advisers as needed.
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Disclosure Considerations

ASC 855-10-50-2 notes, in part, that “[s]Jome nonrecognized subsequent events may be of such
a nature that they must be disclosed to keep the financial statements from being misleading.”
In such circumstances, the disclosures must include (1) the “nature of the event” and (2) an
“estimate of its financial effect, or a statement that such an estimate cannot be made.”

1.8 Loss Contingencies

ASC 450 defines a loss contingency as an “existing condition, situation, or set of circumstances involving
uncertainty as to possible loss to an entity that will ultimately be resolved when one or more future
events occur or fail to occur.” Instability in the economy resulting from the current environment may
cause entities to incur losses that should be recognized, disclosed, or both.

All loss contingencies (including incurred but not reported [IBNR] claims such as those related to
medical care) should be evaluated under ASC 450-20 unless the contingency is within the scope of other
authoritative literature that specifically prescribes an alternate accounting model. ASC 450-20 requires
accrual of a loss contingency when (1) it is probable that a loss has been incurred and (2) the amount
can be reasonably estimated. To accrue a loss contingency, an entity must determine the probability

of the uncertain event and demonstrate its ability to reasonably estimate the loss associated with the
uncertain event. Loss contingencies that do not meet both recognition criteria may need to be disclosed
in the financial statements. Given the general uncertainty associated with the current environment,
entities may find it challenging to develop estimates for loss contingencies. For example, an entity that

is self-insured for medical claims may have difficulty estimating its IBNR liability if it concludes that
historical claim patterns may not be representative of future expected claims because of the current
environment.

Disclosure Considerations

@ Under ASC 450-20-50, entities must disclose both recognized and unrecognized contingencies
if certain criteria are met. In some situations, disclosure of the nature of the accrual and amount
accrued may be necessary to prevent the financial statements from being misleading. For
unrecognized contingencies, disclosure of the nature of the contingency and an estimate of the
possible loss or range of loss (or a statement that an estimate cannot be made) is required in
certain situations. Specifically, disclosure is called for if there is a reasonable possibility that a
loss may be incurred but has not been accrued in the financial statements because the amount
is not probable or reasonably estimable. Disclosure is also required if there is a reasonable
possibility of unrecorded losses in excess of the amount accrued in the financial statements.

For more information about loss contingencies, see Deloitte's Roadmap Contingencies, Loss Recoveries,
and Guarantees and Chapter 6 of this Guide.

1.9 Recognition of Losses on Firmly Committed Executory Contracts

At the inception of a firmly committed executory contract, both parties to the contract expect to receive
benefits that are equal to or greater than the costs to be incurred under the contract. Because of

the impacts of the current environment, the fair value of the remaining contractual rights of a firmly
committed executory contract may unexpectedly decline below the remaining costs, resulting in a firmly
committed executory loss contract. For example, an entity engaged to provide services to its customer in
accordance with a firmly committed executory contract may experience a significant increase in the cost
of providing the services (e.g., lack of availability of personnel to provide services resulting in the use of
higher outsourced labor cost), which could result in an overall loss on the contract. We generally believe
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that in the absence of specific guidance to the contrary (e.g., a firm purchase commitment for goods
or inventory under ASC 330 or certain executory contracts related to exit or disposal activities within
the scope of ASC 420), it is inappropriate to accrue for a loss related to a firmly committed executory
contract.

1.10 Future Operating Losses

An entity may forecast operating losses for a certain period as a result of the current environment.
Such losses may result from declines in customer demand or disruptions in the supply chain. Future
operating losses do not meet the definition of a liability, nor do they qualify for accrual under ASC
450-20. Instead, they should be reflected in the period in which the related costs are incurred.

1.11 Insurance Recoveries

Entities that incur losses stemming from the current environment may be entitled to insurance
recoveries. For example, losses associated with increased medical claims, asset impairments, or
shareholder litigation may be considered insured losses by many entities. Further, entities may have
business interruption insurance that provides coverage for lost profits due to a suspension of the
entities’ operations.

1.11.1 Insured Losses

If an entity incurs a loss attributable to the impairment of an asset or to the incurrence of a liability and
expects to recover all or a portion of that loss through an insurance claim, the entity should record

an asset for the amount for which recovery from the insurance claim is considered probable (not to
exceed the amount of the total losses recognized). The entity should subsequently recognize amounts
greater than those for which recovery from an insurance claim was initially deemed probable only to the
extent that those amounts do not exceed actual additional covered losses or direct, incremental costs
incurred to obtain the insurance recovery. A conclusion that a potential insurance recovery is probable
may involve significant judgment and should be based on all relevant facts and circumstances. In
determining whether it is probable that an insurance recovery will be received, an entity will most likely
need, among other factors, to understand the solvency of the insurance carrier and have had enough
dialogue and historical experience with the insurer related to the type of claim in question to assess the
likelihood of payment. Other potential challenges an entity may encounter when evaluating whether a
loss is considered recoverable through insurance include, but are not limited to, (1) the need to consider
whether losses stemming from a pandemic are specifically excluded as a covered event, (2) the extent
of coverage and limits, including multiple layers of insurance from different carriers, and (3) the extent,

if any, to which the insurance carrier disputes coverage. Consultation with legal counsel may also be
necessary.

Connecting the Dots

We believe that while applicable to SEC registrants, the following guidance from footnote 49 of
SAB Topic 5.Y applies to all entities evaluating an insured loss that is contested by the insurance
carrier:

The staff believes there is a rebuttable presumption that no asset should be recognized for a claim
for recovery from a party that is asserting that it is not liable to indemnify the registrant. Registrants
that overcome that presumption should disclose the amount of recorded recoveries that are being
contested and discuss the reasons for concluding that the amounts are probable of recovery.
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Any expected recovery that is greater than covered losses or direct, incremental costs incurred
represents a gain contingency and therefore has a higher recognition threshold. An entity should
generally recognize insurance proceeds that will result in a gain when the proceeds are realized or
realizable, whichever is earlier. Such insurance proceeds are realized when the insurance carrier settles
the claim and no longer contests payment. Payment alone does not mean that realization has occurred
if such payment is made under protest or is subject to refund.

1.11.2 Business Interruption

Events associated with the current environment have led many entities to temporarily suspend
operations for reasons ranging from supply-chain disruption to, during the pandemic, state and local
government orders requiring individuals to shelter in place and temporarily cease operations. Business
interruption insurance differs from other types of insurance coverage in that it is designed to protect
the prospective earnings or profits of the insured entity. That is, business interruption insurance
provides coverage if business operations are suspended because of the loss of use of property and
equipment resulting from a covered loss. Business interruption insurance also generally provides for
reimbursement of certain costs and losses incurred during the interruption period. Such costs may

be analogous to losses from property damage and, accordingly, it may be appropriate to record a
receivable for amounts whose recovery is considered probable. We encourage entities to consult with
their independent auditors in connection with their evaluation of whether a receivable may be recorded
for expected insurance recoveries associated with fixed costs incurred during an interruption period.

The loss of profit margin is considered a gain contingency and should be recognized when the gain
contingency is resolved (i.e., the proceeds are realized or realizable). Because of the complex and
uncertain nature of the settlement negotiation process, such recognition generally occurs at the time of
final settlement or when nonrefundable cash advances are made.

1.11.3 Classification of Insurance Recoveries

ASC 220-30-45-1 addresses other income statement presentation matters related to business
interruption insurance from the perspective of classification and allows an entity to “choose how to
classify business interruption insurance recoveries in the statement of operations, as long as that
classification is not contrary to existing [U.S. GAAP].”

For presentation within the statement of cash flows, ASC 230-10-45-21B indicates that “[c]ash receipts
resulting from the settlement of insurance claims, excluding proceeds received from corporate-owned
life insurance policies and bank-owned life insurance policies, shall be classified on the basis of the
related insurance coverage (that is, the nature of the loss).” For example, insurance settlement proceeds
received as a result of claims related to a business interruption should be classified as operating
activities.

1.12 Share-Based Compensation Plans and Awards

We have seen an increased level of activity related to share-based compensation plans and awards. The
ongoing impact of the current environment has led to the obsolescence of many previously established
company-specific performance targets and the possibility that employees’ outstanding stock options
could become "underwater” or out-of-the-money. While some companies have modified awards to
revise performance targets, others have delayed the timing of granting awards, issued “off-cycle” grants,
modified the strike price of existing underwater options, and extended the exercise period for awards,
all presumably in an effort to ensure that share-based compensation arrangements continue to provide
the intended motivation for company employees and executives to work toward accomplishing company
goals and objectives.
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Regardless of the specific action taken, modifications of stock awards can lead to a host of accounting
challenges and consequences. For example, when revising performance targets, companies need to
be mindful that the performance conditions are sufficiently objective and determinable; otherwise,

an award may not be considered “granted,” leading to variable and potentially increased expense if
compensation cost must be recorded before the grant date is established. In addition, when modifying
stock awards, companies need to consider whether such awards were expected to vest before the
modification and, if so, whether the modified awards provide incremental value to the recipients.
Further, companies that grant stock options or similar awards will need to consider recent market
volatility when valuing their stock awards and the related compensation expense to be reported. See
Chapter 9 for additional considerations related to share-based compensation.

1.13 Considerations Related to Reflecting Impacts of the Current
Environment in Non-GAAP Measures

While some of the key SEC requirements and interpretations related to non-GAAP measures address
the prominence, reconciliation, usefulness, and purpose of such measures, an overarching theme of
the guidance is that they should not be misleading, regardless of whether the measures are used in a
filing (e.g., Form 10-K) or elsewhere (e.g., press release). As described in Section 100 of the SEC Division
of Corporation Finance (the “Division”) Compliance and Disclosure Interpretations (C&DIs) on non-GAAP
financial measures, non-GAAP measures that could mislead investors may include those that:

» Exclude normal, recurring cash operating expenses necessary for business operations.

* Are presented inconsistently between periods (e.g., adjusting for an item in the current reporting
period but not doing so for a similar item in the prior period without appropriately disclosing the
change and explaining the reasons for it).

* Exclude certain nonrecurring charges but do not exclude nonrecurring gains (e.g., “cherry
picking” non-GAAP adjustments to achieve the most positive measure).

* Are based on individually tailored accounting principles, including certain adjusted revenue
measures.

* Are mislabeled or not clearly labeled as non-GAAP measures or otherwise include adjustments
that are not clearly or accurately labeled or described.

In interactions with the SEC staff regarding non-GAAP measures viewed as misleading, some registrants
have proposed supporting continued presentation of such measures by adding transparent disclosures
related to the calculation of the measures or about the measures’ purpose and use. However, Question
100.06 of the C&Dls indicates that even detailed disclosures about a misleading measure would not
prevent it from being misleading.

At the 2022 AICPA & CIMA Conference on Current SEC and PCAOB Developments, the SEC staff
indicated that once a non-GAAP measure or adjustment is concluded to be misleading or otherwise
inconsistent with non-GAAP rules, the staff expects the registrant to correct the presentation in the next
filing or publicly available SEC document by removing the measure or adjustment. If comparable periods
are presented, the non-GAAP measure or adjustment should be removed from all periods presented.
At the 2023 AICPA & CIMA Conference on Current SEC and PCAOB Developments, the SEC further
emphasized that non-GAAP measures continue to be one of the topics the SEC staff comments on most
frequently.
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Changing Lanes

On December 13, 2022, the SEC staff released new and updated C&DIs on non-GAAP financial
measures. The staff has observed that the volume of non-GAAP disclosure comments has
remained high over the past several years and that it continues to receive questions on this
topic. The new and updated C&DIs help increase the transparency of the SEC staff's process
for evaluating certain non-GAAP measures as well as its criteria for considering such measures
misleading.

At the 2022 AICPA & CIMA Conference on Current SEC and PCAOB Developments, Division

Chief Accountant Lindsay McCord emphasized that the intent of the new and updated C&DlIs is
to communicate interpretive feedback that the SEC staff has provided to registrants in various
speeches and the comment letter process. In addition, she noted that the updates to the C&Dls
are not intended to change the SEC staff's position on non-GAAP adjustments that it has not
objected to in the past (e.g., adjustments for restructuring costs and stock-based compensation).
However, Ms. McCord further acknowledged that conclusions about the application of the
C&DlIs to non-GAAP measures and adjustments will depend on a registrant’s individual facts and
circumstances.

The following changes related to misleading non-GAAP measures were made to the C&DlIs:

« C&DI Question 100.01 was updated to add interpretive guidance on what may be
considered normal or recurring. The C&DI cautions issuers that a non-GAAP measure
may be considered misleading if it excludes cash operating expenses that are normal and
recurring in the operation of a registrant’s business.

At the 2022 AICPA & CIMA Conference on Current SEC and PCAOB Developments,

Ms. McCord explained that the SEC staff evaluates whether an expense is “normal” by
considering the nature and effect of the non-GAAP adjustment and how the expense is
related to the registrant's operations, revenue-generating activities, business strategy,
industry, and regulatory environment. She also noted that the SEC staff evaluates whether
an operating expense is considered “recurring” when it occurs repeatedly or occasionally,
including at irregular intervals of reoccurrence.

+ C&DI Question 100.04 was updated to clarify that adjustments that represent the
application of individually tailored accounting principles extend beyond the original
example of adjustments that accelerate revenue recognition. The C&DI specifies that
non-GAAP adjustments that change the GAAP recognition and measurement principles
would be considered individually tailored and may cause the non-GAAP measure
presentation to be misleading. The C&DI includes new examples that illustrate the
application of individually tailored accounting principles and thus may be misleading.

« C&DI Question 100.05 was added to highlight the SEC's guidance that non-GAAP
measures should be labeled as such and that adjustments should be clearly labeled
and described in the disclosures. The C&DI also gives examples of misleading labels and
descriptions for non-GAAP measures.

¢ C&DI Question 100.06 was added to emphasize that no amount of disclosure can make a
measure compliant with the non-GAAP rules if it has been determined to be misleading.
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Further, when evaluating whether an adjustment stemming from the current environment is appropriate
in a non-GAAP measure, a registrant should consider various factors, including, but not limited to,
whether the adjustment is:

+ Directly related to the current environment.

* Incremental to normal operations and nonrecurring (i.e., it is not expected to become the new
normal).

» Objectively quantifiable, as opposed to an estimate or projection.

A registrant must use judgment when evaluating whether an adjustment is consistent with these factors.
However, we believe that a non-GAAP measure of performance that eliminates normal recurring cash
operating expenses would generally not be appropriate.

In addition, any new adjustments or changes to non-GAAP measures related to the current environment
should be clearly labeled, and changes to such measures should be transparently disclosed. If new
adjustments to non-GAAP measures are added because of the current environment, an entity should
ensure that its disclosure controls and procedures address the assessment and approval of the revised
non-GAAP measures, including the consistency of presentation between periods and transparent
disclosures about any changes.

See Deloitte’s Roadmap Non-GAAP Financial Measures and Metrics for more information about SEC
requirements and interpretations related to such measures and metrics. In addition, see Deloitte’s
Roadmap SEC Comment Letter Considerations, Including Industry Insights for current trends in SEC
comments.

1.13.1 Alternatives to Non-GAAP Measures

Given the potential challenges associated with many of the adjustments discussed above, an SEC
registrant may determine that transparent disclosure in MD&A may more effectively inform investors
about certain impacts of the current environment than non-GAAP measures. For example, if a registrant
elects to provide disclosures that simply quantify the estimated impact of the current environment on
financial statement line items without adjusting the registrant's GAAP results (i.e., without establishing
new totals or subtotals), those disclosures are not considered non-GAAP measures. If a registrant
provides disclosure that does not adjust a GAAP measure but instead describes unusual or significant
activities that occurred during the period, the disclosure would not be subject to the SEC's requirements
and interpretations related to non-GAAP measures. When presenting disclosure alternatives, a
registrant should disclose individually material financial statement impacts stemming from the current
environment separately.

20


https://dart.deloitte.com/USDART/home/publications/roadmap/non-gaap-financial-measures
https://dart.deloitte.com/USDART/home/publications/roadmap/sec-comment-letter-considerations

Chapter 2 — Revenue Recognition

2.1 Introduction

In May 2014, the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB®) issued their final
standard on revenue from contracts with customers (the “revenue standard” or the “standard”). Issued
by the FASB as ASU 2014-09 (codified primarily in ASC 606) and by the IASB as IFRS 15 and subsequently
amended, the standard outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. Further, the standard supersedes most legacy revenue
recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance.

Upon issuing the revenue standard, the FASB and IASB formed a joint revenue transition resource group
(TRG). The purpose of the TRG was not to issue guidance but instead to seek and provide feedback

on potential issues related to implementation of the revenue standard. By analyzing and discussing
potential implementation issues, the TRG helped the boards determine whether to take additional
action, such as providing clarification or issuing other guidance (in the form of additional ASUs, in the
case of the FASB).

ASU 2014-09 states that the core principle of the standard’s revenue recognition guidance is that an
“entity shall recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in

an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for

those goods or services.” The ASU indicates that an entity should perform the following five steps in

recognizing revenue:

* “ldentify the contract(s) with a customer” (step 1).

+ ‘ldentify the performance obligations in the contract” (step 2).

» "Determine the transaction price” (step 3).

» "Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract” (step 4).

» "Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation” (step 5).
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The following graphic summarizes the five-step model for recognizing revenue under ASC 606:

e Acontract is an agreement between two or more parties that creates enforceable
rights and obligations.

e A contract can be written, oral, or implied by an entity's customary business practices.
e For a contract to exist under ASC 606, the following five criteria must be met:
1. Identify the contract °  The parties to the contract have approved the contract.
with a customer °©  The entity can identify each party’s rights.
°  The entity can identify the payment terms.
°  The contract has commercial substance.

° Itis probable that the entity will collect the amount to which it expects to be
entitled.

¢ Aperformance obligation is the promise to transfer to the customer a good or service
(or bundle of goods or services) that is distinct.

e Distinct goods and services should be accounted for as separate units of account.

e Entities need to determine whether a good or service (or bundle of goods or services)
is “capable of being distinct” and “distinct in the context of the contract.”

e Aseries of substantially the same goods or services for which control transfers
over time and that have the same pattern of transfer is accounted for as a single
performance obligation.

2. Identify the
performance
obligations

e The transaction price is the amount the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for
transferring promised goods or services to the customer.

e The transaction price may include fixed amounts, variable amounts, or both.
¢ To determine the transaction price, entities should consider the effects of:
3. Determine the °  Variable consideration.

transaction price °  The constraint on estimates of variable consideration.

°  Significant financing components.

°  Noncash consideration.

°  Consideration payable to the customer.

e The transaction price (from step 3) is allocated to each performance obligation
identified (from step 2).

e On the basis of its specific circumstances, an entity would use one of the following
4. Allocate the approaches to allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations:

transaction price o Allocate according to each performance obligation's stand-alone selling price.

°  Allocate a discount or variable amount to a specific performance obligation (or
bundle of specific performance obligations) if certain criteria are met.

Requires consideration of:

¢ Revenue recognition when (or as) control of the good or service is passed to the

. customer.
5. Recognize

revenue when (or e The criteria for satisfying performance obligations and recognizing revenue over

time.
as) performance

. . e ¢ Measurement of progress toward satisfying performance obligations to determine
obligations are satisfied brog ving p &

a pattern of revenue recognition over time.

e Indicators of when performance obligations are satisfied and when to recognize
revenue at a point in time.

In addition, ASU 2014-09 requires significantly expanded disclosures about revenue recognition,
including both quantitative and qualitative information about (1) the amount, timing, and uncertainty

of revenue (and related cash flows) from contracts with customers; (2) the judgment, and changes in
judgment, exercised in the application of the revenue standard; and (3) the assets recognized from costs
incurred to obtain or fulfill a contract with a customer.
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The sections below discuss some of the key accounting considerations under the revenue standard for
life sciences entities. For more detailed information about the revenue standard, see Deloitte’s Roadmap
Revenue Recognition and its TRG Snapshot series.

2.2 Scope

The standard's revenue guidance applies to all contracts with customers as defined by the standard
except those that are within the scope of other topics in the FASB Accounting Standards Codification

(the “Codification”). For example, the guidance does not apply to contracts within the scope of ASC

842 (leases). In addition, certain provisions of the standard's revenue guidance also apply to transfers

of nonfinancial assets, including in-substance nonfinancial assets that are not an output of an entity’s
ordinary activities (e.g., intangible assets such as intellectual property [IP] rights). Such provisions include
guidance on recognition (including determining the existence of a contract and control principles) and
measurement.

Some of the more common issues that life sciences entities have faced when considering the scope of
the revenue standard are discussed below.

2.2.1 Collaborative Arrangements

As life sciences entities continue to adapt to an ever-changing marketplace, some may increasingly look
to enter into or expand collaborations with third parties for the development or commercialization of
certain drug candidates or medical products in an effort to share in both the costs and risks associated
with such activities.

Collaborative arrangements frequently involve activities such as R&D, regulatory activities, manufacturing,
distribution, sales and marketing activities, and general and administrative tasks. Often, a governance
structure (e.g., a joint steering committee) is established to facilitate decision-making during the terms

of the endeavor. In collaborations, the parties may allocate responsibility for individual activities to each
other or share the responsibility for one or more activities under a joint operating arrangement. Joint
operating activities may involve the joint development and ultimate commercialization of IP related

to a potential new drug candidate, R&D, marketing (including promotional activities and physician
detailing), general and administrative activities, manufacturing, and distribution activities. On the basis

of contractually defined terms, the participants share in the profits or losses associated with these joint
activities.

Such arrangements are often complex and can vary significantly in scope, terms, and conditions as well
as risk mitigation objectives. The following are common forms of these arrangements:

» Codevelopment and comarketing arrangements — Joint operating agreements in which both
parties to the agreement assume roles and responsibilities.

» Copromotion arrangements — Agreements in which companies partner together and use each
company's commercial capabilities and experience to promote a product (owned by one of the
parties) in various markets.

Upon entering into a collaborative arrangement, the participants frequently exchange up-front
license fees and agree to subsequent payments based on the achievement of milestones during drug
development, as well as future royalties and profit- or loss-sharing provisions.

As noted in Section 2.2, the revenue standard applies to all contracts with customers. ASC 606-10-15-3
defines a customer as “a party that has contracted with an entity to obtain goods or services that are an
output of the entity’'s ordinary activities in exchange for consideration.”
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The Background Information and Basis for Conclusions of ASU 2014-09 explains that the relationship
between a customer and a vendor varies from industry to industry and that companies will therefore
have to consider their own facts and circumstances to determine who is a customer in an arrangement.
For many contracts, this will not be very difficult to determine; however, paragraph BC54 of ASU 2014-09
provides examples of arrangements in which the facts and circumstances would have to be assessed,
including “[c]ollaborative research and development efforts between biotechnology and pharmaceutical
entities or similar arrangements in the aerospace and defense, technology, and healthcare industries, or
in higher education.”

The example below illustrates how an entity would determine whether an arrangement is a collaborative
arrangement and, if so, whether it should be accounted for under ASC 606.

Biotech B (the reporting entity) and Pharma P enter into an agreement to research, develop, and commercialize
drug X. Biotech B will perform the R&D, and Pharma P will commercialize the drug. Both parties agree to
participate equally in all activities that result from the research, development, and commercialization. Biotech B
concludes that a collaborative arrangement exists because both parties are active participants and have agreed
to share in the risks and rewards.

Despite this conclusion, however, there still could be a vendor-customer relationship as a result of some of
the activities between the participants in accordance with the collaborative arrangement. If such a relationship
exists, those parts of the contract that are related to the vendor-customer relationship may need to be
accounted for under ASC 606.

Connecting the Dots

@ ASC 606 does not change the guidance in ASC 808 on the income statement presentation,
classification, and disclosures applicable to collaborative arrangements within the scope of
the revenue standard. It is important to understand that a contract could be within the scope
of both the revenue standard and the guidance on collaborative agreements, as indicated in
paragraph BC55 of ASU 2014-09:

The Boards noted that a contract with a collaborator or a partner (for example, a joint arrangement as
defined in IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, or a collaborative arrangement within the scope of Topic 808,
Collaborative Arrangements) also could be within the scope of Topic 606 if that collaborator or partner
meets the definition of a customer for some or all of the terms of the arrangement.

This is important because companies may have to assess the scope of both ASC 606 and ASC
808 for these types of arrangements. In addition, the Background Information and Basis for
Conclusions of ASU 2014-09 does not preclude companies from analogizing to the guidance
in ASC 606 when accounting for collaborative arrangement transactions within the scope of
ASC 808. See Section 2.2.1.2 for considerations relevant to applying ASC 606 by analogy to
collaborative arrangements.

When an entity enters into a collaboration, management must consider whether the arrangement
meets the U.S. GAAP definition of a collaborative arrangement to determine whether the arrangement
is subject to the requirements of ASC 808. The legal characterization of an arrangement (e.g., as a
collaboration or a collaborative arrangement) does not necessarily make the arrangement qualify as a
collaborative arrangement under U.S. GAAP.
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ASC 808-10-20 defines a collaborative arrangement as a “contractual arrangement that involves a joint
operating activity” and involves two (or more) parties that are both of the following;

» “[Alctive participants in the activity.”

» “[E]xposed to significant risks and rewards dependent on the commercial success of the activity.”

On the basis of these criteria, some types of collaborations in the industry may not meet the definition
of a collaborative arrangement and therefore would not be within the scope of ASC 808. For example,
certain arrangements in which one party solely provides financial resources for an endeavor and

is generally not an active participant would not meet the definition of a collaborative arrangement.
Alternatively, arrangements between two parties that involve codevelopment, comarketing, or
copromotion activities, as well as the sharing of risks and rewards based on the success of such
activities, would generally meet the definition of a collaborative arrangement.

A collaboration can begin at any point in the life cycle of an endeavor (e.g., during the R&D phase or
after a product has been commercially launched). The facts and circumstances associated with the
arrangement will dictate whether the parties (1) represent active participants and (2) are exposed to
significant risks and rewards.

ASC 808-10-15-8 cites the following examples of situations in which active participation may exist:

a. Directing and carrying out the activities of the joint operating activity
b. Participating on a steering committee or other oversight or governance mechanism

¢. Holding a contractual or other legal right to the underlying intellectual property.

In addition, ASC 808-10-15-11 lists circumstances that might indicate that participants are not exposed
to significant risks and rewards:

a. Services are performed in exchange for fees paid at market rates.

b. A participant is able to exit the arrangement without cause and recover all (or a significant portion) of its
cumulative economic participation to date.

c. Initial profits are allocated to only one participant.

d. Thereis a limit on the reward that accrues to a participant.

Further, in accordance with ASC 808-10-15-12, an entity should also consider other factors when
evaluating participants’ exposure to significant risks and rewards, including (1) the “stage of the
endeavor’s life cycle” and (2) the "expected duration or extent of the participants’ financial participation . ..
in relation to the endeavor's total expected life or total expected value.”

For collaborations that meet the U.S. GAAP definition of a collaborative arrangement, ASC 808
provides guidance on income statement presentation, classification, and disclosures. However,
before the issuance of ASU 2018-18 (which is discussed below), ASC 808 did not address recognition
or measurement matters, such as (1) determining the appropriate unit of account or (2) when the
recognition criteria are met. Thus, even for a collaboration within the scope of ASC 808, entities were
required to look to other GAAP (possibly by analogy) to determine the appropriate recognition and
measurement for the activities subject to the arrangement, as discussed below.
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When determining the appropriate income statement presentation of amounts recorded as a result
of a collaborative arrangement, entities also will need to separately evaluate (1) transactions with

third parties outside of the arrangement and (2) transactions between collaboration participants. ASC
808 requires that each collaboration participant report costs incurred and revenue generated from
transactions with third parties in its income statement in accordance with the principal-versus-agent
guidance in ASC 606-10-55-36 through 55-40. The participant in the collaborative arrangement that

is deemed the principal participant for a given transaction should record the transaction on a gross
basis in its financial statements, notwithstanding the presence of cost sharing or cost allocation of such
amounts on the basis of the terms of the agreement.

In addition, participants will need to evaluate the appropriate income statement presentation for
payments between the collaboration partners (e.g., as a result of expense reimbursements or profit
sharing). When such payments are within the scope of other authoritative accounting literature, entities
should apply the income statement classification requirements on the basis of the relevant provisions of
that literature. If the payments are not within the scope of other authoritative accounting literature (e.g.,
ASC 606), the income statement classification for the payments is based on an analogy to authoritative
accounting literature or — if there is no appropriate analogy — a reasonable, rational, and consistently
applied accounting policy election.

2.2.1.1 Clarifying the Interaction Between ASC 808 and ASC 606

In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-18, which made targeted improvements to the guidance
on collaborative arrangements in ASC 808, including the following clarifications:

* In the evaluation of whether a transaction in a collaborative arrangement is within the scope of
ASC 606, the unit of account is a distinct good or service.

*  When the collaborative participant is a customer for a good or service (or bundle) that is distinct,
the recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure requirements of ASC 606 should be
applied to the transaction (i.e., the distinct good or service [or bundle]).

* An entity in a collaborative arrangement is precluded from presenting a transaction as revenue
from a contract with a customer if the collaborative participant counterparty is not a customer.

While the amendments in ASU 2018-18 primarily affected the guidance in ASC 808, the ASU also
amended ASC 606-10-15-3 to remove the following guidance:

A counterparty to the contract would not be a customer if, for example, the counterparty has contracted with
the entity to participate in an activity or process in which the parties to the contract share in the risks and
benefits that result from the activity or process (such as developing an asset in a collaboration arrangement)
rather than to obtain the output of the entity's ordinary activities.

2.2.1.2 Collaborative Arrangements Outside the Scope of ASC 606

In determining the accounting for collaborative arrangements outside the scope of ASC 606, many
entities have historically applied revenue recognition guidance by analogy. These entities often conclude
that the collaborative activities do not represent separate deliverables (i.e., they conclude that there is
one “unit of account” which represents the right to actively participate in the collaborative arrangement
over its term and to share in the profits or losses from the underlying endeavor).
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Before the FASB issued ASU 2018-18, we believed that when analogizing to authoritative accounting
literature, an entity should apply all (as opposed to limited) aspects of that literature to the extent
applicable. For example, suppose that a biotechnology company entered into a collaborative
arrangement with a pharmaceutical company and, as part of the collaboration, (1) provided the
pharmaceutical company a license to use IP related to a drug candidate and (2) performed R&D services
jointly with the pharmaceutical company. The biotechnology company may have concluded that while
the arrangement meets the definition of a collaborative arrangement in accordance with ASC 808,
none of its elements are within the scope of ASC 606. Nevertheless, the biotechnology company may
have further concluded that revenue literature (e.g., ASC 606) represents appropriate authoritative
guidance that the company should apply by analogy to determine the unit(s) of account, recognition,
and measurement. Accordingly, if the company concluded that the license is not a distinct performance
obligation, the revenue literature would require the license and R&D services to be combined for
accounting purposes. Further, with respect to the appropriate income statement presentation for
consideration allocated to the combined unit of account (in this case, the license and R&D services),
such consideration would generally be presented consistently in the same category for income
statement presentation purposes given the conclusion that the license and R&D services should be
combined for accounting purposes.

However, as noted above, the FASB issued ASU 2018-18 in November 2018. Although the Board decided
to provide unit-of-account guidance in ASC 808 and align that guidance with the guidance in ASC 606

for distinct goods or services, the Board decided not to include recognition and measurement guidance
for nonrevenue transactions in a collaborative arrangement. The Board's reason for not including

such guidance was to avoid developing a “one size fits all” accounting model for the various types of
collaborative arrangements. The decision to align the unit-of-account guidance with the guidance in

ASC 606 for distinct goods or services is limited to the context of assessing the scope of the revenue
guidance. As noted in paragraph BC31 of ASU 2018-18, “the Board decided to continue to permit an
entity to apply the revenue guidance in Topic 606 by analogy or, if there is no appropriate analogy, as a
policy election, without requiring the entity to apply all the guidance in Topic 606, as long as it
presents the transaction separate from revenue recognized from contracts with customers” (emphasis
added). Accordingly, it is possible for an entity to conclude on the basis of its facts and circumstances
that ASC 606 represents an “appropriate analogy” for determining the nonrevenue unit(s) of account but
may not represent an appropriate analogy for recognizing or measuring such unit(s) of account. In such
a case, the above guidance would support a conclusion that analogizing to ASC 606 could be limited

to an entity’s determination of the unit(s) of account. The entity would then be required to establish a
policy that is “reasonable, rational, and consistently applied” as long as the nonrevenue transaction is
presented separately from any revenue recognized from contracts with customers under ASC 606.
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2.2.1.3 SEC Comment Letter Themes Related to Collaborative Arrangements

Examples of SEC Comments

« Youstate...that...you entered into a collaboration agreement with [Entity A] pursuant to which you
granted [A] an exclusive right to develop and commercialize [Compound B], excluding the [Territory CJ,
and a co-exclusive license in the U.S. to develop and commercialize [Compound B]. You state . . . that the
agreement contains four material components. Please address the following:

o Tell us how you applied ASU 2018-18 to determine that part of the agreement should not be accounted
for under ASC 606. In this respect, tell us why the collaborative partner is not considered a customer
within the unit of account under ASU 2018-18 that would be required to be accounted for under ASC
606.

o For the portion of the agreement you believe is outside ASC 606, clarify what authoritative literature
you are using or what methodology you are using to account for the non-ASC 606 portion. Refer to ASC
808-10-45-3.

o Explain why the entire $[X] million was allocated to the components accounted for under ASC 606 and
why some of the amount was not required to be allocated to the other material components of the
agreement.

o Please clarify the nature of the transition date discussed . . ., why that date determines if you are the
principal for the product sales, and if at that point, reimbursements will also be recorded as revenue.
Clarify how the fact pattern compares to Example 3 in ASC 808-10-55-11 through 55-14 and provide any
authoritative support.

+ [Y]ou entered into the [collaboration agreement with Entity X] to jointly develop and commercialize [Product
Al. You state that you identified two performance obligations, consisting of the delivery of the licenses and
your participation on joint steering and other collaboration committees. Your accounting policy . . . states
that for collaboration arrangements with multiple performance obligations, such as granting a license and
performing research and development activities, you allocate the upfront and milestone payments under a
relative standalone selling price method. It is not clear why amounts for research and development in the
[collaboration agreement with X] are not considered a performance obligation nor why . . . you record cost
reimbursement payments to you from [X] as a reduction of research and development expense rather than
as revenue. It appears to us that your separation, measurement, allocation and classification of amounts
related to the [collaboration agreement with X] is inconsistent with your accounting policy . . . and with your
accounting for your agreement with [Entity Y]. Please provide us an analysis with reference to authoritative
literature supporting your accounting for the [collaboration agreement with X]. Also, provide us proposed
revised accounting policy disclosure to be included in future filings addressing this inconsistency or tell us
why revised disclosure is not necessary.

« Please provide us the following terms governing the [X] collaboration, as well as your consideration of
providing additional disclosure pursuant to ASC 606-10-50:

o Quantify the amount allocated to each performance obligation.

o Describe and quantify the methods and assumptions used to determine standalone selling price for
each collaboration.

o Provide a range of milestone and other payment obligations to be received by stage (e.g. development,
regulatory and commercialization).
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Examples of SEC Comments (continued)

With regard to the $[X] million non-refundable, upfront license fee received in the [collaboration agreement
with Entity A] and the estimates made in accounting for the agreement, please tell us:

o [M]ore specifically what you mean by “Therefore, there was significant judgment applied in determining
a reasonable, rational method of recognizing revenue under the [collaboration agreement with A],
with the Company considering the guidance in ASC 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” and
whether and, if so, to what extent you analogized to ASC 606 or other literature and, if not, the basis in
the accounting literature for the accounting you applied to separate, allocate, measure and recognize
amounts within the collaborative arrangement,

o [Tlhe amount allocated to each of [Compound B] and [Compound C] and your consideration of
disclosing the amount allocated to each of [Compound B] and [Compound C] separately,

o [H]ow you determined the five years over which you will complete development activities for
[Compound B] when we note the FDA accepted a New Drug Application . . .,

o [Y]our basis in the accounting literature for recognizing milestone payments when achieved addressing
regulatory milestones separately from sales milestones,

o [W]hy you record reimbursement for [X]% of your development activity expenses incurred as a
reduction to research and development costs rather than as part of the transaction price for purposes
of recording revenue given your accounting for research and development activities as a performance
obligation that you recognize using the proportional performance method,

o [T]he basis in the accounting literature for presenting . . . the co-promote loss as negative revenue
rather than as an expense, and

o [T]he breakout showing the amount and type of regulatory versus sales milestone related to the $[X]
million in milestone payments upon [Compound B] regulatory approvals and first commercial sale
events in certain major markets and an additional $[X] million in milestone payments upon [Compound
(] regulatory approvals and first commercial sale events in certain major markets.

We note you considered the nature of the remittance of the net pre-tax profits to [Entity A] and ultimately
concluded that an accounting policy of recording these net costs as a component of Other operating
expense, net is a “reasonable, rational, and consistently applied accounting policy election” which accurately
reflects the nature of these costs. Please address with more specificity why your characterization of the
amounts [A] shares with you as Net Revenue and the amounts you share with them as Other operating
expense, net is a consistently applied policy election.

Based on your response, it appears that you are applying ASC 808-10 to the 50-year collaboration
Agreement entered into in [year X]. In this regard, please describe to us the extent you have considered
ASC 808-10-15-6, which sets forth, in part, that “participants shall reevaluate whether an arrangement
continues to be a collaborative arrangement whenever there is a change in either the roles of the
participants in the arrangement or the participants’ exposure to significant risks and rewards dependent on
the ultimate commercial success of the endeavor.”

Please address the following comments with regard to your accounting and disclosures for the License and
Research Collaboration Agreement with [Company A].

o Please expand your future filings to describe all material terms of the agreement, including the specific
amount for the upfront payments, and the development and [commercialization] milestone payments.
For the tiered royalty arrangement, please disclose the royalty term and quantification of the royalty
rate, or a range no greater than 10 percentage points per tier.

o Please provide us an analysis, and revise your future filings if necessary, of the components you have
identified under this agreement that would fall under ASC 808 Collaborative Arrangements and the
components under ASC 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. In your analysis, tell us how you have
considered the unit of account guidance under ASC 808-10-15-5B.
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Collaborative arrangements are common among biotech and pharmaceutical companies. As part of
registrants' application of the revenue standard and the guidance in ASU 2018-18 on clarifying the
interaction between ASC 808 and ASC 606, registrants need to evaluate whether transactions between
partners in a collaborative arrangement are within the scope of the revenue standard. Inquiries to
registrants have also focused on matters such as:

* The registrant's accounting policies regarding separation (i.e., unit of account) and allocation (i.e.,
when multiple units exist) for collaborative arrangements.

» Supplemental explanation of:

o The registrant's determination and disclosure of (1) the separation, allocation, recognition,
and classification principles that were used to account for payments between collaboration
partners and (2) the factors that led the registrant to conclude that it is the principal (or
agent) in transactions with third parties.

o The authoritative literature that was used to make the determinations in items (1) and
(2) above.

» Enhanced disclosure, when material, about the registrant’s collaborative arrangements,
including the overall effect of the collaborative arrangements on the financial statements, the
nature and timing of payments between the parties, and the range of royalties to be paid under
the arrangements.

2.2.2 Arrangements Involving Medical Device Consumables

The revenue standard does not apply to contracts with customers (or portions thereof) that fall within
the scope of other applicable guidance, such as ASC 842 (leases). Some entities may need to obtain an
understanding of the new leasing standard as well as their lease contracts to determine the full scope
of customer arrangements that fall within the scope of ASC 606. For example, to facilitate the sale and
use of medical device consumables, medical device companies may place equipment for free at the
customer’s location for a multiyear term. In exchange for the placed equipment, the customer is typically
required to commit to a minimum purchase of consumable products during that term.

To determine how this type of arrangement should be accounted for under the revenue standard,

the reporting entity should first consider whether the placement of equipment meets the definition
of a lease under ASC 842. If the arrangement includes elements that meet the definition of a lease,
the lease-related elements of the arrangement would need to be accounted for under the lease
accounting literature unless the entity qualifies for and elects the lessor practical expedient under ASC
842-10-15-42A. If the arrangement does not meet the definition of a lease and no other literature is
directly applicable, the revenue standard would be applied to the entire arrangement. For additional
considerations related to the new leasing standard, see Chapter 11.

2.2.3 Sale or Outlicensing of IP Rights

Life sciences entities frequently sell or outlicense IP rights (e.g., in-process research and development
[IPR&D] or developed product rights) in exchange for future milestone payments, royalties, or both (i.e,,
variable consideration).
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Determining the accounting model to apply to arrangements involving the transfer of IP rights requires
significant judgment. Accounting for these transactions depends on whether the transfer involves (1) the
sale of IP rights, (2) the license of IP rights, or (3) the sale of IP rights together with other inputs and
processes that meet the definition of a business:

Sale of IP rights — The revenue standard's provisions apply to transfers of nonfinancial assets,
including in-substance nonfinancial assets that are not an output of an entity’s ordinary activities
(e.g., intangible assets such as IP rights). The following example in ASC 610-20-55-17 through
55-19 illustrates how an entity would account for the sale of a nonfinancial asset in exchange for
variable consideration:

ASC 610-20

Example 3 — Sale of a Nonfinancial Asset for Variable Consideration

55-17 An entity sells (that is, does not out license) the rights to in-process research and development
that it recently acquired in a business combination and measured at fair value of $50 million in
accordance with Topic 805 on business combinations. The entity concludes that the transferred
in-process research and development is not a business. The buyer of the in-process research and
development agrees to pay a nonrefundable amount of $5 million at inception plus 2 percent of sales
of any products derived from the in-process research and development over the next 20 years. The
entity concludes that the sale of in-process research and development is not a good or service that is
an output of the entity’s ordinary activities.

55-18 Topic 350 on goodwill and other intangibles requires the entity to apply the guidance in this
Subtopic to determine the amount and timing of income to be recognized. Therefore, the entity
applies the derecognition guidance in this Subtopic as follows:

a. The entity concludes that it does not have a controlling financial interest in the buyer.
b. The entity concludes that the contract meets the criteria in paragraph 606-10-25-1.

¢. The entity also concludes that on the basis of the guidance in paragraph 606-10-25-30, it has
transferred control of the in-process research and development asset to the buyer. This is
because the buyer can use the in-process research and development's records, patents, and
supporting documentation to develop potential products and the entity has relinquished all
substantive rights to the in-process research and development asset.

d. In estimating the consideration received, the entity applies the guidance in Topic 606 on
determining the transaction price, including estimating and constraining variable consideration.
The entity estimates that the amount of consideration that it will receive from the sales-based
royalty is $100 million over the 20-year royalty period. However, the entity cannot assert that it
is probable that recognizing all of the estimated variable consideration in other income would
not result in a significant reversal of that consideration. The entity reaches this conclusion
on the basis of its assessment of factors in paragraph 606-10-32-12. In particular, the entity
is aware that the variable consideration is highly susceptible to the actions and judgments
of third parties, because it is based on the buyer completing the in-process research and
development asset, obtaining regulatory approval for the output of the in-process research and
development asset, and marketing and selling the output. For the same reasons, the entity also
concludes that it could not include any amount, even a minimum amount, in the estimate of
the consideration. Consequently, the entity concludes that the estimate of the consideration to
be used in the calculation of the gain or loss upon the derecognition of the in-process research
and development asset is limited to the $5 million fixed upfront payment.

55-19 At inception of the contract, the entity recognizes a net loss of $45 million ($5 million of
consideration, less the in-process research and development asset of $50 million). The entity
reassesses the transaction price at each reporting period to determine whether it is probable that
a significant reversal would not occur from recognizing the estimate as other income and, if so,
recognizes that amount as other income in accordance with paragraphs 606-10-32-14 and 606-10-
32-42 through 32-45.
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» License of IP rights — In contrast to the accounting for a sale of IP, for a licensing transaction in
which consideration is tied to the subsequent sale or usage of IP, the revenue standard provides
an exception to the recognition principle that is part of step 5 (i.e., recognize revenue when or
as control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer). Under this sales- or usage-
based royalty exception, an entity would not estimate the variable consideration from sales- or
usage-based royalties. Instead, the entity would recognize revenue at the later of when (1) the
subsequent sale or usage occurs or (2) the performance obligation to which some or all of the
sales- or usage-based royalty has been allocated is satisfied (or partially satisfied).

» Sale of IP rights together with other inputs and processes that meet the definition of a business —
ASC 610-20 does not amend or supersede guidance that addresses how to determine the gain
or loss on the derecognition of a subsidiary or a group of assets that meets the definition of
a business. Gains or losses associated with such a transaction will continue to be determined
in accordance with ASC 810-10-40. As discussed in Section 4.2.5, entities should establish an
accounting policy for the initial and subsequent measurement of this type of arrangement.

2.2.4 Contracts That Include Both Revenue and Nonrevenue Elements

When a contract includes both revenue and nonrevenue elements, some of which are within the scope
of other standards, any separation and initial measurement requirements of the other standards are
applied first and the deliverables within the scope of the revenue model are ascribed any residual
amount, as provided in ASC 606-10-15-4.

ASC 606-10

15-4 A contract with a customer may be partially within the scope of this Topic and partially within the scope of
other Topics listed in paragraph 606-10-15-2.

a. If the other Topics specify how to separate and/or initially measure one or more parts of the contract,
then an entity shall first apply the separation and/or measurement guidance in those Topics. An entity
shall exclude from the transaction price the amount of the part (or parts) of the contract that are initially
measured in accordance with other Topics and shall apply paragraphs 606-10-32-28 through 32-41 to
allocate the amount of the transaction price that remains (if any) to each performance obligation within
the scope of this Topic and to any other parts of the contract identified by paragraph 606-10-15-4(b).

b. If the other Topics do not specify how to separate and/or initially measure one or more parts of the
contract, then the entity shall apply the guidance in this Topic to separate and/or initially measure the
part (or parts) of the contract.

For example, if a contract with a customer includes performance obligations subject to ASC 606 and
an equity component that is within the scope of other authoritative literature regarding separation,
measurement, or both, the equity component would be recognized and measured in accordance with
the applicable authoritative literature, with the residual transaction price recognized under ASC 606.

If there are no separation or initial measurement requirements in those other standards, the
requirements in ASC 606 are applied. That is, the guidance in ASC 606 is the default guidance to be used
if there is no other relevant guidance.
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The examples below illustrate the application of ASC 606-10-15-4.

Biotech X enters into two arrangements with Pharmaceutical Company Y. The first arrangement is a license and
collaboration arrangement that X has determined is within the scope of ASC 606 and consists of one combined
performance obligation. The second arrangement is a share purchase arrangement whereby X sells shares of
its common stock to Y.

Biotech X determines that the two arrangements should be accounted for as a single arrangement under ASC
606. It accounts for the common stock purchased by Y under applicable authoritative literature. The fair value
of the common shares is excluded from the consideration that is allocated to the revenue unit of account. To

the extent that the consideration for the common shares exceeds the fair value, the excess is allocated to the
revenue unit of account.

Biotech X and Pharmaceutical Company Y enter into an arrangement in which X agrees to sell shares of its
common stock to Y in exchange for consideration. In accordance with the arrangement, Y is entitled to receive
information on the development of IP being developed by X and has a right of first refusal in connection with
a future sale or license of this IP. The consideration paid by Y for the shares of common stock is at a premium
(i.e., the consideration exceeds the fair value of the shares).

Biotech X accounts for the common stock purchased by Y under applicable authoritative literature. However,
X determines that the excess of consideration over the fair value of the shares of common stock is associated
with another element in the arrangement that is, in substance, a contract to perform R&D services.
Consequently, X must further assess the appropriate accounting literature to apply to this R&D element (e.g.,
ASC 606 if Y represents a customer) to determine the appropriate accounting for the transaction price that is
allocated to the R&D element.

2.3 Identify the Contract (Step 1)

For contracts within the scope of ASC 606, the first step of the revenue standard is to determine
whether a contract exists, for accounting purposes, between an entity and its customer.

ASC 606-10

25-1 An entity shall account for a contract with a customer that is within the scope of this Topic only when all of
the following criteria are met:

a. The parties to the contract have approved the contract (in writing, orally, or in accordance with other
customary business practices) and are committed to perform their respective obligations.

b. The entity can identify each party's rights regarding the goods or services to be transferred.
¢. The entity can identify the payment terms for the goods or services to be transferred.

d. The contract has commercial substance (that is, the risk, timing, or amount of the entity's future cash
flows is expected to change as a result of the contract).

e. Itis probable that the entity will collect substantially all of the consideration to which it will be entitled
in exchange for the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer (see paragraphs 606-10-
55-3A through 55-3Q). In evaluating whether collectibility of an amount of consideration is probable, an
entity shall consider only the customer'’s ability and intention to pay that amount of consideration when
itis due. The amount of consideration to which the entity will be entitled may be less than the price
stated in the contract if the consideration is variable because the entity may offer the customer a price
concession (see paragraph 606-10-32-7).
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A contract does not have to be written to meet the criteria for revenue recognition; however, it does
need to create enforceable rights and obligations.

Some of the more common issues that life sciences entities have faced when considering step 1 of the
revenue standard are discussed below.

2.3.1 Parties That Are Relevant to the Determination of Whether a Contract
Exists

Given the number of entities involved in the distribution channel or pricing chain within the life sciences
industry, questions have arisen about which parties are relevant to the determination of whether a
contract exists. For example, for a pharmaceutical company, does a contract for purposes of step 1
include only the contract between the pharmaceutical company and the wholesaler, or does it also
include “downstream” contracts with others in the pricing chain to whom discounts or rebates may be
provided?

The criteria in ASC 606-10-25-1 that need to be in place to establish that a contract exists are intended
to demonstrate that there is a valid and genuine transaction between an entity and its customer and
that the parties to the contract have enforceable rights and obligations that will have true economic
consequences. For a traditional pharmaceutical company, the wholesaler to which the company’s
products are shipped would generally represent the customer. In these circumstances, other parties
that may be involved in the distribution channel or pricing chain do not represent the company’s
customers and therefore are irrelevant to the determination of whether a contract exists for accounting
purposes. However, life sciences entities should keep in mind that any pricing adjustments (e.g.,
rebates, chargebacks) that are payable as result of this type of arrangement may represent variable
consideration that is required to be estimated and potentially constrained under step 3 of the model.

2.3.2 Identifying the Payment Terms

A contract must include payment terms for each of the promised goods and services in an arrangement
for an entity to determine the transaction price. The payment terms do not need to be fixed, but the
contract must contain enough information to allow an entity to reasonably estimate the consideration to
which it will be entitled for transferring the goods and services to the customer.

Example 2-4

Pharmaceutical Company X has received approval from a foreign government to sell Drug A to government
hospitals in advance of obtaining full market authorization in the jurisdiction. During this “early access period”
in which X's application for full marketing authorization is being evaluated by the foreign government, X will be
paid a preliminary price by the government hospitals. During this same period, X will be negotiating with the
foreign government the final price to be paid to X. Upon obtaining full marketing authorization and completing
pricing negotiations, X will be required to rebate to the foreign government the difference between the
preliminary price and the final price.

In this fact pattern, payment terms may have been established between X and the government hospitals
because X can (1) determine, for example, when payment is due and that the consideration is variable and
(2) reasonably estimate the amount of consideration to which it will ultimately be entitled on the basis of the
ongoing negotiations with the foreign government.
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In @ manner similar to how Pharmaceutical Company X in the example above obtains approval to sell a
product in a foreign jurisdiction before receiving full market authorization to do so, a drug company may
obtain advance approval to sell a product in the United States under the FDA's Accelerated Approval
Program. The FDA describes the nature of the program on its Web site as follows:

The FDA instituted its Accelerated Approval Program to allow for earlier approval of drugs that treat serious
conditions, and fill an unmet medical need based on a surrogate endpoint. A surrogate endpoint is a marker,
such as a laboratory measurement, radiographic image, physical sign or other measure that is thought to
predict clinical benefit but is not itself a measure of clinical benefit. The use of a surrogate endpoint can
considerably shorten the time required prior to receiving FDA approval.

Drug companies are still required to conduct studies to confirm the anticipated clinical benefit. If the
confirmatory trial shows that the drug actually provides a clinical benefit, then the FDA grants traditional
approval for the drug. If the confirmatory trial does not show that the drug provides clinical benefit, FDA has
regulatory procedures in place that could lead to removing the drug from the market.

The example below illustrates the determination of whether a drug company that obtains advance
approval under the FDA's Accelerated Approval Program may recognize revenue from the sale of its
product.

Pharmaceutical Company X has received FDA approval under the FDA's Accelerated Approval Program to sell
Drug A to customers in advance of obtaining traditional FDA approval for Drug A. As part of its contracts with
its customers, X agrees to provide rebates if traditional approval of Drug A is not received. Pharmaceutical
Company X concludes that it is probable that a significant reversal of revenue will not occur.

On the basis of the identified payment terms, X determines that the contingent rebates represent variable
consideration that should be recognized to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

2.3.3 Price Concessions

As part of determining whether a valid and genuine contract exists, an entity is required to evaluate
whether it is probable that the entity will collect substantially all of the consideration to which it is
entitled under the contract. However, the consideration to which an entity is ultimately entitled may
be less than the price stated in the contract because the customer is offered a price concession.
Price concessions are a form of variable consideration and need to be analyzed when the transaction
price is being determined (as part of step 3 of the model). However, as part of step 1, an entity would
evaluate whether it is probable that the entity will collect the consideration to which it will be entitled
for providing goods or services to a customer after considering any price concessions. This evaluation
requires aspects of step 3 to be performed in conjunction with step 1.

Differentiating between credit risk (i.e., the risk of collecting less consideration than the amount the
entity legitimately expected to collect from the customer) and price concessions (i.e., entering into

a contract with a customer with the expectation of accepting less than the contractual amount of
consideration in exchange for goods or services) may be difficult. Entities will need to use significant
judgment in determining whether they have provided an implicit price concession or have accepted a
customer’s credit risk. This is particularly true of entities in highly regulated industries, such as health
care and consumer energy, which may be required by law to provide certain goods and services to their
customers regardless of the customers' ability to pay. Because of the nature of these arrangements,
entities will need to evaluate all of the relevant facts and circumstances of their arrangements to
determine whether they have provided implicit price concessions or whether the anticipated receipt of
less than the total contractual consideration represents credit risk.
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Example 2 in ASC 606-10-55-99 through 55-101, which is reproduced below, illustrates how a life
sciences entity would evaluate implicit price concessions when assessing whether the collectibility
criterion is met.

ASC 606-10

Example 2 — Consideration Is Not the Stated Price — Implicit Price Concession

55-99 An entity sells 1,000 units of a prescription drug to a customer for promised consideration of $1 million.
This is the entity's first sale to a customer in a new region, which is experiencing significant economic difficulty.
Thus, the entity expects that it will not be able to collect from the customer the full amount of the promised
consideration. Despite the possibility of not collecting the full amount, the entity expects the region’s economy
to recover over the next two to three years and determines that a relationship with the customer could help it
to forge relationships with other potential customers in the region.

55-100 When assessing whether the criterion in paragraph 606-10-25-1(e) is met, the entity also considers
paragraphs 606-10-32-2 and 606-10-32-7(b). Based on the assessment of the facts and circumstances, the
entity determines that it expects to provide a price concession and accept a lower amount of consideration
from the customer. Accordingly, the entity concludes that the transaction price is not $1 million and, therefore,
the promised consideration is variable. The entity estimates the variable consideration and determines that it
expects to be entitled to $400,000.

55-101 The entity considers the customer’s ability and intention to pay the consideration and concludes that
even though the region is experiencing economic difficulty it is probable that it will collect $400,000 from the
customer. Consequently, the entity concludes that the criterion in paragraph 606-10-25-1(e) is met based on an
estimate of variable consideration of $400,000. In addition, based on an evaluation of the contract terms and
other facts and circumstances, the entity concludes that the other criteria in paragraph 606-10-25-1 are also
met. Consequently, the entity accounts for the contract with the customer in accordance with the guidance in
this Topic.

2.3.4 Contract Term

Determining the term of the contract is an important step in the revenue recognition process since the
contract term could affect the identification of promises under the contract, the transaction price, and
disclosures. ASC 606 provides guidance on determining the contract duration, including the effect of
termination clauses and contract renewals. The contract term is determined on the basis of the period
over which the parties to the contract have present enforceable rights and obligations.

ASC 606-10

25-3 Some contracts with customers may have no fixed duration and can be terminated or modified by either
party at any time. Other contracts may automatically renew on a periodic basis that is specified in the contract.
An entity shall apply the guidance in this Topic to the duration of the contract (that is, the contractual period)

in which the parties to the contract have present enforceable rights and obligations. In evaluating the criterion
in paragraph 606-10-25-1(e), an entity shall assess the collectibility of the consideration promised in a contract
for the goods or services that will be transferred to the customer rather than assessing the collectibility of the
consideration promised in the contract for all of the promised goods or services (see paragraphs 606-10-55-3A
through 55-3C). However, if an entity determines that all of the criteria in paragraph 606-10-25-1 are met, the
remainder of the guidance in this Topic shall be applied to all of the promised goods or services in the contract.

In the life sciences industry, CROs typically enter into long-term contracts with their customers to
perform clinical trial management services. Because of the high failure rates in the clinical development
process, it is customary for CROs in the industry to provide the customer the right to terminate

the contract with the CRO without cause. The customer is often required to give a specified notice

of termination (e.g., 30 days) and to compensate the CRO for all work performed through the date
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of termination, as well as for any noncancelable arrangements the CRO has entered into and any
wind-down activities required to close the study. In addition, some contracts may include a termination
fee for early cancellation of a study.

2.3.4.1 Termination Clauses and Penalties

When contracts have termination clauses and penalties, the duration of the contract is predicated on

the contract’s enforceable rights and obligations. Accordingly, regardless of whether one or both parties
have the right to terminate the contract, an entity would need to evaluate the nature of the termination
provisions, including whether any termination penalty is substantive. For example, an entity would assess
factors such as (1) whether the terminating party is required to pay compensation, (2) the amount of such
compensation, and (3) the reason for the compensation (i.e., whether the compensation is in addition to
amounts due for goods and services already delivered). Substantive termination penalties suggest that the
parties’ rights and obligations extend for the duration of the contract term.

A contract's accounting term could be less than the contract's stated term if a termination penalty is not
substantive. For example, a 12-month stated contract term could, in effect, be a month-to-month contract
if the contract could be terminated each month and the termination penalty is not substantive. An entity
will need to carefully consider the effect of nonsubstantive termination penalties on the timing and amount
of revenue to be recognized.

Because the assessment of termination clauses and penalties focuses on legally enforceable rights and
obligations, certain economic factors such as economic compulsion should not be considered. Rather,
the assessment depends on whether the terminating party is required to compensate the other party.
For example, an entity may have a long-term agreement with a customer for a unique good or service
that is critical to the customer's operations. If the agreement allows the customer to terminate it at any
point and there are no contractual penalties if the customer does not purchase any goods or services, a
contract for the purchase of additional goods or services does not exist even if it is highly likely that the
customer will not terminate the agreement.

The economic considerations related to forgoing a discount on optional purchases would not be
viewed as a substantive penalty suggesting that the parties' rights and obligations extend for a longer
contract term. The discount on optional purchases should be assessed for the existence of a material
right instead. Therefore, while an “economic” penalty may be incurred by a customer that elects not to
purchase future but optional goods at a discount, that economic penalty would not rise to the level of a
substantive penalty that lengthens the contract term.

The determination of whether a termination penalty is substantive requires judgment and would be
evaluated both quantitatively and qualitatively. For example, data about the frequency of contract
terminations may be useful in such a determination (i.e., a high frequency of payments made to
terminate contracts may suggest that the termination provision is not substantive). Determining the
enforceable term of a contract that includes termination provisions (e.g., cancellation fees) may be
challenging, particularly when only the customer has a right to terminate the contract. When a customer
has a right to terminate the contract without penalty, such termination provision is substantively the
same as a renewal provision, as supported by both paragraph BC391 of ASU 2014-09 and Q&A 8 of the
FASB staff's Revenue Recognition Implementation Q&As (the “Implementation Q&AS").

In practice, CROs often experience a low frequency of payments made to terminate contracts, which may
suggest that the termination provisions are substantive. A substantive termination penalty is evidence

of enforceable rights and obligations on the part of both parties throughout the period in which the
substantive termination penalty applies.
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2.3.4.1.1 Termination Clauses in License Arrangements

As noted in Section 2.3.4.1 above, an entity needs to evaluate the nature of termination provisions,
including whether any penalties are substantive (i.e., whether the transfer of any consideration from
the customer to the entity is substantive). Careful consideration is required in the evaluation of whether
giving up license rights is a form of penalty.

Implementation Q&As 7 and 8 include the following factors that an entity should consider when
determining whether a termination penalty is substantive:

»  Whether the terminating party is required to pay compensation.
» The amount of such compensation.

» The reason for the compensation (i.e., whether the compensation is in addition to amounts due
for goods and services already delivered).

The example below illustrates how an entity would determine whether a license arrangement includes a
substantive termination penalty.

Example 2-6

Company A, a pharmaceutical company in the United States, owns and maintains a portfolio of patents

related to an antibiotic that treats life-threatening diseases. On February 23, 20X8, A grants Customer B (a
pharmaceutical company in Ireland) the exclusive right to use its patented drug formula to commercialize and
supply the antibiotic in Europe. The IP is fully developed, and regulatory approval has been obtained; therefore,
B is able to commercialize the IP. Company A has determined that the patented drug formula is functional IP
and that therefore, the license grants B the right to use the IP.

In exchange for the exclusive right to use the patented drug formula, B agrees to pay A the following amounts:

« An up-front fee of $300 million.
« Annual fixed fees of $50 million payable at the end of each year in which the contract is effective.

« Sales-based royalties of 5 percent of B's sales of the antibiotic in Europe (recognized in accordance with
the sales-based royalty exception in ASC 606-10-55-65).

The contract states that B has the exclusive right to use the patented drug formula through the patent term,
which expires in 10 years (i.e., the contract ends when the patent expires). Notwithstanding the stated contract
term, the contract states that B may terminate the contract before the expiration of the patent by providing
three months’ notice to A. All amounts already paid by B are nonrefundable in the event of early termination.
The contract does not include an explicit termination penalty (i.e., B is not required to pay additional cash
consideration to A upon early termination); however, upon early termination, the right to the patented drug
formula in Europe would revert back to A, and A would be able to relicense the patented drug formula to a
different pharmaceutical company in Europe. Unless B terminates the contract before the end of the stated
term, A would not be able to benefit from licensing the patented drug formula to a different pharmaceutical
company in Europe (i.e., A would receive this benefit only upon B's early termination of the contract).

Under these facts, A's contract to license the exclusive right to use its patented drug formula to B contains

a substantive termination penalty. As previously discussed in Section 2.3.4.1, it is important for an entity to
evaluate the nature of the termination provisions in its contracts to determine the appropriate contract term
for applying ASC 606.
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Example 2-6 (continued)

In this example, A's contract to license the patented drug formula to B does not include an explicit termination
penalty. That is, B can terminate the contract before the end of the stated term by providing three months’
notice without paying additional cash consideration to A. Although the contract does not require B to pay
additional cash consideration to A upon early termination, in the event that B terminates the contract early, the
exclusive license rights related to the patented drug formula would revert back to A. Company A would then

be able to license the patented drug formula to another customer in Europe for the remainder of the patent
term, which it would not have been able to do if B had not terminated the contract. Therefore, although B is not
paying additional cash to A upon termination, B is providing consideration (i.e., something of value) to A, and A
is receiving something of value from B (i.e., the right to relicense the patented drug formula), upon termination.
Although Implementation Q&As 7 and 8 focus on compensation as additional cash that an entity's customer
would pay to the entity upon termination, compensation may also include noncash consideration that is of
value to the entity. The fact that B is forfeiting its rights to the patented drug formula and providing A with
something of value (i.e., the ability to relicense the patented drug formula to another customer in Europe) from
the forfeiture upon early termination represents a substantive termination penalty in the contract.

In accordance with Implementation Q&As 7 and 8, the substantive termination penalty suggests that the
parties' rights and obligations extend for the duration of the stated contract term. That is, the contract term is
10 years.

2.3.5 Contract Modifications

ASC 606-10

25-10 A contract modification is a change in the scope or price (or both) of a contract that is approved by

the parties to the contract. In some industries and jurisdictions, a contract modification may be described as

a change order, a variation, or an amendment. A contract modification exists when the parties to a contract
approve a modification that either creates new or changes existing enforceable rights and obligations of the
parties to the contract. A contract modification could be approved in writing, by oral agreement, or implied

by customary business practices. If the parties to the contract have not approved a contract modification, an
entity shall continue to apply the guidance in this Topic to the existing contract until the contract modification is
approved.

25-11 A contract modification may exist even though the parties to the contract have a dispute about the
scope or price (or both) of the modification or the parties have approved a change in the scope of the contract
but have not yet determined the corresponding change in price. In determining whether the rights and
obligations that are created or changed by a modification are enforceable, an entity shall consider all relevant
facts and circumstances including the terms of the contract and other evidence. If the parties to a contract
have approved a change in the scope of the contract but have not yet determined the corresponding change
in price, an entity shall estimate the change to the transaction price arising from the modification in accordance
with paragraphs 606-10-32-5 through 32-9 on estimating variable consideration and paragraphs 606-10-32-11
through 32-13 on constraining estimates of variable consideration.

Contract modifications can frequently happen in the normal course of business. Any time an entity and
its customer agree to change what the entity promises to deliver or the amount of consideration the
customer will pay (i.e., creates or changes the enforceable rights or obligations in a preexisting contract),
there is a contract modification.

The first step in the identification of a contract modification is to assess whether, for a contract
accounted for under ASC 606, there has been a change in the contract's scope or price, or both. The
second step is to determine whether the parties to the contract have agreed upon the change. As
defined above, contract modifications must be agreed to by both parties (written, orally, or through
customary business practices). That is, both parties must agree to change the enforceable rights and
obligations of the contract.
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As noted above, CROs in the life sciences industry often enter into long-term contracts with their
customers to perform clinical trial management services. Changes in the scope of these contracts is
common in the industry.

If a CRO and its customer agree upon a change to a contract and the change qualifies as a contract
modification under ASC 606-10-25-10 and 25-11, the CRO will be required to evaluate the appropriate
accounting for that contract modification.

If a change in a contract qualifies as a contract modification under ASC 606-10-25-10 and 25-11, the
entity must assess the goods and services and their selling prices. Depending on whether those goods
and services are distinct or sold at their stand-alone selling prices, a modification can be accounted for as:

* Aseparate contract (see ASC 606-10-25-12).
* One of the following (if the modification is net accounted for as a separate contract):

o Atermination of the old contract and the creation of a new contract (see ASC
606-10-25-13(a)).

o A cumulative catch-up adjustment to the original contract (see ASC 606-10-25-13(b)).

o A combination of the items described in ASC 606-10-25-13(a) and (), in a way that faithfully
reflects the economics of the transaction (see ASC 606-10-25-13(c)).

2.3.5.1 Contract Modification Accounted for as a Separate Contract

ASC 606-10

25-12 An entity shall account for a contract modification as a separate contract if both of the following
conditions are present:

a. The scope of the contract increases because of the addition of promised goods or services that are
distinct (in accordance with paragraphs 606-10-25-18 through 25-22).

b. The price of the contract increases by an amount of consideration that reflects the entity's standalone
selling prices of the additional promised goods or services and any appropriate adjustments to that
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract. For example, an entity may adjust the
standalone selling price of an additional good or service for a discount that the customer receives,
because it is not necessary for the entity to incur the selling-related costs that it would incur when selling
a similar good or service to a new customer.

When an entity accounts for a contract modification as a separate contract in accordance with ASC
606-10-25-12, the entity's accounting for the original contract is not affected by the modification. Any
revenue recognized through the date of the modification is not adjusted, and remaining performance
obligations will continue to be accounted for under the original contract. The new contract is accounted
for separately from the original contract and on a prospective basis.

There is no economic difference between (1) a modification of an existing contract with a customer that
includes additional distinct goods or services at their representative stand-alone selling prices and (2) a
completely new contract entered into by the two parties for goods or services at their representative
stand-alone selling prices. Therefore, a modification of an existing contract should be accounted for

as a new contract that is separate and apart from the existing contract when (1) there are additional
distinct goods or services promised to a customer and (2) those goods or services are in exchange for
consideration that represents the stand-alone selling prices of the additional distinct promised goods or
services.
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Because a modification to a CRO contract often may not add “distinct” goods or services at a price that
reflects the stand-alone selling price of those goods or services, such a modification is generally not
accounted for as a new contract separate from the original contract. Instead, as further discussed below,
this type of modification is typically (1) viewed as part of a single performance obligation that is partially
satisfied on the date of the modification and (2) accounted for as if it were part of the original contract.

A modification that results in a decrease in scope cannot be accounted for as a separate contract because
the criterion in ASC 606-10-25-12(a) specifying an increase in the scope of the contract is not met.

Some contract modifications may meet the criterion in ASC 606-10-25-12(a) because they include
additional promised goods or services that are distinct. To conclude that these contract modifications
should be accounted for as a separate contract, an entity should be able to demonstrate that the price of
the contract increases by an amount of consideration that reflects (1) the entity's stand-alone selling prices
of the additional promised goods or services and (2) any appropriate adjustments to that price that take
into account the circumstances of the particular contract. This may be challenging in certain arrangements
in which stand-alone selling prices are not readily determinable. For example, life sciences entities
frequently enter into collaborative arrangements that are accounted for under ASC 606, as discussed in
Section 2.2.1.2. Occasionally, these arrangements are modified to include additional compounds that

the collaboration partners agree to develop. Questions may arise about how an entity should apply ASC
606-10-25-12(b) since similar compounds may not have been previously sold or licensed to other parties.
See Section 2.6 for a discussion of factors that an entity should consider when assessing the stand-alone
selling price. Given the judgment required in making this determination, consultation with an entity’s
accounting advisers is recommended.

2.3.5.2 Contract Modification Not Accounted for as a Separate Contract

ASC 606-10

25-13 If a contract modification is not accounted for as a separate contract in accordance with paragraph
606-10-25-12, an entity shall account for the promised goods or services not yet transferred at the date of the
contract modification (that is, the remaining promised goods or services) in whichever of the following ways is
applicable:

a. An entity shall account for the contract modification as if it were a termination of the existing contract,
and the creation of a new contract, if the remaining goods or services are distinct from the goods or
services transferred on or before the date of the contract modification. The amount of consideration to
be allocated to the remaining performance obligations (or to the remaining distinct goods or services in
a single performance obligation identified in accordance with paragraph 606-10-25-14(b)) is the sum of:

1. The consideration promised by the customer (including amounts already received from the
customer) that was included in the estimate of the transaction price and that had not been
recognized as revenue and

2. The consideration promised as part of the contract modification.

b. An entity shall account for the contract modification as if it were a part of the existing contract if the
remaining goods or services are not distinct and, therefore, form part of a single performance obligation
that is partially satisfied at the date of the contract modification. The effect that the contract modification
has on the transaction price, and on the entity's measure of progress toward complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation, is recognized as an adjustment to revenue (either as an increase in or
a reduction of revenue) at the date of the contract modification (that is, the adjustment to revenue is
made on a cumulative catch-up basis).

c. Ifthe remaining goods or services are a combination of items (a) and (b), then the entity shall account for
the effects of the modification on the unsatisfied (including partially unsatisfied) performance obligations
in the modified contract in a manner that is consistent with the objectives of this paragraph.
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A contract modification that does not meet the requirements outlined in Section 2.3.5.1 is not
accounted for as a separate contract. Therefore, an entity would have to determine how to account for a
blended contract that now includes one or both of the following:

* Anoriginal agreement plus or minus some other goods or services.

* Achange in the amount of consideration due under the modified arrangement.

The determination of which model to use depends on whether the remaining goods or services (the
originally promised items and the newly promised items) are distinct from the goods and services already
provided under the contract.

In accordance with ASC 606-10-25-13(a), if the remaining goods or services are distinct from the

goods or services already provided under the original arrangement, the entity would in effect establish

a "new” contract that includes only those remaining goods and services. In this situation, the entity
would allocate to the remaining performance obligations (or distinct goods or services) in the contract
(1) consideration from the original contract that has not yet been recognized as revenue and (2) any
additional consideration from the maodification. Such a situation would arise when there is a modification
to a contract that contains (1) remaining distinct performance obligations or (2) a single performance
obligation accounted for as a series of distinct goods or services under ASC 606-10-25-14(b).

In contrast, in accordance with ASC 606-10-25-13(b), if the contract modification results in remaining
goods and services that are not distinct, the entity should account for the modification as though the
additional goods and services were an addition to an incomplete performance obligation. This may

be the case when a CRO's contract with a customer contains one performance obligation and the
parties modify the terms to change the scope of the services provided. In this instance, a measure of
progress, such as costs incurred, would typically be used to recognize revenue over time. For example,
suppose that just before the modification, the entity's performance was 30 percent complete. After the
modification, the entity may determine that its performance is only 25 percent complete because the
scope of the single performance obligation increased (or is 35 percent complete because the scope of
the single performance obligation decreased). As a result, an updated revenue figure is calculated on the
basis of the revised percentage, and the entity would record a cumulative catch-up adjustment.

The FASB and IASB recognized that there may be contracts in which some performance obligations
include remaining goods or services that are distinct from the goods or services already provided
under the original arrangement, while other performance obligations include remaining goods and
services that are not (i.e., a change in scope of a partially satisfied performance obligation). The boards
decided that in those circumstances, it may be appropriate for an entity to apply both models to a
single contract, in the manner described in ASC 606-10-25-13(c), on the basis of an assessment at
the performance obligation level. An entity would do so by considering whether, for the performance
obligations that are not yet fully satisfied (including those that are partially satisfied), the remaining
goods or services to be transferred in accordance with the promise are distinct from the goods or
services previously transferred. No change would be made to revenue recognized for fully satisfied
performance obligations.
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2.4 Identify the Performance Obligations (Step 2)

Step 2 is one of the most critical steps in the revenue framework since it establishes the unit of

account for revenue recognition. This step requires an entity to identify what it has promised to the
customer. The entity then determines whether a promise or multiple promises represent one or more
performance obligations to the customer. To accomplish this, the entity should determine whether the
promises in the contract are distinct. ASC 606-10-25-19 notes that a “good or service that is promised to
a customer is distinct if both of the following criteria are met”:

a. The customer can benefit from the good or service either on its own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer (that is, the good or service is capable of being distinct).

b. The entity's promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable from
other promises in the contract (that is, the promise to transfer the good or service is distinct within the
context of the contract).

Further, ASC 606-10-25-22 states that “[i]f a promised good or service is not distinct, an entity shall
combine that good or service with other promised goods or services until it identifies a bundle of goods
or services that is distinct. In some cases, that would result in the entity accounting for all the goods or
services promised in a contract as a single performance obligation.”

The standard’s guidance on determining whether a customer can benefit from a good or service on its
own or together with other readily available resources is generally consistent with the legacy guidance in
ASC 605-25 on determining whether a good or service has “stand-alone value.”

To help an entity assess whether its promises to transfer goods or services to the customer are
separately identifiable, ASC 606-10-25-21 identifies the following factors “that indicate that two or more
promises to transfer goods or services to a customer are not separately identifiable” (emphasis added):

a. The entity provides a significant service of integrating [the] goods or services with other goods or
services promised in the contract . . . In other words, the entity is using the goods or services as inputs
to produce or deliver the combined output or outputs specified by the customer. . ..

b. One or more of the goods or services significantly modifies or customizes, or are significantly modified
or customized by, one or more of the other goods or services promised in the contract.

c. The goods or services are highly interdependent or highly interrelated. In other words, each of the
goods or services is significantly affected by one or more of the other goods or services in the contract.
For example, in some cases, two or more goods or services are significantly affected by each other
because the entity would not be able to fulfill its promise by transferring each of the goods or services
independently.

In the life sciences industry, CROs often provide multiple services for their pharmaceutical and
biotechnology customers. For example, CROs may help design studies, recruit investigators (physicians),
recruit patients, help manage clinical trials, monitor safety, and write reports on study results. These
services are generally considered to represent a single performance obligation because they are not
“separately identifiable.”

Some of the other more common issues that life sciences entities have faced when considering step 2 of
the revenue standard are discussed below.
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2.4.1 License of IP Bundled With Other Services

Arrangements involving the license of IP and other services (e.g., contract R&D services or contract
manufacturing services) are common in the life sciences industry. For example, biotechnology
companies frequently enter into license and development arrangements with pharmaceutical
companies, and contract manufacturers frequently enter into license and supply arrangements with
pharmaceutical companies.

Life sciences entities that grant a license bundled with other services (e.g., contract R&D services or
contract manufacturing services) may need to use significant judgment when determining whether the
goods or services in a contract (1) are capable of being distinct (have stand-alone value) and (2) are

not highly interdependent or highly interrelated and do not significantly modify or customize one
another (are separately identifiable). While the analysis of whether the goods or services are capable

of being distinct is generally consistent with the analysis of stand-alone value under legacy guidance,
the “separately identifiable” concept may require entities to account for a bundle of goods or services,
which may have represented separate units of account under legacy guidance, as a single performance
obligation (unit of account) under the revenue standard.

2.4.2 Feasibility of Performance of the Same Services by Another Vendor

In the evaluation of whether a license of IP and contract R&D services (or contract manufacturing
services) are separate performance obligations, an entity may need to consider whether it is feasible for
another vendor to provide the same services.

ASC 606-10-55-367 through 55-372A, relevant parts of which are reproduced below, include two fact
patterns that illustrate how the determination of whether it is feasible for another life sciences entity to
provide the same services affects the analysis of whether the “capable of being distinct” criterion is met.

ASC 606-10

Example 56 — Identifying a Distinct License

55-367 An entity, a pharmaceutical company, licenses to a customer its patent rights to an approved drug
compound for 10 years and also promises to manufacture the drug for the customer for 5 years, while the
customer develops its own manufacturing capability. The drug is a mature product; therefore, there is no
expectation that the entity will undertake activities to change the drug (for example, to alter its chemical
composition). There are no other promised goods or services in the contract.

Case A — License Is Not Distinct

55-368 In this case, no other entity can manufacture this drug while the customer learns the manufacturing
process and builds its own manufacturing capability because of the highly specialized nature of the
manufacturing process. As a result, the license cannot be purchased separately from the manufacturing
service.

55-369 The entity assesses the goods and services promised to the customer to determine which goods and
services are distinct in accordance with paragraph 606-10-25-19. The entity determines that the customer
cannot benefit from the license without the manufacturing service; therefore, the criterion in paragraph
606-10-25-19(a) is not met. Consequently, the license and the manufacturing service are not distinct, and the
entity accounts for the license and the manufacturing service as a single performance obligation.

Case B — License Is Distinct

55-371 In this case, the manufacturing process used to produce the drug is not unique or specialized, and
several other entities also can manufacture the drug for the customer.,
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ASC 606-10 (continued)

55-372 The entity assesses the goods and services promised to the customer to determine which goods and
services are distinct, and it concludes that the criteria in paragraph 606-10-25-19 are met for each of the
license and the manufacturing service. The entity concludes that the criterion in paragraph 606-10-25-19(a) is
met because the customer can benefit from the license together with readily available resources other than
the entity’'s manufacturing service (that is, because there are other entities that can provide the manufacturing
service) and can benefit from the manufacturing service together with the license transferred to the customer
at the start of the contract.

55-372A The entity also concludes that its promises to grant the license and to provide the manufacturing
service are separately identifiable (that is, the criterion in paragraph 606-10-25-19(b) is met). The entity
concludes that the license and the manufacturing service are not inputs to a combined item in this contract
on the basis of the principle and the factors in paragraph 606-10-25-21. In reaching this conclusion, the entity
considers that the customer could separately purchase the license without significantly affecting its ability

to benefit from the license. Neither the license nor the manufacturing service is significantly modified or
customized by the other, and the entity is not providing a significant service of integrating those items into a
combined output. The entity further considers that the license and the manufacturing service are not highly
interdependent or highly interrelated because the entity would be able to fulfill its promise to transfer the
license independent of fulfilling its promise to subsequently manufacture the drug for the customer. Similarly,
the entity would be able to manufacture the drug for the customer even if the customer had previously
obtained the license and initially utilized a different manufacturer. Thus, although the manufacturing service
necessarily depends on the license in this contract (that is, the entity would not contract for the manufacturing
service without the customer having obtained the license), the license and the manufacturing service do not
significantly affect each other. Consequently, the entity concludes that its promises to grant the license and to
provide the manufacturing service are distinct and that there are two performance obligations:

a. License of patent rights
b. Manufacturing service.

Connecting the Dots

@ Determining whether R&D services or manufacturing services are separately identifiable
from licenses can require significant judgment. While “bright lines” do not exist, the stage of
development may be relevant to the determination of whether R&D services are expected
to significantly modify or customize the IP (e.g., R&D services for early-stage IP frequently
involve activities that lead to changes in a drug compound'’s formulation, dosing levels, and
manufacturing process, whereas R&D services for later-stage IP may only involve validating the
drug's efficacy).

Similarly, if the manufacturing of an APl is performed to support R&D services, the
manufacturing and R&D may not be distinct because the company cannot fulfill its promise

to perform R&D independently from its promise to manufacture the API. Conversely,
manufacturing of an approved product may be more likely to be “distinct” if another party could
perform the services.

2.4.3 Contractual Requirement to Use the Entity’s Services

A revenue arrangement for the license of IP and contract R&D services (or contract manufacturing
services) may contain a contractual requirement that the entity's customer must use the entity’s
services. A contractual requirement that the entity's customer must use the entity's R&D services (or
manufacturing services) does not change the evaluation of whether the promised goods and services
are distinct. In accordance with ASC 606-10-55-150F, “[t]his is because the contractual requirement to
use the entity’s . . . services does not change the characteristics of the goods or services themselves, nor
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does it change the entity's promises to the customer.” Specifically, paragraph BC100 of ASU 2014-09
notes the following:

The Boards observed that the assessment of whether the “customer can benefit from the goods or services
on its own" should be based on the characteristics of the goods or services themselves instead of the way in
which the customer may use the goods or services. Consequently, an entity would disregard any contractual
limitations that might preclude the customer from obtaining readily available resources from a source other
than the entity.

Accordingly, if the license and the services are otherwise capable of being distinct and separately
identifiable, the license and the services would be accounted for as two performance obligations.

2.4.4 Assessing the Availability of Alternative Service Providers and Its
Impact on the Identification of Performance Obligations

The illustrative examples in ASC 606 provide certain facts used to support a determination of whether a
promised good or service is distinct and therefore a separate performance obligation. However, some
facts may vary between examples while the conclusions are consistent. For instance, in Example 11,
Case C (ASC 606-10-55-150A through 55-150D), one of the facts provided to support the conclusion
that the equipment and installation services represent two performance obligations is that others

can provide the installation services. However, in Example 11, Case E (ASC 606-10-55-150G through
55-150K), the conclusion that the equipment and specialized consumables are two performance
obligations is reached even though the specialized consumables are not available from other entities.
This is because the entity in the example would be able to fulfill each of its promises in the contract (i.e.,
each promise to provide an item of equipment and consumables) independently of the other promises.

If a good or service (e.g., installation service) is unavailable from alternative providers, or available from
only a limited number of alternative providers, an entity is not precluded from considering the good or
service to be a separate performance obligation. The unavailability of a good or service from alternative
providers is a factor for an entity to consider in evaluating whether the good or service is distinct (and
therefore a separate performance obligation), but that factor is not individually determinative (as noted
in the examples cited above). Entities need to use judgment in evaluating whether a promise to provide
a good or service, in addition to other goods or services, is capable of being distinct and is distinct
within the context of the contract (i.e., separately identifiable) in accordance with ASC 606-10-25-19. In
making that determination, an entity may focus on why a good or service is or is not available from other
providers, especially when evaluating the following factors in ASC 606-10-25-21 to conclude on whether
the good or service is separately identifiable:

*  Whether there is a significant service of integrating goods or services.
»  Whether the good or service significantly modifies or customizes another good or service.

*  Whether the good or service and one or more other goods or services are highly
interdependent or highly interrelated.

For example, if an entity sells medical device equipment and provides installation of that equipment, the
determination of whether the installation services are available from another entity would be a factor to
be considered in the evaluation of whether the installation is distinct within the context of the contract,
but that factor alone would not be determinative. It is important for the reporting entity to consider why
the installation is unavailable from (or available from only a limited number of) alternative providers to
determine whether the installation is separately identifiable in accordance with ASC 606-10-25-21. For
example, if the entity has a standard installation process that does not significantly customize or modify
the equipment for the entity’'s customer, the entity may conclude that the installation is separately
identifiable regardless of whether there are no other installation providers or only a limited number of
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such providers. However, installation services that are unique and significantly modify or customize the
equipment for the customer may suggest that the services are not separately identifiable and therefore
are not distinct within the context of the contract.

Connecting the Dots

In the life sciences industry, manufacturing facilities and processes are frequently required to
be approved by regulators (e.g., the FDA). The absence of alternative facilities with regulatory
approval to manufacture a particular product can affect the “distinct” analysis for arrangements
involving a license of IP and manufacturing services.

Similarly, biotechnology companies that enter into revenue arrangements with pharmaceutical
companies are frequently required by contract to participate in a joint steering committee in
addition to licensing a drug candidate and performing R&D services. Although the obligation to
participate in a joint steering committee could be determined to be a promised service, it may
not represent a “distinct” service unless, for example, other parties could perform the service
and the service does not involve a significant integration of other goods and services in the
arrangement.

2.4.5 Warranties

Companies that offer a warranty on their products sold (e.g., medical devices) must assess whether
the warranty represents a distinct service that should be accounted for as a separate performance
obligation.

It is important to determine what type of warranty an entity offers to a customer because the way in
which revenue is recognized will vary depending on that determination. An entity should determine
whether it offers the customer an assurance-type warranty or a service-type warranty. An assurance-
type warranty provides the customer with the peace of mind that the entity will fix or possibly replace
a good or service if the original good or service was faulty. It is the type of warranty with which most
customers are familiar. In contrast, a service-type warranty provides the customer with a service that
is incremental to the assurance that the good or service will meet the expectations agreed to in the
contract.

An entity may need to use judgment to determine whether a warranty is a service-type warranty

(i.e., performance obligation). This is important because, depending on the outcome of the entity's
assessment, consideration could be allocated to the performance obligation and consequently change
the pattern of revenue recognition.

To assess the nature of a warranty, an entity should consider whether the warranty provides an
additional service. It is easy to make this determination if the warranty is sold separately. A contract is
considered separately priced if the customer has the option of purchasing the contract for an expressly
stated amount separate from the price of the product. As discussed in paragraph BC371 of ASU
2014-09, an entity could also separately negotiate a warranty with a customer and determine that a
performance obligation exists.

However, a warranty does not necessarily have to be separately sold or separately negotiated to be
considered a performance obligation. To determine whether a warranty is a performance obligation, an
entity should consider various indicators in accordance with ASC 606-10-55-33.
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A warranty that provides a service in addition to the entity's assurance that the goods or services
transferred to a customer will function as intended or meet agreed-upon specifications would represent
a separate performance obligation. Accordingly, the entity would need to allocate a portion of the
transaction price to the separate service and recognize the related revenue when (or as) performance is
completed even when this warranty is neither separately priced nor separately negotiated.

If the warranty merely provides what ASC 606-10-55-30 describes as “assurance that the related product
will function as the parties intended because it complies with agreed-upon specifications,” the assurance
is not a service and therefore not a separate performance obligation. For an assurance-type warranty
obligation incurred in connection with the sale of a product (i.e., an obligation that is not separately
priced or sold or otherwise a separate performance obligation), the costs associated with providing the
warranty would be accrued in accordance with ASC 460-10 (see ASC 606-10-55-32).

Assessing the substance of the promise in a warranty arrangement that is neither separately priced nor
separately negotiated often will require judgment. To aid in such an assessment, ASC 606-10-55-33 lists
three factors that an entity should consider in determining whether a warranty provides the customer
with a service in addition to the entity's assurance that the good or service complies with agreed-upon
specifications: (1) whether the warranty is required by law, (2) the length of the coverage period, and

(3) the nature of the tasks that are promised.

See Section 5.5 of Deloitte’s Roadmap Revenue Recognition for information related to the evaluation of
warranty arrangements.

Example 2-7

Company A offers its customers a program under which it would provide them with a free drug vial
replacement whenever a drug vial is damaged or broken by a physician before the drug is administered to
a patient (subject to a maximum number of drug vials annually per customer). The drug vial replacement
program is not separately priced.

Because A has promised to provide a service of replacing a drug vial in situations beyond those addressing
manufacturing defects, A determines that the program represents a separate performance obligation that
is not separately priced. Therefore, A should (1) determine the stand-alone selling price of the drug vial
replacement service and allocate an appropriate portion of the transaction price to it and (2) recognize that
portion as revenue over the period in which the drug vial replacement service is provided.

2.4.6 Application of the Series Provision in Life Sciences Arrangements

Entities in the life sciences industry may enter into service arrangements with other entities in the
industry as part of their product development process or commercialization strategies. For example,
the developer of a drug compound or other IP may enter into an arrangement with a CRO for clinical
research services (“R&D services”). These R&D services may involve various tasks such as patient
enrollment, clinical trial site management, and activities related to regulatory filings. While the two
entities agree to a set of objectives, the CRO providing the R&D services may not promise or guarantee
an end result. Instead, the CRO satisfies its performance obligation to the IP developer by giving the
developer access to clinical professionals to advance the R&D efforts toward agreed-upon objectives.
Given the nature of such R&D services, the services may not be performed consistently or consecutively
over the service period, and their nature and scope may change as the work progresses.
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Conversely, a life sciences entity may commercialize its approved pharmaceutical products by retaining
an outsourced sales team to promote and sell its products. The nature of the selling services may differ
from R&D services in that each day's service is not modified or customized by another day's service,
one day's service is not an input with another day’s service that results in a combined output, and the
services performed on different days are not highly interdependent or highly interrelated.

An entity's application of ASC 606 to a contract with a customer may be affected by whether the entity
determines that its promises to the customer represent (1) a single combined performance obligation
comprising multiple activities that are not distinct or (2) a single performance obligation consisting

of a series of distinct increments. Specifically, the application of the guidance on allocating variable
consideration, accounting for contract modifications, and providing disclosures related to remaining
performance obligations differs for a series of distinct increments of goods or services. We believe that
the determination of whether R&D or selling services provided by entities in the life sciences industry
represent a series may require significant judgment.

The first step in the evaluation of whether an entity's promise to provide R&D or selling services to a
customer represents a series is to assess whether the nature of the promise is one of the following:

» The delivery of a specified quantity of goods or services.

* A stand-ready obligation to provide an indefinite amount of goods or services during a specified
period.

If the nature of the promise is to deliver a specified quantity of goods or services, the entity must
determine whether each good or service is distinct, is substantially the same as the other goods or
services, and has the same pattern of transfer to the customer as that of the other goods or services.
If, on the other hand, the nature of the promise is to stand ready for a specified period, the entity
must determine whether, for each increment of time, its promise of standing ready to provide the R&D
or selling services is distinct, is substantially the same as its promise for each of the other increments
of time, and has the same pattern of transfer to the customer as its promise for each of the other
increments of time.

Contracts in the life sciences industry to perform R&D services appear in various forms. For example,
some contracts may include a license to IP in addition to the R&D services. If it is determined that

the license and the R&D services are both within the scope of ASC 606 but are not distinct promises
(or if the customer already has control of a license and the entity’s only promise in the contract is to
provide R&D services), the series guidance may not apply to the combined performance obligation if
the R&D services provided throughout the development period are cumulative in that each increment
of service builds on and is dependent on the increments that precede it (i.e., such services would

not be considered distinct within the context of the contract). This could be the case when the R&D
activities performed on a particular day significantly modify the results of R&D performed on previous
days in such a way that the R&D services performed on different days are highly interdependent, highly
interrelated, or both. In such a case, the R&D services would generally be accounted for as a single
combined performance obligation consisting of multiple activities that are not distinct, as opposed to
a series of distinct increments of time or service. In certain other cases, R&D services may meet the
criteria to be accounted for as a series, as illustrated in the example below.
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Example 2-8

Entity X, a CRO, enters into an arrangement with Pharma, the developer of a new drug compound, to perform
daily R&D services for Pharma as needed during phase IlI clinical trials by giving Pharma access to clinical
professionals. In exchange for the R&D services provided to Pharma, X will receive a daily fee per person and
success-based milestone payments.

The activities to be performed may vary each day as X and Pharma work toward agreed-upon objectives in
connection with the phase Il clinical trials. While the activities may vary by day, they represent fulfillment
activities associated with providing the daily R&D services and do not represent separate promises in the
arrangement. Further, X has determined that such services are readily available in the marketplace and are
not cumulative because each day's research and corresponding results are not dependent on the prior day's
research; thus, each day of services does not build on activities that precede it, and each day of services and
the activities that precede it are not integrated, interdependent, or interrelated. That is, no day of services
significantly affects either X's ability to fulfill another day of services or the benefit to Pharma of another day of
services.

Entity X determines that Pharma is a customer within the context of providing the services and therefore
likewise concludes that the services are within the scope of ASC 606. In addition, X determines that the services
to be provided to Pharma meet the criteria in ASC 606-10-25-27(a) for recognition of revenue over time

since the services performed during each increment of time contribute to Pharma’s development of the drug
compound and thereby allow Pharma to simultaneously receive and consume the benefits provided by X's
performance as each task is performed.

Nature of the Promise

Entity X determines that the nature of its promise is to stand ready to provide daily R&D services as needed
during phase llI clinical trials. Accordingly, X must assess whether, for each increment of time, its promise of
standing ready to provide the R&D services (1) is distinct, (2) is substantially the same as its promise for each of
the other increments of time, and (3) has the same pattern of transfer to the customer as its promise for each
of the other increments of time.

Distinct

Pharma benefits from each day of services on its own since the services contribute to Pharma’s development
of the drug compound and are readily available in the marketplace. Consequently, X concludes that each
increment of services is capable of being distinct.

In addition, X determines that each increment of services is distinct within the context of the contract. This is
because each day of services (1) does not significantly modify or customize another day of services and (2) does
not significantly affect X's ability to fulfill another day of services or the benefit to Pharma of another day of
services since the R&D services are not cumulative, as noted above.

Substantially the Same

Entity X determines that for all of the increments of time during which R&D services are performed, its promise
of standing ready to perform those services is substantially the same. While the specific tasks or services
performed during each increment of time will vary, the nature of the overall promise to provide Pharma with
daily R&D services remains the same throughout the contract term.

Same Pattern of Transfer

Entity X determines that the services have the same pattern of transfer to Pharma because both criteria in ASC
606-10-25-15 are met. The criterion in ASC 606-10-25-15(a) is met because each distinct service meets the
criteria in ASC 606-10-25-27 to be a performance obligation satisfied over time since Pharma simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by X as X performs. The criterion in ASC 606-10-25-15(b) is met
because the same measure of progress (in this case, a time-based output method) would most likely be used
to measure the progress of X toward satisfying its promise to provide the daily R&D services.

Conclusion
On the basis of the above, X concludes that the R&D services are a series and accounts for them accordingly.
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A similar conclusion might be reached for outsourced selling services. For example, each day of selling
services may meet the criteria to be accounted for as a series for the following reasons:

» The selling services are distinct because:

o The customer can benefit from the sales force activities each day as the sales force promotes
and sells the pharmaceutical products.

o Each day (or increment) of selling services does not affect any other day (or increment)
of selling services. That is, each day's services may not be modified or customized by
another day's services, one day of services is not an input with another day of services that
results in a combined output, and the services performed on different days are not highly
interdependent or highly interrelated. That is, the entity providing the selling services can
satisfy its promise to transfer selling services each day separately from a subsequent day of
services.

» Allincrements (i.e., days) of the selling services are substantially the same (i.e., providing a
comprehensive selling service). The volume of services may vary as a result of factors such
as attrition of the sales representatives, the doctors’ offices visited, and the different selling
activities conducted each day, but the nature of the promise is the same each day and the
customer benefits from the services in the same manner each day.

* The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of having an outsourced sales

force selling its pharmaceutical products. That is, the customer benefits from each increment

of service (i.e., day, week, or month). In addition, if the contract were to be terminated, a third
party would not need to reperform the selling services already provided since the customer
would have already benefited from the sales that were made. As a result, each increment of
service is distinct and is satisfied over time, and the same method (time elapsed) would most
likely be used to measure the service provider's progress toward complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation to transfer each distinct service in the series to the customer.

2.4.7 Framework for Identifying Immaterial Promised Goods or Services

ASC 606-10-25-16A states, in part, that an entity “is not required to assess whether promised goods
or services are performance obligations if they are immaterial in the context of the contract with the
customer.” This guidance should not be applied to a customer option to acquire additional goods and
services that provides a customer with a material right in accordance with ASC 606-10-55-41 through
55-45.

ASC 606-10-25-16A and 25-16B provide the following guidance on immaterial promised goods or
services:

ASC 606-10

25-16A An entity is not required to assess whether promised goods or services are performance obligations if
they are immaterial in the context of the contract with the customer. If the revenue related to a performance
obligation that includes goods or services that are immaterial in the context of the contract is recognized
before those immaterial goods or services are transferred to the customer, then the related costs to transfer
those goods or services shall be accrued.

25-16B An entity shall not apply the guidance in paragraph 606-10-25-16A to a customer option to acquire
additional goods or services that provides the customer with a material right, in accordance with paragraphs
606-10-55-41 through 55-45.
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In light of the wording in ASC 606-10-25-16A and 25-16B, stakeholders have asked about the framework
an entity should use to identify a potential good or service that is immaterial in the context of the
contract. We believe that the following considerations are relevant to the assessment of whether a good
or service is immaterial in the context of the contract:

* An entity may conclude that a potential good or service is immaterial in the context of the
contract if the estimated stand-alone selling price of the potential good or service is immaterial
(quantitatively) compared with the total consideration in the contract (i.e., the amount that
would be allocated to such good or service is immaterial in the context of the contract).

* An entity may conclude that a potential good or service is immaterial in the context of the
contract if it determines that the customer does not consider the potential good or service
to be material to the contract (i.e., the entity would evaluate qualitative factors, including the
customer’s perspective, in determining whether a potential good or service is immaterial in the
context of the contract).

* An entity may conclude that a potential good or service is immaterial in the context of the
contract if it determines that the customer would have entered into the contract and paid the
same (or similar) consideration if the potential good or service was excluded from the contract.

For example, a medical device company might offer basic training or education services for equipment
that it sells to a hospital. The value of this type of service may be immaterial (quantitatively) compared
with the total consideration in the contract. Further, the basic training or education may not be a service
that the customer considers to be material to the contract.

In addition, we think that when an entity performs an assessment to identify immaterial promised
goods or services, it should also consider the guidance in ASC 606-10-25-16B on customer options (i.e.,
potential material rights) as well as the SEC staff's view of “material” as discussed in SAB Topic 1.M.

Connecting the Dots

@ As noted above, an entity should not apply the guidance in ASC 606-10-25-16A to a customer
option to acquire additional goods or services that provides the customer with a material right.
For example, a life sciences company may have a practice of providing customers with the
ability to purchase 12 weeks of treatment at list price with an option to purchase an additional
12 weeks of treatment at a significantly discounted price if it is determined that the patient is
benefiting from the treatment and additional treatment will be helpful. This type of discount
on future treatments based on the efficacy of a drug during the initial treatment period may
represent a material right. Similarly, arrangements that include the delivery of free drugs after a
contractually defined purchase volume has been achieved may include a material right. Options
that are deemed to represent material rights — and, therefore, a performance obligation —
would result in a deferral of revenue associated with that performance obligation, as discussed
below.

2.4.8 Customer Options for Additional Goods or Services (Material Rights)

An entity's contract with a customer may give the customer a choice of whether to purchase

additional goods or services; such a choice is typically referred to as an option for additional goods or
services. Entities are required to identify options for additional goods or services because in certain
circumstances, such options can lead to performance obligations. As explained in paragraph BC386 of
ASU 2014-09, the FASB and IASB realized that it could be difficult to differentiate between (1) an option
for additional goods or services that was paid for by the customer and (2) a marketing or promotional
offer for which the customer did not pay. The first type of option for additional goods or services would
be identified as a performance obligation to which consideration must be allocated in accordance with
step 4 of the revenue standard.
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To help entities determine whether an option for additional goods or services is a performance
obligation, the boards included the concept of a material right in the revenue standard. If an entity
determines that an option for additional goods and services is a material right, the option should be
considered a performance obligation. However, an entity will need to use judgment to determine
whether a material right exists.

A material right in a contract is provided to a customer only if the customer would not have received it
without entering into that contract. The guidance in the revenue standard describes an example of a
material right as an option that provides the customer an incremental discount beyond the discounts
that are typically given (considering the class of customer).

When an option is identified as providing a customer with a material right, the option is identified as a
performance obligation. A portion of the transaction price is then allocated to the option and recognized
when (or as) (1) the future goods or services related to the option are provided or (2) the option expires.

2.4.8.1 Determining Whether an Option for Additional Goods or Services
Represents a Material Right

In determining whether an option for future goods or services is a material right, an entity should

(1) consider factors outside the current transaction (e.g., the current class of customer) and (2) assess
both quantitative and qualitative factors. Further, an entity should also evaluate incentives and programs
to understand whether they are customer options designed to influence customer behavior (i.e., an
entity should consider incentives and programs from the customer’s perspective) because this could be
an indicator that an option is a material right.

When determining whether a contract option provides a material right, entities should consider not only
the quantitative significance of the option (i.e., the quantitative value of the benefit) but also previous
and future transactions with the customer as well as qualitative factors. Specifically, qualitative features
such as whether the rights accumulate are likely to provide a qualitative benefit that may give rise to

a material right. In accordance with ASC 606-10-25-16B, entities should not apply the guidance in ASC
606-10-25-16A on assessing whether promises for immaterial goods or services are performance
obligations to the assessment of whether a contract option provides a material right (i.e., an optional
good offered for free or at a discount may not be material for an individual contract but could be
material in the aggregate and accounted for as a material right).

An entity should consider its customer’s reasonable expectations when identifying promised goods

or services. A customer'’s perspective on what constitutes a material right might consider qualitative
factors (e.g., whether the right accumulates). Therefore, a numeric threshold alone might not determine
whether a material right is provided by a customer option in a contract.

See Examples 49 through 52 in ASC 606-10-55-336 through 55-356 for examples of how an entity would
determine whether an option provides a customer with a material right.

The above issue is addressed in Implementation Q&As 12 through 14 (compiled from previously issued
TRG Agenda Papers 6, 11, 54, and 55). For additional information and Deloitte’'s summary of issues
discussed in the Implementation Q&As, see Appendix C of Deloitte's Roadmap Revenue Recognition.
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2.4.8.2 Likelihood That an Option for Additional Goods or Services Will Be
Exercised

Stakeholders have raised various issues related to whether an entity should assess optional purchases
provided to customers to determine whether the customer is economically compelled — or highly likely —
to exercise its option(s).

Some business models include arrangements under which a vendor will sell an up-front good or service
and also provide the customer with an option to purchase other distinct goods or services in the future
that are related to the up-front good or service (e.g., a specialized piece of equipment, such as an infusion
pump, and an option to buy specialized consumables that will be needed for its operation, such as infusion
tubes used to deliver intravenous medications). Such arrangements may include features that result in a
degree of economic compulsion such that there is a very high level of confidence that the customer will
exercise its option (e.g., purchase infusion consumables in addition to purchasing the infusion pump).

In such circumstances, when it is highly probable, or even virtually certain, that the customer will
exercise its option, the additional goods or services should not be treated as performance obligations
under the contract. The treatment of customer options is explained in paragraph BC186 of ASU
2014-09, in which the FASB and IASB clarified that “the transaction price does not include estimates of
consideration from the future exercise of options for additional goods or services,” making no reference
to the probability that those options will be exercised.

Accordingly, irrespective of how likely it is that a customer will choose to purchase additional goods or
services, the entity should not treat those goods or services as performance obligations under the initial
contract. Instead, the entity should evaluate the customer option (in accordance with ASC 606-10-55-41
through 55-45) to determine whether it gives rise to a material right.

The above issue is addressed in Implementation Q&A 21 (compiled from previously issued TRG
Agenda Papers 48 and 49). For additional information and Deloitte’s summary of issues discussed in the
Implementation Q&As, see Appendix C of Deloitte’s Roadmap Revenue Recognition.

2.4.9 Medicare Coverage Gap Discounts

As a result of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, entities participating in Medicare Part D
must provide Medicare beneficiaries in the Medicare coverage gap (or “donut hole”) with a 50 percent
discount and annual increases to a maximum of 75 percent in their Medicare prescription drug
coverage. See Section 2.4.9.1 for a discussion of updates to the donut hole resulting from the IRA.

No accounting literature directly addresses the accounting for discounts offered to individuals in the
Medicare coverage gap. We believe that under ASC 606, either of the following two methods would be
an acceptable policy election:

» Specific identification approach — Under this approach, each individual patient purchase is a
separate contract and cannot be combined with future “expected” but optional purchases.
Accordingly, the consideration due and payable for each individual purchase is attributable
to that individual sale. Coverage gap subsidies are viewed as a form of variable consideration
attributable to individual sales of products to specific customers in accordance with ASC 606-10-
32-6. As a result, the estimate of variable consideration specific to each individual transaction
is recorded at the point of sale. In a manner similar to the accounting for any form of variable
consideration, an entity would estimate the variability (i.e., the occurrence or nonoccurrence of
a future coverage gap discount in accordance with ASC 606-10-32-8) and apply the constraint
guidance (ASC 606-10-32-11 and 32-12) before recognizing revenue when control of a
purchased pharmaceutical drug is transferred into the distribution channel.

54


https://www.fasb.org/page/showpdf?path=Rev_Rec_Implementation_QAs.pdf&title=Revenue%20Recognition%20Implementation%20Q&As%20(January%20...
https://fasb.org/page/showpdf?path=TRG_paper_48.pdf&title=Satellite
https://fasb.org/page/showpdf?path=TRG_paper_48.pdf&title=Satellite
https://fasb.org/page/showpdf?path=TRGRR_Memo_49__Nov_Meeting_Summary.pdf&title=April%2018,%202016%20-%20TRGRR%20Memo%20No.%2049%20November%202015%20Meeting%20Summary
https://dart.deloitte.com/USDART/home/codification/revenue/asc606-10/roadmap-revenue-recognition/appendix-c-summary-issues-addressed-in
https://dart.deloitte.com/USDART/home/publications/roadmap/revenue-recognition

Chapter 2 — Revenue Recognition

Material right approach — Coverage gap subsidies constitute a material right in accordance

with ASC 606-10-55-42. In effect, entities have entered into contractual arrangements with the
U.S. government on behalf of Medicare-eligible patients in which the entities offer significant
discounts on future purchases through the Medicare channel (i.e., all sales with Medicare-
eligible patients throughout the year are “linked”). Under this approach, entities allocate a
portion of the transaction price between current sales and the material right, which represents
the discount to be provided on future sales to any Medicare-eligible patient within the coverage
gap, and recognize the value of the material right in revenue when the coverage gap subsidies
are used. This approach is inappropriate if rebates are expected to be made early in the year (as
is the case for certain high-priced drugs) because it would be inappropriate to record a contract
asset for what otherwise represents optional purchases.

2.4.9.1 Drug Pricing Impacts of the Inflation Reduction Act

The IRA, which President Biden signed into law on August 16, 2022, includes the following provisions
related to pharmaceutical drug pricing:

Drug price negotiation — Selected drugs covered by Medicare Parts B and D will be subject to
mandatory price negotiations with Medicare beginning in 2026, with negotiated prices subject
to a cap. The number of drugs selected for negotiation will increase from 10 in 2026 to 20

in 2029 and subsequent years. The expenditure data used to determine the drugs selected
for negotiation will be related to the period from June 1, 2022, to May 31, 2023. The pricing
negotiation period began October 1, 2023.

Inflation rebate — Certain drugs covered by Medicare Parts B and D for which prices are rising
at a higher rate than that of inflation will become subject to rebates. Under Medicare Part B,
the rebate will first be due with respect to the first quarter of 2023. Under Medicare Part D,
the rebate will first be due with respect to the period from October 1, 2022, to September 30,
2023. The initial Medicare Parts B and D benchmark period, with the Consumer Price Index for
Urban Consumers (commonly known as CPI-U) used to calculate future inflation rebates, is as
of January 1, 2021. On February 9, 2023, the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services issued
initial guidance on rebatable drugs to the following:

o Pharmaceutical manufacturers of Part B rebatable drugs and other interested parties.
o Pharmaceutical manufacturers of Part D rebatable drugs and other interested parties.

Medicare Part D benefit redesign — The Medicare Part D coverage gap (i.e., donut hole) created
under the Medicare Modernization Act in 2003 will be eliminated, and as of January 1, 2025,
manufacturers will be subject to mandatory discounts on brand drugs in the initial coverage
and catastrophic coverage phases. In effect, the change will cap the out-of-pocket spending for
Medicare Part D costs at $2,000 per year starting in 2025. The change will be phased in starting
in 2024 by capping the out-of-pocket costs at approximately $3,250 in that year.

Implementation of this legislation is expected to be carried out through additional actions by regulatory
authorities.
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Connecting the Dots

With the exception of the Medicare Part D inflation rebate, many of the IRA's drug pricing
provisions will have staggered effective dates beyond 2022 (the year of the IRA’'s enactment).
Accordingly, life sciences entities should assess the potential financial statement impact of such
provisions and, to the extent material, consider disclosure of the anticipated current and future
impact on the results of operations, financial position, liquidity, and capital resources in MD&A.
For example, potential financial statement impacts may include those related to the following:

Inflation rebates — Inflation rebates represent a form of variable consideration that will
become payable if prices of certain drugs covered by Medicare Parts B and D are rising
at a higher rate than that of inflation (beginning in 2022 for Part D and 2023 for Part B).
Under the revenue standard, an entity must include some or all of an estimate of variable
consideration in the transaction price when the entity concludes that it is probable that
changes in its estimate of such consideration will not result in significant reversals of
cumulative revenue in subsequent periods.

Medicare Part D benefit redesign — The IRA includes a Medicare Part D benefit redesign
that, as of January 1, 2025, eliminates the requirement for entities participating in
Medicare Part D to provide Medicare beneficiaries in the Medicare coverage gap with a
discount in their Medicare prescription drug coverage. However, manufacturers will be
subject to mandatory discounts on brand drugs in the initial coverage and catastrophic
phases. Under this mandatory discount program, manufacturers generally must offer (1) a
10 percent discount when a beneficiary has satisfied the deductible and incurred costs
less than the out-of-pocket threshold and (2) a 20 percent discount when a beneficiary
has incurred costs greater than or equal to the out-of-pocket threshold. Because these
discounts will vary depending on the costs incurred by the beneficiary, we believe that the
specific identification approach and the material right approach methods described above
will continue to represent an accounting policy election that entities should consistently

apply.

Indirect impacts of the IRA on other estimates of variable consideration — Discounts

provided by manufacturers as a result of Medicare drug price negotiations may affect

the determination of other estimates of variable consideration. For example, because
Medicare prices affect the determination of “best price” used in Medicaid and 340B Drug
Pricing Program drug price calculations, estimates of variable consideration associated
with those programs may be affected. In addition, manufacturers of non-negotiated drugs
in classes with a negotiated Medicare price may need to increase rebates to remain on
formularies, which could affect an entity's estimates of variable consideration.

2.4.10 Shipping and Handling Activities

Shipping and handling activities are often provided by life sciences entities as part of a revenue
arrangement. When goods are shipped free on board (FOB) shipping point, title passes to the buyer
when the goods are shipped, and the buyer is responsible for any loss in transit. On the other hand,
when goods are shipped FOB destination, title does not pass to the buyer until delivery, and the seller is
responsible for any loss in transit.

It is important to understand the shipping terms of an arrangement to determine when control of the
good is transferred to the customer. This is because the shipping terms often trigger some of the key
control indicators (e.g., transfer of title and present right to payment). Therefore, a careful evaluation of
shipping terms is critical to the assessment of transfer of control.
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When control is determined to be transferred upon shipment, the seller should consider whether the
risk of loss or damage that it assumed during shipping gives rise to another performance obligation
(a distinct service-type obligation) that needs to be accounted for separately in accordance with the
revenue standard. For example, such risk may represent another performance obligation if goods are
frequently lost or damaged during shipping.

Further, entities should consider the practical expedient under U.S. GAAP (ASC 606-10-25-18B, added
by ASU 2016-10) that allows entities the option to treat shipping and handling activities that occur after
control of the good is transferred to the customer as fulfillment activities. Entities that elect to use this
practical expedient would not need to account for the shipping and handling as a separate performance
obligation. Instead, when the practical expedient is elected and revenue for the related good is
recognized before the shipping and handling activities occur, the entity should accrue the costs of the
shipping and handling activities at the time control of the related good is transferred to the customer
(i.e., at the time of sale).

Entities should also consider the guidance in ASC 606-10-25-18A, which explains that shipping and
handling activities performed before control of a product is transferred do not constitute a promised
service to the customer in the contract (i.e., they represent fulfillment costs).

2.5 Determine the Transaction Price (Step 3)

In step 3 of the revenue standard, an entity determines the “transaction price,” which, as stated in

ASC 606-10-32-2, represents “the amount of consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on
behalf of third parties (for example, some sales taxes). The consideration promised in a contract with a
customer may include fixed amounts, variable amounts, or both.” Because the transaction price is an
expected amount, estimates are inherently required. When determining the transaction price, an entity
is required under ASC 606-10-32-3 to “consider the effects of all of the following”:

* “Variable consideration.”

» “Constraining estimates of variable consideration.”

* The existence of a significant financing component in the contract.”
+ “Noncash consideration.”

» "“Consideration payable to a customer.”

The effects of these elements are particularly relevant to life sciences entities, as explained in the
sections below.

2.5.1 Variable Consideration

ASC 606-10-32-6 explains that variable consideration may arise “because of discounts, rebates, refunds,
credits, price concessions, incentives, performance bonuses, penalties, or other similar items” and that
the promised consideration can vary “if an entity's entitlement to the consideration is contingent on the
occurrence or nonoccurrence of a future event” (e.g., when “a product [is] sold with a right of return or a
fixed amount is promised as a performance bonus on achievement of a specified milestone”). In the life
sciences industry, common forms of variable consideration include returns, chargebacks, rebates, cash
and volume-based discounts, promotions, shelf stock adjustments, and other adjustments to revenue,
as well as royalties, development-based milestones, and sales-based milestones.
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2.5.1.1 Methods of Estimating Variable Consideration

Regardless of the form of variability or its complexity, once variable consideration is identified, an entity
is required under ASC 606-10-32-8 to estimate the amount of variable consideration to determine the
transaction price in a contract with a customer by using either the “expected value” method or the “most
likely amount” method, “depending on which method the entity expects to better predict the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled.” As ASC 606-10-32-8 explains, the expected value is “the sum
of probability-weighted amounts in a range of possible consideration amounts. An expected value may
be an appropriate estimate of the amount of variable consideration if an entity has a large number of
contracts with similar characteristics.” ASC 606-10-32-8 further states that the most likely amount is “the
single most likely amount in a range of possible consideration amounts (that is, the single most likely
outcome of the contract).”

In the life sciences industry, it may be appropriate for an entity to estimate development-based
milestones by using the most likely amount method since the achievement of a milestone has only
two possible outcomes (an entity either achieves the milestone or does not achieve it). Other forms of
variable consideration may be estimated under the expected value method. For example, estimates of
returns under the expected value method may take into account factors such as the following:

* The period in which returns can occur.
» Experiences with products (or the inability to apply such experiences to current products).

» Availability of information about product levels and the age of the product in the distribution
channel.

» Predictability of market conditions and competition (e.g., competitive entry of a similar or generic
product).

* The current stage in the product life cycle (i.e., initial product launch vs. end/maturity of product
life).

» Historical, current, and projected demand.

In addition to the factors listed above, the following factors may be relevant to the development of
estimates of variable consideration in the form of chargebacks and rebates under the expected value
method:

* The existence of product-specific historical information about chargebacks and rebates.

* The availability and specificity of customer-specific pricing information (including contractual
arrangements with retailers, insurance providers, or governmental agencies).

» Information about the specific retailer and consumer product sales mix (to understand which
customer pricing arrangement is applicable).

* The availability and specificity of customer inventory levels.

In applying the expected value method to these types of estimates, life sciences entities are not
necessarily expected to develop complex modeling technigques to identify all possible outcomes of
variable consideration. Although we think that it is appropriate for an entity to be pragmatic in deriving
an estimate by using one of the required methods, we do not think that it is appropriate to use a
method described as management's best estimate as either the most likely amount or the expected
value of variable consideration. Consequently, we would encourage an entity to document the basis for
any conclusion that its approach aligns with the estimation methods of ASC 606.
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2.5.1.2 Price Protection Arrangements

Life sciences entities sometimes enter into price protection arrangements, under which wholesalers are
reimbursed for any difference between the current sales price and the lowest price offered during a
specified subsequent period (e.g., one year,).

Under the revenue standard, an entity must include some or all of an estimate of variable (or contingent)
consideration in the transaction price (which is the amount to be allocated to each performance
obligation and recognized as revenue) when the entity concludes that it is probable that changes

in its estimate of such consideration will not result in significant reversals of cumulative revenue in
subsequent periods. In price protection arrangements, the transaction price would therefore include

an estimate of expected price protection determined under either the expected value method or the
most likely amount method (i.e., whichever method the entity expects to better predict the amount of
consideration to which it will be entitled), with revenue recognized when control is transferred to the
distributor.

Connecting the Dots

@ Instead of providing a retroactive discount, price protection arrangements may be structured to
provide a discount on future purchases if a life sciences company sells its products to another
customer at a lower price during a specified subsequent period. In these circumstances, the
entity should consider whether the price protection arrangement conveys a material right to
buy products at a lower price in the future. If a material right is determined to exist, this would
represent a separate performance obligation to which a portion of the transaction price would
need to be allocated. If a material right does not exist (e.g., because the discount applies only to
future purchases and is not based on the volume of past purchases), there would be no impact
on current sales, and future sales would be recognized at the discounted prices.

2.5.1.3 Price Appreciation Rights

In contrast to price protection arrangements created to benefit the customer for subsequently reduced
prices, life sciences entities may have price appreciation clauses in contracts with customers that are
created to benefit the entity. Price appreciation clauses may allow the entity to charge the customer for
any increases that the entity may make during the year (e.g., as the difference between the old and new
wholesale acquisition costs for the product multiplied by the number of units of the product still held by
the customer in inventory). An entity should assess whether the potential price appreciation in contracts
with such clauses should be accounted for as variable consideration to be included as an estimate in the
transaction price or whether the price appreciation should be treated as a contract modification when
the price change occurs under ASC 606-10-25-10 through 25-13.

In arrangements with price appreciation rights, the transaction price would include an estimate of
expected price appreciation to the extent that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount

of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty about whether a price increase
will occur is subsequently resolved. In these circumstances, a life sciences entity will need to consider

its past business practices of raising prices and its intentions with respect to such increases. For any
such estimates that are included in the transaction price, a life sciences entity will need to estimate the
amount of inventory that the customer will have on hand at the time of the price increase, as well as any
resulting “gross-to-net” deductions (e.g., chargebacks, rebates, returns, and other similar adjustments)
that will increase as a result of the increase in the wholesale acquisition cost.
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2.5.1.4 New Product Launches With a Right of Return

Under the revenue standard, the uncertainty associated with whether a product may be returned is
treated, for measurement purposes, consistently with the uncertainty associated with other variable
consideration. That is, under ASC 606-10-55-25:

An entity should . . . determine the amount of consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled (that

is, excluding the products expected to be returned). For any amounts received (or receivable) for which an
entity does not expect to be entitled, the entity should not recognize revenue when it transfers products to
customers but should recognize those amounts received (or receivable) as a refund liability. Subsequently, at
the end of each reporting period, the entity should update its assessment of amounts for which it expects to
be entitled in exchange for the transferred products and make a corresponding change to the transaction price
and, therefore, in the amount of revenue recognized.

The amount of historical information and evidence needed to support the estimates and assumptions
regarding returns can vary depending on whether the product was (1) a modification of an existing
product, (2) similar to other products in the market (i.e., an “analog”), or (3) a completely new product.
Obtaining sufficient evidence for new products may be difficult when the company does not have a
relevant history for an analog or a clear competitive advantage that allows for more predictable sales.
When using an analog to aid in the estimation of returns, life sciences entities are encouraged to
document the basis for their conclusions that the analog is similar to the product being sold. Typically,
this documentation should reflect that the analog is part of a similar therapeutic class, provides a similar
mechanism of treatment, and targets similar customers and markets.

2.5.1.5 Pay-for-Performance Arrangements

Pay-for-performance arrangements are becoming increasingly more common in the life sciences
industry. Pay for performance in health care gives financial incentives to clinicians for better health
outcomes. Clinical outcomes, such as longer survival, can be difficult to measure, so pay-for-
performance systems usually measure process outcomes. Also known as “value-based purchasing,”

this payment model rewards physicians, hospitals, medical groups, and other health care providers for
meeting certain performance measures for quality and efficiency. It provides a disincentive to caregivers
for poor outcomes, medical errors, or increased costs.

Under the revenue standard, pay-for-performance arrangements represent another form of variable
consideration. In a manner similar to the accounting in the examples above, a life sciences entity with
these types of arrangements must include some or all of an estimate of variable consideration in the
transaction price when the entity concludes that it is probable that changes in its estimate of such
consideration will not result in significant reversals of cumulative revenue in subsequent periods.

2.5.1.6 Retroactive Payback Provisions

In certain countries, companies are required to pay rebates to the country's government health

care system if domestic industry sales exceed specified thresholds in a given year. If the threshold is
exceeded, the portion of the payback allocated to an individual company is based on that company’s
current market share (or sales) in relation to the industry as a whole.

Under the revenue standard, an entity would account for the retroactive payback provision as a
retroactive rebate (i.e., variable consideration) and possibly use the expected value method to estimate
it, subject to the constraint.
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2.5.1.7 Volume-Based Rebates

A life sciences entity may offer its customers rebates or discounts on the pricing of products or
services once specific volume thresholds have been met. That is, an entity may either retrospectively or
prospectively adjust the price of its goods or services once a certain volume threshold has been met.

A volume rebate or discount that is retrospectively applied should be accounted for under the
revenue standard as variable consideration (rather than as a customer option to be evaluated as a
potential material right). In accordance with ASC 606-10-32-6, which specifically includes discounts and
rebates as a form of variable consideration, the “promised consideration also can vary if an entity's
entitlement to the consideration is contingent on the occurrence or nonoccurrence of a future
event’ (emphasis added).

However, an offer to prospectively lower the price per unit (once certain volume thresholds are met)
should not be accounted for as variable consideration. Rather, when a volume rebate or discount is
applied prospectively, an entity will need to evaluate the facts and circumstances of each contract
to determine whether the rebate or discount represents a material right and therefore should be
accounted for as a performance obligation. As part of this evaluation, entities would consider whether
the offer to the customer is at a price that would reflect the stand-alone selling price for that good or
service, in accordance with ASC 606-10-55-43.

2.5.1.8 Discounts Provided to Group Purchasing Organizations

Life sciences companies frequently enter into agreements with group purchasing organizations (GPOs)
to provide discounts to hospitals that are affiliated with the GPOs. Distributors of the life sciences
companies’ products then request reimbursement of the discounts provided to the life sciences
companies’ hospital customers.

In accordance with the revenue standard, a life sciences company should treat these discounts as
variable consideration and possibly use the expected value method to estimate the discounts, subject to
the constraint.

In addition to providing these discounts, life sciences companies frequently pay administrative fees

to GPOs to fund the expenses of GPO members. To determine the appropriate classification of these
administrative fees as a reduction of revenue or as an increase to operating expense, a life sciences
company should consider the relationships between the vendor, the GPO, and the GPO member to
determine whether the GPO is a customer. For example, the company might consider the GPO to be a
customer if the GPO is a related party of the GPO member or if there is a mechanism to pass through
the administrative fee from the GPO to the GPO member. In those situations, the company may be
required to reflect the fee as a reduction of revenue.

Connecting the Dots

@ Similar questions related to income statement classification may arise regarding payments
made by life sciences companies to not-for-profit entities (NFPs) or other organizations that fund
copay assistance programs to defray the cost of high-priced drugs. Specifically, there may be
questions about whether these payments represent consideration paid to an indirect customer
(e.g., because the contribution funds are ultimately used by patients to purchase the company’s
products). While these payments may have been classified in expense under legacy guidance,
life sciences companies are encouraged to evaluate their facts and circumstances to determine
whether these payments represent a form of variable consideration under the revenue standard.
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In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-08, which clarifies the scope and accounting guidance
for contributions received and contributions made. Specifically, the ASU indicates that its
amendments are intended, in part, to help entities evaluate “whether transactions should be
accounted for as contributions (nonreciprocal transactions) within the scope of [ASC 958] or
as exchange (reciprocal) transactions subject to other guidance,” such as ASC 606. The ASU
explains that while the issues it aims to address have been long-standing, “the amendments in
[ASU 2014-09] place an increased focus on the issues because those amendments add new
disclosure requirements and eliminate certain limited exchange transaction guidance that was
previously contained in [ASC] 958-605."

2.5.1.9 Contingent Development-Based Milestone Payments

Life sciences entities often perform R&D activities in exchange for fixed consideration and milestone

or bonus payments if predetermined objectives are achieved. For example, a CRO may enter into an
agreement with a pharmaceutical company to perform a clinical trial in exchange for fixed consideration
plus a milestone payment if it screens a specified number of patients for enrollment in the clinical trial
within a specified period.

In accordance with the revenue standard, a life sciences company should consider contingent
development-based milestone payments as variable consideration. It may be appropriate to estimate
the milestone payments by using the most likely amount method since a milestone has only two
possible outcomes (the entity either achieves the milestone or does not achieve it).

In the fact pattern described above, the CRO may consider its experience in screening patients for
enrollment for similar types of trials for other pharmaceutical companies when determining whether to
include the milestone payment in its estimate of the transaction price.

See Section 2.10.5 for discussion of the accounting for sales-based milestone payments.

2.5.2 Constraining Estimates of Variable Consideration

Since revenue is one of the most important metrics to users of financial statements, the FASB and IASB
and their constituents agreed that estimates of variable consideration are useful only to the extent that
an entity is confident that the revenue recognized as a result of those estimates will not be subsequently
reversed. Accordingly, as noted in paragraph BC203 of ASU 2014-09, the boards acknowledged that
some estimates of variable consideration should not be included in the transaction price if the inherent
uncertainty could prevent a faithful depiction of the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for delivering goods or services. Thus, the focus of the boards' deliberations on a
mechanism to improve the usefulness of estimates in revenue as a predictor of future performance was
to limit subsequent downward adjustments in revenue (i.e., reversals of revenue recognized). The result
of those deliberations is what is commonly referred to as the “constraint.”

ASC 606-10-32-11 and 32-12 describe the constraint and provide guidance on how it should be applied.

ASC 606-10

32-11 An entity shall include in the transaction price some or all of an amount of variable consideration
estimated in accordance with paragraph 606-10-32-8 only to the extent that it is probable that a significant
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the uncertainty associated with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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ASC 606-10 (continued)

32-12 In assessing whether it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognized will not occur once the uncertainty related to the variable consideration is subsequently resolved,
an entity shall consider both the likelihood and the magnitude of the revenue reversal. Factors that could
increase the likelihood or the magnitude of a revenue reversal include, but are not limited to, any of the
following:

a. The amount of consideration is highly susceptible to factors outside the entity's influence. Those factors
may include volatility in a market, the judgment or actions of third parties, weather conditions, and a
high risk of obsolescence of the promised good or service.

b. The uncertainty about the amount of consideration is not expected to be resolved for a long period of
time.

c. The entity's experience (or other evidence) with similar types of contracts is limited, or that experience
(or other evidence) has limited predictive value.

d. The entity has a practice of either offering a broad range of price concessions or changing the payment
terms and conditions of similar contracts in similar circumstances.

e. The contract has a large number and broad range of possible consideration amounts.

Importantly, the constraint does not apply to sales- or usage-based royalties derived from the licensing
of IP; rather, consideration from such royalties is only recognized as revenue at the later of when the
performance obligation is satisfied or when the uncertainty is resolved (e.g., when subsequent sales or
usage occurs). See Section 2.10 for additional discussion.

Inherent in ASC 606-10-32-12 are three key aspects of the assessment necessary for an entity to
determine whether an estimate of variable consideration in a contract with a customer should be
constrained in an entity's transaction price:

* The likelihood of a reversal in the cumulative amount of revenue recognized (i.e., a qualitative
aspect).

* The magnitude (or significance) of the potential reversal in the cumulative amount of revenue
recognized (i.e., a quantitative aspect).

» The threshold that triggers a constrained estimate (i.e., the use of “probable”).

The determination of whether to constrain estimates of variable consideration may require significant
judgment depending on the nature of the revenue stream being estimated. For example, it may be
unnecessary for an entity to constrain revenue on the sale of established pharmaceutical products to
wholesalers for the following reasons:

» Variable consideration (e.g., rebates, discounts) may not be highly susceptible to factors outside
the entity's influence (e.g., volatility in a market, the judgment or actions of third parties, a high
risk of obsolescence).

* The uncertainty about the amount of consideration may be resolved in a shorter period.

* The entity may have significant experience with similar types of contracts or with contracts that
have predictive value.

» The range of price concessions is narrow.
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In contrast, it may be necessary to constrain a significant portion of revenue on the sale of IPR&D,

a nonfinancial asset, in exchange for future development milestones and royalties and sales-based
milestones since the likelihood of reversal in the cumulative amount of revenue recognized could be
high and the magnitude of the potential reversal could be significant. The uncertainty associated with
revenue related to such a transaction arises from a number of factors:

» Before regulatory approval, uncertainty may arise from potential delays with clinical trials,
success of competitor trials, or an inability to obtain regulatory approvals.

» After regulatory approval, uncertainty may arise from product safety concerns, manufacturing
issues, potential product recalls, the introduction of competitor products, or possible sales and
distribution channel issues.

* Both before and after regulatory approval, the amount of consideration to be received may be
highly susceptible to factors outside the entity's influence because success is predicated on the
efforts of the party to which the IPR&D was sold.

Although the guidance on constraining estimates of variable consideration is intended to avoid
significant downward adjustments in revenue after it has been recognized, we generally do not think
that it would be appropriate to constrain 100 percent of an estimate of variable consideration. That is,
we do not think that the factors in ASC 606-10-32-12 could be so significant that an estimate of variable
consideration should be entirely constrained from the transaction price. This concept is different from a
$0 estimate of variable consideration. A 100 percent constraint on an estimate of variable consideration
that is not $0, however, would generally go against the measurement principle of ASC 606, which is to
include in the transaction price the amount to which an entity expects to be entitled for its performance
so that the entity can provide financial statement users a better prediction of future revenues.

While the above is a general interpretation, there are exceptions in the revenue standard that may
allow for a 100 percent constraint on an estimate of variable consideration. Example 25 in ASC
606-10-55 discusses an exception in which market-based factors are a significant driver of variability in
the transaction price. Also, in paragraph BC415 of ASU 2014-09, the boards discuss their rationale for
providing an exception for sales- or usage-based royalties in a license of IP.

Connecting the Dots

@ Milestone payments that are due upon regulatory approval are inherently based on factors
outside the entity's control. As a result, life sciences companies that use a most likely method to
estimate variable consideration may conclude that the variable consideration associated with a
regulatory approval milestone is $0 before regulatory approval. However, there may be certain
cases in which a milestone earned upon regulatory approval becomes probable before the
approval date. For example, when an authorized generic of an existing branded drug is under
FDA review, an entity may determine before the actual approval date that approval is likely to
occur. Contrast that with a new drug compound for which there is no competitor on the market.
In this case, it may be more difficult to assert probability in advance of the actual approval date.

2.5.3 Subsequent Changes in the Transaction Price

It is common for a life sciences entity to enter into a contract with a customer that entitles the life
sciences entity to variable consideration in the event that the customer receives regulatory approval as
a result of the R&D activities performed by the life sciences entity. Because the variable consideration
is contingent on the customer’s receipt of regulatory approval, the life sciences entity is required to
estimate the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price. The life sciences
entity may conclude that such variable consideration should be constrained until regulatory approval is
obtained.
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In certain circumstances, the uncertainty related to variable consideration may be resolved shortly

after the end of the reporting period. When additional information (e.g., regulatory approval notification
or denial) is received after the end of the reporting period and before the date on which the financial
statements are issued or are available to be issued, an entity should refer to the guidance in ASC 855 on
accounting for subsequent events. Paragraph BC228 of ASU 2014-09 states the following:

The Boards noted that in some cases, an entity might make an estimate of the amount of variable consideration
to include in the transaction price at the end of a reporting period. However, information relating to the variable
consideration might arise between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial statements
are authorized for issue. The Boards decided not to provide guidance on the accounting in these situations
because they noted that the accounting for subsequent events is already addressed in Topic 855, Subsequent
Events, and IAS 10, Events after the Reporting Period.

ASC 855 distinguishes between recognized subsequent events (ASC 855-10-25-1) and nonrecognized
subsequent events (ASC 855-10-25-3) as follows:

ASC 855-10

25-1 An entity shall recognize in the financial statements the effects of all subsequent events that provide
additional evidence about conditions that existed at the date of the balance sheet, including the estimates
inherent in the process of preparing financial statements. See paragraph 855-10-55-1 for examples of
recognized subsequent events.

25-3 An entity shall not recognize subsequent events that provide evidence about conditions that did not exist
at the date of the balance sheet but arose after the balance sheet date but before financial statements are
issued or are available to be issued. See paragraph 855-10-55-2 for examples of nonrecognized subsequent
events.

However, ASC 855 does not provide direct guidance on how to account for additional information
about regulatory approval or denial that is received after the end of the reporting period and before
the date on which the financial statements are issued or are available to be issued. We believe that the
conclusion to account for information received regarding the regulatory approval process as either a
recognized or a nonrecognized subsequent event will be based on the facts and circumstances and
may require significant judgment. Accordingly, entities are encouraged to consult with their accounting
advisers.

2.5.4 Significant Financing Components

In certain contracts with customers, one party may provide a service of financing (either explicitly or
implicitly) to the other. Such contracts effectively contain two transactions: one for the delivery of the
good or service and another for the benefit of financing (i.e., what is in substance a loan payable or loan
receivable). The FASB and IASB decided that an entity should account for both transactions included in a
contract with a customer when the benefit of the financing provided is significant.

ASC 606-10

32-15 In determining the transaction price, an entity shall adjust the promised amount of consideration for
the effects of the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed to by the parties to the contract (either
explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the entity with a significant benefit of financing the transfer

of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a significant financing
component. A significant financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing is
explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.
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In determining the transaction price, an entity adjusts the promised amount of consideration to
determine the cash selling price of the good or service to be delivered and reflect the time value of
money if the contract has a significant financing component. The direction of the financing component
(i.e., whether financing is provided to the entity through an advance payment or to the customer
through payments in arrears) is irrelevant to the assessment, and as a result of the adjustment to the
transaction price, the entity could recognize interest expense or interest income.

However, ASC 606-10-32-18 provides a practical expedient under which an entity does not need to
adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component “if the
entity expects, at contract inception, that the period between when the entity transfers a promised good
or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or less.”

Life sciences entities often receive advance payments for services. For example, payments are often
required by CROs in advance of performing clinical trials, or by third-party manufacturers to secure
manufacturing capacity.

Entities must use judgment in determining whether a significant financing component exists. However,
ASC 606-10-32-17 notes that a contract with a customer would not have a significant financing
component if certain factors exist. The table below describes the factors of greatest relevance to life
sciences entities and examples of arrangements in which these factors may apply.

Factor (ASC 606-10-32-17)

“A substantial amount of the consideration promised
by the customer is variable, and the amount or
timing of that consideration varies on the basis of the
occurrence or nonoccurrence of a future event that is
not substantially within the control of the customer or
the entity.”

“The difference between the promised consideration
and the cash selling price of the good or service (as
described in paragraph 606-10-32-16) arises for
reasons other than the provision of finance to either
the customer or the entity, and the difference between

Example

Royalty arrangements, in which variability is provided
to confirm the value of goods delivered.

Customer withholds consideration until the
achievement of a certain milestone and to protect
against nonperformance.

Customer is required to pay up front to secure supply

those amounts is proportional to the reason for the of a good.

difference. For example, the payment terms might
provide the entity or the customer with protection
from the other party failing to adequately complete
some or all of its obligations under the contract.”

2.5.5 Noncash Consideration

When providing goods or services, an entity may receive noncash consideration from its customers
(e.g., goods, services, shares of stock). It is not uncommon for companies in the life sciences industry
to enter into revenue transactions with customers that involve receiving products from the customer
as consideration (e.g., supplies). Step 3 requires entities to include the fair value of the noncash
consideration in the transaction price. Paragraph BC248 of ASU 2014-09 states the FASB's and IASB's
rationale for this requirement: “When an entity receives cash from a customer in exchange for a good
or service, the transaction price and, therefore, the amount of revenue should be the amount of cash
received (that is, the value of the inbound asset). To be consistent with that approach, the Boards
decided that an entity should measure noncash consideration at fair value.” Further, in issuing ASU
2014-09 and IFRS 15, the boards included guidance stating that changes in the fair value of noncash
consideration for reasons other than its form would be subject to the variable consideration constraint
in ASC 606-10-32-11 through 32-13 (paragraphs 56 through 58 of IFRS 15).
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ASC 606-10-32-21 and 32-22 require an entity to first look to measure the estimated fair value of the
noncash consideration at contract inception and then consider the stand-alone selling price of the
goods or services promised to the customer only when the entity is unable to reasonably estimate the
fair value of the noncash consideration.

2.5.6 Consideration Payable to a Customer

ASC 606-10-32-25 through 32-27 establish requirements related to consideration payable to a
customer. Consideration payable to a customer includes cash amounts' that an entity pays, or expects
to pay, to the customer (or to other parties that purchase the entity's goods or services from the
customer). An entity should account for consideration payable to a customer as a reduction of the
transaction price and, therefore, of revenue unless the payment to the customer is in exchange for a
distinct good or service (typically resulting in the recognition of an asset or expense).

ASC 606-10-32-25 establishes that consideration payable to a customer includes equity instruments
granted in conjunction with the sale of goods or services. In addition, ASC 718-10-15-5A provides that
“[i]f share-based payment awards are granted to a customer as payment for a distinct good or service
from the customer, then an entity shall apply the guidance in paragraph 606-10-32-26." Under ASC
606-10-32-26, if the payment to the customer is in exchange for a distinct good or service that the
customer transfers to the entity, the entity should “account for the purchase of the good or service in
the same way that it accounts for other purchases from suppliers.”

For share-based payments issued as consideration payable to a customer in accordance with ASC 606
(i.e., share-based consideration payable to a customer that is not in exchange for distinct goods or
services), entities must measure and classify share-based sales incentives by applying the guidance in
ASC 718. Accordingly, entities should measure share-based sales incentives by using a fair-value-based
measure on the grant date, which would be the date on which the grantor (the entity) and the grantee
(the customer) reach a mutual understanding of the key terms and conditions of the share-based
sales incentive. The resulting measurement of the share-based sales incentive should be reflected

as a reduction of revenue in accordance with the guidance in ASC 606 on consideration payable to a
customer. After initial recognition, the measurement and classification of the share-based sales incentive
continues to be subject to ASC 718 unless (1) the award is subsequently modified when vested and

(2) the grantee is no longer a customer.

2.5.6.1 Identifying Payments Within the Scope of the Requirements Related to
Consideration Payable to a Customer

In accordance with ASC 606-10-32-25, consideration payable to a customer includes the following:

a. Cash amounts that an entity pays, or expects to pay, to the customer (or to other parties that purchase
the entity's goods or services from the customer)

b. Credit or other items (for example, a coupon or voucher) that can be applied against amounts owed to
the entity (or to other parties that purchase the entity's goods or services from the customer)

¢.  Equity instruments (liability or equity classified) granted in conjunction with selling goods or services (for
example, shares, share options, or other equity instruments).

An entity should account for consideration payable to a customer as a reduction of the transaction price
and, therefore, of revenue unless the payment to the customer is in exchange for a distinct good or
service (typically resulting in the recognition of an asset or expense).

' For alist of additional items included in consideration payable to a customer under ASC 606-10-32-25, see Section 2.5.6.1.
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An entity should assess the following payments to customers under ASC 606-10-32-25 to determine
whether they are in exchange for a distinct good or service:

» Payments to customers that result from a contractual obligation (either implicitly or explicitly).

» Payments made on behalf of customers that are considered in-substance price concessions
because the customer has a reasonable expectation of such payments (either implicitly or
explicitly).

» Purchases made on behalf of customers in lieu of making cash payments to those customers.

+ Payments to customers that can be economically linked to revenue contracts with those
customers.

While an entity is not required to separately assess and document each payment made to a customer,
an entity should not disregard payments that extend beyond the context of a specific revenue contract
with a customer. Rather, an entity should use reasonable judgment when determining how broadly to
apply the guidance on consideration payable to a customer to determine whether the consideration
provided to the customer is in exchange for a distinct good or service (and is therefore an asset or
expense) or is not in exchange for a distinct good or service (and is therefore a reduction of revenue).

Payments made to third parties on behalf of customers can come in many forms and may not
necessarily be incentives paid to a customer’s customer to be deemed consideration payable to a
customer. In determining whether a payment made to a third party is on behalf of a customer, the entity
making the payment should consider whether it receives a distinct good or service from the third party.
Further, in determining whether a payment made to a third party is on behalf of a customer, the entity
making the payment might consider whether it is acting as a principal or as an agent when the customer
receives the good or service provided by the third party. For example, if an entity (1) sells a service to a
customer, (2) pays a third party for a distinct good that is provided to the customer for free, and (3) is
the principal in providing that good to the customer because it obtains control over that good before
the good is transferred to the customer, the entity may determine that the payment made to the third
party should be reflected as cost of sales. In this circumstance, the good provided to the customer may
be considered a separate performance obligation in the entity's revenue contract with the customer. By
contrast, if the entity is an agent in facilitating the provision of the good to the customer, the payment
made to the third party could be deemed consideration payable to a customer because the payment is
being made on behalf of the customer.

2.5.6.2 Presentation of Consideration Payable to a Customer

When an entity enters into an agreement to sell products to a customer, the transaction with the
customer may also involve the customer’s supplying goods or services to the entity. The contract may be
structured in such a way that the consideration payable by the entity to the customer for those goods
or services is separately identified. Alternatively, the contract may be structured in such a way that it
includes a single amount payable by the customer to the entity that reflects the net of the value of the
goods or services provided by the entity to the customer and by the customer to the entity. When the
fair value of the goods or services can be reasonably estimated, the accounting outcome should be the
same in either circumstance.
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The goods or services supplied by the customer should be accounted for separately if both of the
following conditions are met:

» Those goods or services are “distinct.”

» The entity can reasonably estimate the fair value of the goods or services that it will receive
(which may not correspond to any amount specified in the contract for those goods or services).

If both of these conditions are met, the fair value of the goods or services received from the customer
should be accounted for in the same way the entity accounts for other purchases from suppliers (e.g.,
as an expense or asset). If any consideration payable to the customer with respect to those goods or
services exceeds their fair value, the excess should be accounted for as a reduction of the transaction
price.

If either or both of these conditions are not met, any consideration payable to the customer with respect
to those goods or services should be accounted for as a reduction of the transaction price.

The examples below illustrate the application of this guidance.

Example 2-9

An entity sells goods to a customer for $10,000 and, as part of the same arrangement, pays that customer
$1,000 to provide a service. If the service is determined to be distinct and its fair value can be reasonably
estimated (as being, for example, $600), a portion of the contractually stated amount will be recognized as a
reduction of the transaction price for the sale of goods to $9,600 ($10,000 minus the $400 payment made to
the customer in excess of the fair value of the service received).

Example 2-10

An entity sells goods to a customer for $10,000 and, as part of the same arrangement, pays that customer
$1,000 to provide a service. If the service is not determined to be distinct or its fair value cannot be reasonably
estimated, the transaction price for the sale of goods will be reduced to $9,000 ($10,000 minus the full amount
payable to the customer).

The requirements above apply irrespective of whether the consideration related to the goods or
services supplied by the customer is separately identified in the contract. If the contract is net settled
(i.e., the customer is required to pay cash and provide distinct goods or services as payment for the
goods or services provided by the entity to the customer, and the entity does not make a cash payment
to the customer for the distinct goods or services provided by the customer), the noncash consideration
guidance would apply.

Connecting the Dots

@ Questions related to income statement classification may arise about payments made by
a pharmaceutical manufacturer and a wholesaler in accordance with a distribution service
agreement. Under such an agreement, the wholesaler performs certain distribution and logistics
services for the manufacturer, such as providing the manufacturer with periodic reports of
inventory on hand and inventory sold through to the wholesaler's customers during the period,
in exchange for inventory management fees. Although described as fees for specific services
outlined in the agreement, such costs are typically classified as a reduction of revenue by the
manufacturer because the fee paid to the wholesaler is not in exchange for distinct goods or
services transferred to the manufacturer.
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2.5.7 Applying the Guidance on Consideration Received From a Vendor

ASC 705-20 is a Codification subtopic that ASU 2014-09 added to provide specific guidance on
consideration received from a vendor.

ASC 705-20

25-1 Consideration from a vendor includes cash amounts that an entity receives or expects to receive from a
vendor (or from other parties that sell the goods or services to the vendor). Consideration from a vendor also
includes credit or other items (for example, a coupon or voucher) that the entity can apply against amounts
owed to the vendor (or to other parties that sell the goods or services to the vendor). The entity shall account
for consideration from a vendor as a reduction of the purchase price of the goods or services acquired from
the vendor unless the consideration from the vendor is one of the following:

a. Inexchange for a distinct good or service (as described in paragraphs 606-10-25-19 through 25-22) that
the entity transfers to the vendor

b. Areimbursement of costs incurred by the entity to sell the vendor’s products
c. Consideration for sales incentives offered to customers by manufacturers.

25-2 [f the consideration from a vendor is in exchange for a distinct good or service (see paragraphs 606-10-
25-19 through 25-22) that an entity transfers to the vendor, then the entity shall account for the sale of the
good or service in the same way that it accounts for other sales to customers in accordance with Topic 606
on revenue from contracts with customers. If the amount of consideration from the vendor exceeds the
standalone selling price of the distinct good or service that the entity transfers to the vendor, then the entity
shall account for such excess as a reduction of the purchase price of any goods or services acquired from the
vendor. If the standalone selling price is not directly observable, the entity shall estimate it in accordance with
paragraphs 606-10-32-33 through 32-35.

25-3 Cash consideration represents a reimbursement of costs incurred by the entity to sell the vendor's
products and shall be characterized as a reduction of that cost when recognized in the entity’'s income
statement if the cash consideration represents a reimbursement of a specific, incremental, identifiable cost
incurred by the entity in selling the vendor's products or services. If the amount of cash consideration paid
by the vendor exceeds the cost being reimbursed, that excess amount shall be characterized in the entity's
income statement as a reduction of cost of sales when recognized in the entity’s income statement.

25-4 Manufacturers often sell their products to resellers who then sell those products to consumers or other
end users. In some cases, manufacturers will offer sales discounts and incentives directly to consumers —

for example, rebates or coupons — in order to stimulate consumer demand for their products. Because

the reseller has direct contact with the consumer, the reseller may agree to accept, at the point of sale to

the consumer, the manufacturer’s incentives that are tendered by the consumer (for example, honoring
manufacturer’s coupons as a reduction to the price paid by consumers and then seeking reimbursement from
the manufacturer). In other instances, the consumer purchases the product from the reseller but deals directly
with the manufacturer related to the manufacturer’s incentive or discount (for example, a mail-in rebate).

The recognition guidance in ASC 705-20-25 on consideration received from a vendor has certain
conceptual similarities to the measurement guidance in ASC 606-10-32 on consideration payable to a
customer.

ASC 606-10-32-25 states that an “entity shall account for consideration payable to a customer as a
reduction of the transaction price and, therefore, of revenue unless the payment to the customer is
in exchange for a distinct good or service (as described in paragraphs 606-10-25-18 through 25-22)
that the customer transfers to the entity” (emphasis added). Under ASC 606-10-32-26, “[i]f consideration
payable to a customer is a payment for a distinct good or service from the customer, then an entity
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shall account for the purchase of the good or service in the same way that it accounts for other
purchases from suppliers. If the amount of consideration payable to the customer exceeds the fair
value of the distinct good or service that the entity receives from the customer, then the entity shall
account for such an excess as a reduction of the transaction price” (emphasis added).

Similarly, under ASC 705-20-25-1 and 25-2, an entity will need to determine whether consideration from
a vendor is in exchange for a distinct good or service (as described in ASC 606-10-25-19 through
25-22) that the entity transfers to the vendor. If an entity concludes that consideration received from a
vendor is related to distinct goods or services provided to the vendor, the entity should account for the
consideration received from the vendor in the same way that it accounts for other sales (e.g, in
accordance with ASC 606 if distinct goods or services are sold to a customer). If the consideration is not
in exchange for a distinct good or service and is also unrelated to the items described in ASC 705-20-
25-1(b) and (c), the entity should account for consideration received from a vendor as a reduction

of the purchase price of the goods or services acquired from the vendor. Also similar to the

guidance in ASC 606-10-32-25 and 32-26 is the requirement in ASC 705-20-25-2 that any excess of

the consideration received from the vendor over the stand-alone selling price of the good or service
provided to the vendor should be accounted for as a reduction of the purchase price of any goods or
services purchased from the vendor.?

Notwithstanding the similarities between ASC 705-20 and ASC 606, determining whether an entity is

a customer or a vendor in certain arrangements may be challenging. There are certain arrangements
in which an entity may enter into one or more contracts with another entity that is both a customer
and a vendor. That is, the reporting entity may enter into one or more contracts with another entity to
(1) sell goods or services that are an output of the reporting entity's ordinary activities in exchange for
consideration from the other entity and (2) purchase goods or services from the other entity. In these
types of arrangements, the reporting entity will need to use judgment to determine whether the other
entity is predominantly a customer or predominantly a vendor. This determination might not be able
to be made solely on the basis of the contractual terms. In such cases, the reporting entity will need to
consider the facts and circumstances of the overall arrangement with the other entity.

To determine whether the other entity is predominantly a customer or predominantly a vendor in the
arrangement, the reporting entity should consider both qualitative and quantitative factors, including the
following:

* The extent to which the goods or services purchased from the other entity are important to the
reporting entity’s ability to successfully sell its products and services to customers, or the extent
to which the goods or services purchased from the reporting entity are important to the other
entity.

* The quantitative significance of the reporting entity's past, current, and expected future

(1) purchases from the other entity and (2) sales to the other entity.
* The extent to which the reporting entity sells other products and services to the other entity.
» The historical relationship between the reporting entity and the other entity.

» The pricing of the reporting entity's products and services sold to the other entity as compared
with the pricing of products and services that the reporting entity sells to other customers of
similar size and nature.

2 If an entity concludes that the consideration received from a vendor was not in exchange for a distinct good or service that the entity transferred
to the vendor, the entity will be required under ASC 705-20-25-1 to (1) determine whether the consideration received was either a reimbursement
of costs incurred by the entity to sell the vendor’s products or consideration for sales incentives offered to customers by manufacturers and
(2) account for the consideration received accordingly.
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* The pricing of the other entity’'s goods and services purchased by the reporting entity as
compared with the pricing of similar goods and services that the reporting entity purchases
from other vendors.

* The substance of the contract negotiation process or contractual terms between the reporting
entity and the other entity, which may indicate that (1) the reporting entity is the customer and
the other entity is the vendor or (2) the other entity is the customer and the reporting entity is
the vendor.

* The payment terms and cash flows between the reporting entity and the other entity.

* The significance of other parties involved in the arrangement.

2.6 Allocate the Transaction Price to the Performance Obligations (Step 4)

In step 4 of the revenue standard, an entity allocates the transaction price to each of the identified
performance obligations. For a contract containing more than one performance obligation, the
allocation is generally performed on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct
performance obligation. However, as discussed in Chapter 7 of Deloitte’s Roadmap Revenue Recognition,
there are exceptions that allow an entity to allocate a disproportionate amount of the transaction

price to a specific performance obligation. For example, an entity may allocate a discount to a single
performance obligation rather than proportionately to all performance obligations if certain factors
indicate that the discount is related to a specific performance obligation.

In addition, in arrangements that include a license of IP along with ongoing services (e.g., R&D or
manufacturing) that represent distinct performance obligations, an entity is required to allocate the total
transaction price between the license and the services. If a history of selling the services or IP separately
does not exist, the entity will need to estimate the stand-alone selling price of each performance
obligation by using one of the following methods:

» Adjusted market assessment approach — Under this method, an entity considers the market in
which the good or service is sold and estimates the price that a customer in that market would
be willing to pay. In addition, the entity considers a competitor's pricing for similar goods or
services as adjusted for specific factors such as position For example, a life sciences company
may need to consider the specific rights associated with the license, the stage of development of
the underlying IP, and the projected cash flows over the license period. In some cases, it may be
appropriate to use a Monte Carlo analysis, a scenario-based discounted cash flow method, an
option pricing model, or a similar valuation technique to estimate the stand-alone selling price
of the license. Regarding the R&D services, prices of similar services offered in the marketplace
may be considered.

o Expected cost plus a margin — Under this method, an entity estimates the stand-alone selling
price by considering the costs incurred to produce the product or service plus an adjustment for
the expected margin on the sale. This method may be appropriate for an entity to use when it
determines the selling price of R&D or manufacturing services by considering the level of effort
necessary to perform the services.

* Residual approach — This approach may only be used if the entity sells the same good or service
to different customers for a broad range of amounts, making the consideration highly variable,
or the entity has not yet established a price for that good or service and the good or service has
not previously been sold. Under this method, the entity deducts the observable stand-alone
selling price of other goods and services in the contract from the total transaction price to
determine the stand-alone selling price of the remaining goods and services.
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In many other respects, the allocation model under the revenue standard may be similar to the model
under legacy guidance, except for the revenue standard'’s elimination of the selling price hierarchy
required under legacy guidance.

2.7 Determine When to Recognize Revenue (Step 5)

In @ manner consistent with the core principle of the revenue standard — “an entity shall recognize
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services” (emphasis added) — step 5 focuses on recognition (i.e., when it is appropriate to recognize
revenue).

The revenue standard requires an entity first to determine, at contract inception, whether contro/ of a
good or service is transferred over time; if so, the entity would recognize the related revenue over time
in @ manner consistent with the transfer of the good or service over time to the customer. If the entity
cannot conclude that control is transferred over time, control is considered to be transferred at a point
in time. As a result, the entity must determine at what specific point in time to recognize the related
revenue. While generally speaking, goods are transferred at a point in time and services are transferred
over time, this is not the case in all circumstances. Some of the more common issues that life sciences
entities have faced when considering step 5 are described below.

2.7.1 When Revenue Recognition Over Time Is Appropriate for Goods (e.g.,
Contract Manufacturing)

Contract manufacturing is common in the life sciences industry. Entities that are delivering goods (e.g.,
contract manufacturers and other entities in customer manufacturing arrangements) should carefully
analyze the contractual arrangement in accordance with the three criteria in ASC 606-10-25-27 to
determine whether the promise in the contract to construct and transfer goods to the customer is a
performance obligation that will be satisfied over time or at a point in time.

If an entity’s obligation to produce a customized product meets one of the criteria in ASC 606-10-25-27
for revenue recognition over time (e.g., the entity's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use, and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date),
revenue related to that product would be recognized as the product is produced, not when the product
is delivered to the customer.

For example, an entity that has a contract with an original equipment manufacturer (OEM) to produce a
customized part for the OEM's product would meet the criteria for revenue recognition over time if the
customized part has no alternative use other than as a part for the OEM's product and, as stated in ASC
606-10-25-29, the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date “at all
times throughout the duration of the contract.” ASC 606-10-25-28 and 25-29 as well as ASC 606-10-55-8
through 55-15 provide detailed guidance on whether an asset has an alternative use to the entity and
whether an entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. An entity
would need to carefully analyze the contractual arrangements and the specific facts and circumstances
to determine whether those criteria are met.

If it concludes that revenue should be recognized over time, the entity would then be required to select
a method of recognizing revenue over time that most faithfully depicts the entity's performance to date
for producing the product. Therefore, contract revenue should be recognized as the entity performs (i.e.,
as the product is produced) rather than when the product is delivered to the customer.
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In certain contract manufacturing arrangements of life sciences entities, inventory that is being
manufactured has no alternative use (e.g., because the product cannot be redirected to another
customer), and the contract terms provide the right to payment for performance completed to date in
an amount that approximates the selling price of the work in process (e.g., recovery of the costs incurred
plus a reasonable profit margin) if the contract is canceled. In these arrangements, revenue should be
recognized over time as inventory is manufactured.

Entities may need to use judgment when evaluating some of these arrangements (e.g., when contracts
are silent or unclear about whether a right to payment exists). We believe that when a contract's written
terms do not specify the entity’s right to payment upon contract termination, an enforceable right to
payment is presumed not to exist. However, if the contract with the customer does not specify by its
written terms the entity's right to payment upon contract termination and the entity asserts that it has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date, we would expect the entity to:

» Support its assertion on the basis of legislation, administrative practice, or legal precedent that
confers upon the entity a right to payment for performance to date, as stated in ASC 606-10-
55-14(a). This analysis would need to demonstrate that an enforceable right to payment (as
defined by ASC 606) exists in the relevant jurisdiction. The fact that the entity would have a basis
for making a claim against the counterparty in a court of law would not be sufficient to support
the existence of an enforceable right to payment.

» Assess whether relevant legal precedent indicates that similar rights to payment for
performance completed to date in similar contracts have no binding legal effect, as stated in
ASC 606-10-55-14(b).

2.7.2 Impact of Shipping Terms on Revenue Recognition Over Time

Shipping terms in a contract that require a customer to pay only at a specific point in time (e.g., FOB
destination) do not preclude the contract from meeting the criterion in ASC 606-10-25-27(c) for revenue
recognition over time (specifically, the enforceable right to payment condition).

The guidance in ASC 606-10-55-12 makes clear that an enforceable right to payment “need not be a
present unconditional right to payment” and that an entity may have “an unconditional right to payment
only ... upon complete satisfaction of the performance obligation.” In these circumstances, the guidance
states, “an entity should consider whether it would have an enforceable right to demand or retain
payment for performance completed to date if the contract were to be terminated before completion
for reasons other than the entity’s failure to perform as promised’ (emphasis added).

When a contract's shipping terms require an entity's customer to pay only at a specific point in time
(e.g., FOB destination), the possibility that the entity will not be paid if the goods are lost in shipment
would represent “the entity's failure to perform as promised” and should be disregarded in the entity's
assessment of whether the performance obligation meets the criterion in ASC 606-10-25-27(c) for
revenue recognition over time (i.e., when an entity is assessing whether it has an enforceable right

to payment, it should presume that it will perform as promised and that the goods will be delivered).
Accordingly, the conclusion that the entity has an enforceable right to payment is not precluded

when the contract's payment terms require payment only at specific points in the production or
delivery process. Those payment terms may be overruled by contractual rights that give the entity an
enforceable right to demand or retain payment (if the entity performs as promised). Therefore, the fact
that the customer would not be required to pay for the goods if they were lost in transit would not, by
itself, preclude the contract from meeting the criterion in ASC 606-10-25-27(c) for revenue recognition
over time.
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2.7.3 Methods for Measuring Progress

When a performance obligation is satisfied over time, an entity must select a measure of progress (e.g.,
time elapsed, labor hours, costs incurred) to depict its progress toward complete satisfaction of that
obligation.

In accordance with ASC 606-10-25-33, appropriate methods of measuring progress include:

*  Output methods — ASC 606-10-55-17 states that output methods “recognize revenue on the
basis of direct measurements of the value to the customer of the goods or services transferred
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract.” These
methods include “surveys of performance completed to date, appraisals of results achieved,
milestones reached, time elapsed, and units produced or units delivered.”

* Input methods — ASC 606-10-55-20 states that input methods “recognize revenue on the basis
of the entity's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation (for example,
resources consumed, labor hours expended, costs incurred, time elapsed, or machine hours
used) relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation.”

In discussing the selection of a measure of progress, paragraph BC164 of ASU 2014-09 states:

The [FASB and IASB] decided that, conceptually, an output measure is the most faithful depiction of an entity's
performance because it directly measures the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer.
However, the Boards observed that it would be appropriate for an entity to use an input method if that method
would be less costly and would provide a reasonable proxy for measuring progress.

The above statement from paragraph BC164 of ASU 2014-09 does not mean that it is preferable

for an entity to use an output method when measuring progress toward complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation. As stated in paragraph BC159 of ASU 2014-09, an entity does not have a free
choice in selecting an appropriate method of measuring progress toward complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation but should exercise judgment in identifying a method that fulfills the stated
objective in ASC 606-10-25-31 of depicting an entity's performance in transferring control of goods or
services promised to a customer (i.e., the satisfaction of the performance obligation).

Neither an input method nor an output method is preferred since each has benefits and disadvantages
that will make it more or less appropriate to the facts and circumstances of each contract. While an
output method is, as stated in paragraph BC164 of ASU 2014-09, conceptually preferable in a general
sense, an appropriate measure of output will not always be directly observable; and sometimes, an
apparent measure of output will not in fact provide an appropriate measure of an entity's performance.
Information needed to apply an input method is more likely to be available to an entity without undue
cost, but care should be taken to ensure that any measure of an entity’s inputs used is reflective of the
transfer of control of goods or services to the customer.

Considerations that may be relevant to the selection of a measure of progress include the following:

» An output method would not provide a faithful depiction of the entity's performance if the
output selected fails to measure some of the goods or services transferred to the customer.
For example, a units-of-delivery or a units-of-production method may sometimes understate
an entity's performance by excluding work in progress that is controlled by the customer. (See
paragraph BC165 of ASU 2014-09.)

* Aninput method may better reflect progress toward complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation over time when (1) the performance obligation consists of a series of distinct goods
or services that meets the criteria in ASC 606-10-25-14(b) to be treated as a single performance
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obligation and (2) the effort required to create and deliver the first units is greater than the effort
to create the subsequent units because of the effect of a “learning curve” of efficiencies realized
over time. (See paragraph BC314 of ASU 2014-09.)

* An entity applying an input method must exclude from its measure of progress the costs
incurred that (1) do not contribute to the entity's progress in satisfying a performance obligation
(e.g., the costs of unexpected amounts of wasted materials) and (2) are not proportionate to the
entity’s progress in satisfying the performance obligation (e.g., the cost of obtaining goods from
a vendor that accounts for most of the product’s cost). (See ASC 606-10-55-21.)

Connecting the Dots

@ In the life sciences industry, CROs often incur out-of-pocket expenses and “pass-through
costs” related to payments made to investigators (physicians) who participate in the clinical
studies being conducted. Under the revenue standard, if the CRO activity is part of a combined
performance obligation, these costs should generally be included in a CRO's measure of
progress when a cost-based input measure is used to recognize revenue over time.

2.7.3.1 Consideration of Straight-Line Measure of Progress

Although ASC 606-10-55-16 through 55-21 provide guidance on when an entity would use an input or
output method in measuring progress toward the complete satisfaction of a performance obligation,
the guidance does not prescribe the use of either method. However, an entity does not have a “free
choice” when selecting a measure of progress. While an entity may use either type of method, the
actual method selected should be consistent with the clearly stated objective of depicting the entity's
performance (i.e., the entity’s satisfaction of its performance obligation in transferring control of goods
or services to the customer).

Although ASC 606 does not permit an entity to default to a straight-line measure of progress on the
basis of the passage of time (i.e., because a straight-line measure of progress may not faithfully depict
the pattern of transfer), ASC 606 does not prohibit the use of a straight-line measure of progress,

and such a time-based method may be reasonable in some cases depending on the facts and
circumstances. Sometimes, for example, the nature of the entity's promise in a contract is to “stand
ready” for a period rather than to provide the goods or services underlying the obligation (e.g., to
perform on a joint steering committee, provide regulatory approval assistance when necessary, or both).
In the case of a stand-ready promise, the customer obtains (i.e., receives and consumes) a benefit from
the assurance that a service or resource is available (“standing ready”) when and if needed or desired.
For a stand-ready obligation that is satisfied over time, an entity may measure progress toward complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation by using one of various methods, including time-based,

input, and output methods. An entity would need to use judgment to select an appropriate measure of
progress on the basis of the arrangement’s particular facts and circumstances.

2.7.3.2 Use of a Multiple Attribution Approach (as Compared With a Single
Method for Measuring Progress)

Life sciences entities such as CROs often provide multiple services for their customers (pharmaceutical
and biotechnology entities). For example, CROs may help design studies, recruit investigators
(physicians), recruit patients, help manage clinical trials, monitor safety, and write reports on study
results. If an entity concludes that its contract with a customer contains a single performance obligation
(i.e., in the context of the contract, the various services to be performed are not distinct) and that the
performance obligation is satisfied over time, the entity is required to identify an appropriate measure
to depict progress toward complete satisfaction of its performance obligation (see ASC 606-10-25-31
through 25-37).
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For performance obligations meeting the requirements for revenue recognition over time, the entity
must select a method for measuring progress toward satisfaction of the performance obligation.

Although the revenue standard indicates that an entity should apply a single method to measure
progress for each performance obligation satisfied over time, stakeholders have questioned whether
an entity may apply more than one method to measure progress toward satisfaction of a performance
obligation that contains multiple goods and services bundled and recognized over time. In addition,
stakeholders have questioned whether it would be acceptable to apply two different methods for
measuring progress even though the contract has only one performance obligation.

The FASB staff notes that the revenue standard clearly indicates that “using multiple methods of
measuring progress for the same performance obligation would not be appropriate.” Accordingly, the
staff concludes that an entity should use a single measure of progress for each performance obligation
identified in the contract.

In addition, the FASB staff observes that selecting a common measure of progress may be challenging
when a single performance obligation contains more than one good or service or has multiple payment
streams, although it emphasizes that the selection is not a free choice. Further, the staff notes that while
a common measure of progress that does not depict the economics of the contract may indicate that
the arrangement contains more than one performance obligation, it is not determinative. However, a
reexamination may suggest that the contract includes more performance obligations than were initially
identified.

The above issues are addressed in Implementation Q&As 47 and 48 (compiled from previously issued
TRG Agenda Papers 41 and 44). For additional information and Deloitte's summary of issues discussed
in the Implementation Q&As, see Appendix C of Deloitte’'s Roadmap Revenue Recognition.

Connecting the Dots

The revenue standard requires an entity to identify a single measure of progress that
appropriately depicts its progress toward complete satisfaction of the performance obligation.
As a result, CROs have generally concluded that input measures should be used under ASC 606.

2.8 Consignment Arrangements

Although physical possession is an indicator that control has been transferred to the customer, ASC
606-10-25-30(c) cautions that there are some arrangements in which physical possession may not be
indicative of control. One example is a consignment arrangement.

Consignment arrangements occasionally exist in the life sciences industry (e.g., a medical device may
be delivered to a hospital under a consignment arrangement until the device is needed for a surgery).
Under ASC 606, the accounting for consignment arrangements may be consistent with legacy U.S.
GAAP if control of the products delivered to a consignee is not transferred until the consignee sells the
products to a third party.

3 Quoted from Implementation Q&A 47.
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2.9 Government Vaccine Stockpile Programs

In August 2017, the SEC issued an interpretive release (the “2017 release”) updating the Commission’s
previously issued guidance on accounting for sales of vaccines and bioterror countermeasures to the
federal government for placement into stockpiles related to the Vaccines for Children Program or the
Strategic National Stockpile. The update was aimed at conforming the SEC's guidance with ASC 606.

Under the guidance in the 2017 release, vaccine manufacturers should recognize revenue when
vaccines are placed into U.S. government stockpile programs because control of the vaccines has
been transferred to the customer. However, these entities also need to evaluate whether storage,
maintenance, or other promised goods or services associated with vaccine stockpiles are separate
performance obligations. The guidance in the 2017 release applies only to the stockpile programs
discussed in that release and is not applicable to any other transactions.

2.10 Licensing

Under the revenue standard, the framework used to account for licensing of IP is essentially the

same as the framework used to account for a sale of goods or services. That is, the five-step model is
generally applied to licensing transactions as well. However, licensing of IP can take many forms, and
the economics and substance of such transactions can often be difficult to identify. Determining how
to account for licensing transactions will often depend on the specific facts and circumstances and

will require professional judgment. To help preparers exercise such judgment, the revenue standard
provides supplemental guidance on recognizing revenue from contracts related to the licensing of IP
to customers. The scope of the guidance includes all licenses that provide a customer with rights to IP,
except for certain software hosting arrangements.

In the evaluation of how to account for a licensing transaction under the revenue standard, it is
important for an entity to consider each of the five steps in the model (although, as discussed below,
certain exceptions are provided for licensing transactions). Specifically, an entity will need to do each of
the following:

» Step 1. Identify the contract with the customer — This step includes identifying the counterparty
that is the customer, evaluating the enforceable rights and obligations (including implicit
rights) of each party to the contract, and determining whether amounts under the contract are
collectible.

o Step 2. Identify the performance obligations under the contract — This includes determining
whether the entity's obligation to transfer a license to a customer results in (1) a single
promise that will be satisfied (i.e., a single performance obligation) or (2) multiple performance
obligations. This step could also involve determining whether the license of IP is the
predominant element in the arrangement.

s Step 3: Determine the transaction price — This includes identifying and, potentially, measuring and
constraining variable consideration.

o Step 4. Allocate the transaction price — This includes considering whether the residual method
could be used for determining the stand-alone selling price of one (or a bundle) of the
performance obligations.

» Step 5: Determine when control of the license is transferred to the customer — This includes
determining whether the license is transferred at a point in time (for a right to use IP) or over
time (for a right to access IP).
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Some of the key judgments an entity will need to make are likely to be in connection with step 2 (identify
the performance obligations), step 4 (allocate the transaction price), and step 5 (recognize revenue)

of the model. As part of step 2, an entity will need to evaluate license restrictions (and changes in any
such restrictions) when determining whether the restrictions merely define the licenses (which may

be the case when the restrictions are related to time or geography) or, in effect, give rise to multiple
performance obligations (which may be the case when the restrictions change over the license period
and require the entity to transfer additional rights to the customer).

As part of step 5, when an entity is determining whether it has granted a customer a right to use or a
right to access its IP, it will need to assess the nature of the promised license to determine whether the
license has significant stand-alone functionality. For licenses with significant stand-alone functionality,
ongoing activities* of the licensor do not significantly affect the license's functionality (i.e., its utility).
However, certain licenses do not have significant stand-alone functionality and require ongoing activities
from the entity to support or maintain the license's utility to the customer. The nature of an entity's
license of IP will determine the pattern of transfer of control to the customer, which is either at a point
in time (if the customer is granted a right to use the IP) or over time (if the customer is granted a right to
access the IP).

Connecting the Dots

@ It is common in the life sciences industry for an entity to transfer a license of IP along with R&D
services to the customer as a single performance obligation. The license may not be capable
of being distinct without the R&D services. That is, the R&D services performed by the entity
may be novel, requiring the entity to provide the R&D services for the customer to benefit from
the license. In determining when revenue should be recognized for the single performance
obligation with two promised goods (the delivery of the license and R&D services), the entity
must determine whether the single performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point
in time. In this type of transaction, the criteria in ASC 606-10-25-27(a) and (b) for recognizing
revenue over time may be met. The entity may conclude that the criterion in ASC 606-10-
25-27(a) is met if it determines that the work that it has completed to date (related to the R&D
services) would not need to be substantially reperformed by another entity if the other entity
were to step in to fulfill the remaining performance obligation to the customer (since this would
mean that the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
entity's performance of the R&D services as the entity performs those services). In addition, the
entity may conclude that the criterion in ASC 606-10-25-27(b) is met if it determines that (1) the
customer obtains control of the license (i.e., the customer has the ability to direct the use of,
and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from, the license) and (2) the R&D services
provided will simultaneously enhance the license.

Alternatively, life sciences entities may enter into a contract with a customer to perform R&D
services and provide the customer with an option to exclusively license the IP resulting from the
R&D services at a stated price during the period in which the R&D services are performed or
for a certain specified period after performance of the R&D services is completed. The option
is priced at its stand-alone selling price and therefore does not represent a material right. The
promise to provide R&D services may represent a single performance obligation; if so, the
entity must determine whether the performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a point
in time. In this type of transaction, the criterion in ASC 606-10-25-27(a) for recognizing revenue
over time may be met. The entity may conclude that the criterion in ASC 606-10-25-27(a) is
met if it determines that the work that it has completed to date (related to the R&D services)
would not need to be substantially reperformed by another entity if the other entity were to

4 These do not include activities that transfer one or more goods or services to the customer (e.g., maintenance activities), which an entity must
assess to determine whether they constitute separate performance obligations.
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step in to fulfill the remaining performance obligation to the customer (since this would mean
that the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the entity's
performance of the R&D services as the entity performs those services).

For licensing transactions in which consideration is tied to the subsequent sale or usage of IP, the
revenue standard provides an exception to the recognition principle that is part of step 5 (i.e., recognize
revenue when or as control of the goods or services is transferred to the customer). Under this sales-
or usage-based royalty exception, an entity would generally not be required to estimate the variable
consideration from sales- or usage-based royalties. Instead, ASC 606-10-55-65 requires an entity to
“recognize revenue for a sales-based or usage-based royalty promised in exchange for a license of
intellectual property only when (or as) the later of the following events occurs:

a. The subsequent sale or usage occurs.

b. The performance obligation to which some or all of the sales-based or usage-based royalty has
been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).”

Connecting the Dots

In the application of the sale- or usage-based royalty exception in ASC 606-10-55-65, it would
not be appropriate for an entity to omit sales- or usage-based royalties from its financial
statements merely because the associated sales data were received after the end of the
reporting period or were not received when the financial statements were issued or available to
be issued.

Some of the more common issues that life sciences entities have faced when considering the licensing
guidance of the revenue standard are discussed below.

2.10.1 License Versus In-Substance Sale of IP

An entity may license IP to a customer under an arrangement that gives the customer exclusive use of
the IP for either a perpetual term or a period that is substantially the same as the IP's useful life.

Stakeholders have questioned whether these arrangements would be within the scope of (1) the
licensing implementation guidance in ASC 606-10-55-54 through 55-65B or (2) the general recognition
and measurement model in the revenue standard, which could result in a different pattern of revenue
recognition. Specifically, concerns have been raised about the application of the sales- or usage-based
royalty exception. The FASB considered, but rejected, expanding the scope of the royalty recognition
constraint because of complexities in legal differences between a sale of IP and a license of IP. More
specifically, the FASB noted in the Background Information and Basis for Conclusions of ASU 2016-10
that an entity should not distinguish between licenses and in-substance sales in deciding whether the
royalty exception applies. We generally believe that the legal form of the transaction will determine
which revenue accounting guidance (i.e., the guidance on estimating royalties or the guidance on
applying the royalty recognition constraint) is applicable.

2.10.2 Determining Whether Contractual Provisions Represent Attributes of
a License or Additional Rights

A contract with a customer may contain provisions that limit the customer’s use of a license of IP to

a specific period, a specific geographic region, a specific use, or a specified number of targets. For
example, an entity may license drug distribution rights to a customer that can be (1) used for three
years, (2) made available only to consumers in North America, (3) used only for a specific drug indication,
and (4) used on a specified number of targets. Often, such restrictions will be attributes of the license.
That is, the restrictions will define the rights the customer has under the license. However, some
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restrictions, or changes in restrictions over time, will require an entity to transfer additional rights to

a customer. Specifically, ASC 606-10-55-64 and 55-64A clarify that (1) certain contractual provisions
indicate that an entity has promised to transfer additional rights (i.e., an additional license) to a customer
and (2) promises to transfer additional rights should be accounted for as separate performance
obligations. When a license of IP is limited to a specified number of targets, the arrangement may allow
for the customer to substitute targets (often referred to as “substitution rights”). An entity will need to
carefully evaluate whether these substitution rights represent attributes of the license or may require
the entity to transfer additional rights to the customer.

The following factors (not all-inclusive) may be helpful in an entity’'s determination of whether a
substitution right represents an attribute of the license or may require the entity to transfer additional
rights to the customer:

» Whether the contract provides for a fixed number of targets — The entity should consider whether
the customer can substitute one or more of the targets listed in the contract at inception
(“existing targets”) for one or more other existing targets that the customer previously
designated. If so, this implies that (1) the entity transferred the substitution right to the customer
at contract inception and (2) the substitution right is an attribute of the original license.

» Whether the exercise of the substitution right changes the number of targets allotted to the customer —
The entity should evaluate whether a substitution right that allows the customer to substitute
one or more existing targets for one or more other existing targets that the customer previously
designated changes the total number of targets allotted to the customer. For example, a
customer may purchase the right to research three targets (Target A, Target B, and Target Q).

If the customer initially designates Target A, has the right to substitute another existing target
for Target A, and loses the right to continue research on Target A, the total number of targets
allotted to the customer will still be three (i.e., the same number of targets available to the
customer at the inception of the contract), indicating that the substitution right is an attribute of
the license.

s Whether the entity is required to transfer an exclusive license to the customer in the event that the
substitution right is exercised — For example, when the customer exercises its substitution right,
it may obtain an exclusive right to the substitute target. This may imply that the entity has
provided an additional right to the customer since the entity is no longer able to license that
substitute target to a third party. However, if it is unlikely that the entity would exclusively license
that substitute target to a third party during the term of the contract because of the nature
of the underlying field of study, the entity may not be transferring any additional rights to the
customer upon the customer's exercise of its substitution right.

o Whether, in the event that the substitution right is exercised, the entity is required to transfer to the
customer additional rights that did not exist at contract inception — In the analysis of whether
the substitution right is an attribute of the license, it is important to understand whether the
substitution right transfers to the customer additional rights that did not exist at contract
inception. For example, if the customer can obtain control of newly developed IP that it did not
control when the license was transferred up front, the entity is transferring additional rights to
the customer upon the customer’s exercise of the substitution right.
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The determination of whether contractual provisions related to a license of IP represent an additional
promise may require significant judgment. Contractual provisions (restrictions) that define the scope

of a license of IP that has already been transferred to a customer would generally not be accounted

for as a separate performance obligation. For example, a restriction that limits the use of a license to a
five-year period would be an attribute of the single license. However, contractual provisions that define
additional rights that will be transferred at a future date would generally be accounted for as a separate
performance obligation, as illustrated in the example below.

An entity transfers to a customer a two-year license of IP that can be used only in Jurisdiction A during year 1
but can be used in both Jurisdiction A and Jurisdiction B during year 2. In this example, the customer does not
obtain control of the license in Jurisdiction B until year 2. That is, in year 2, the entity must transfer additional
rights that entitle the customer to use the license in Jurisdiction B. Although the entity transfers the license to
use the IP inJurisdiction A at the beginning of year 1, the entity must still fulfill a second promise to deliver the
license to use the IP in Jurisdiction B in year 2. Further, although the license of IP obtained by the customer in
year 1 may be the same license of IP that will be used in year 2 (i.e., the customer currently controls the right
to use or access the IP), the customer is precluded from using and benefiting from that license in Jurisdiction
B until year 2. The obligation to transfer additional rights to the customer at the beginning of year 2 should be
identified as an additional performance obligation under the contract with the customer.

2.10.3 Identifying the Nature of the License

In determining whether to recognize revenue from a license of IP over time or at a point in time, an
entity needs to determine the nature of the licensing arrangement. The nature of the arrangement is
determined on the basis of the entity’'s promise to the customer and whether that promise (1) provides
access to the IP throughout the license term (i.e., “right to access”) or (2) provides a right to use the IP

as it exists at the point in time when control of the license is transferred to the customer (i.e., “right to
use”). Revenue from a license that grants a right to access an entity's IP is recognized over time since the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the entity's IP throughout the license
periods (i.e., meets the requirement in ASC 606-10-25-27(a)). Revenue from a license that grants a right
to use an entity's IP is recognized at the point in time when control of the license is transferred to the
customer.

To assist in the evaluation of whether the license provides the customer with a right to access or right
to use the entity's IP, the revenue standard distinguishes between two types of IP: (1) functional and
(2) symbolic.

Examples of licenses of functional IP could include software, drug compounds and formulas, and
completed media content. In accordance with ASC 606-10-55-62, the nature of a license to functional

IP that is distinct will provide a customer with the right to use an entity's IP (i.e., point-in-time revenue
recognition) unless (1) the entity’'s ongoing activities that will not transfer promised goods to the
customer (i.e., those not deemed to be additional promised goods to the customer) will significantly
change the utility of the license and (2) the customer is contractually or practically required to use the
updated IP once available. If these criteria are met, the nature of the license is a right to access the
entity’s IP (i.e., a license for which revenue is recognized over time). As discussed in paragraph BC58 of
ASU 2016-10, the FASB expected that at the time of issuance of ASU 2016-10, the criteria in ASC 606-10-
55-62 "will be met only infrequently, if at all.” Consequently, revenue from a license of drug compounds
and formulas that represents a distinct performance obligation would generally represent a right to use
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an entity’s IP and would be recognized at the point in time when control of the license is transferred to
the customer. However, ASC 606-10-55-58C states the following;

ASC 606-10

55-58C Notwithstanding paragraphs 606-10-55-58A through 55-58B, revenue cannot be recognized from a
license of intellectual property before both:

a. An entity provides (or otherwise makes available) a copy of the intellectual property to the customer.

b. The beginning of the period during which the customer is able to use and benefit from its right to access
or its right to use the intellectual property. That is, an entity would not recognize revenue before the
beginning of the license period even if the entity provides (or otherwise makes available) a copy of the
intellectual property before the start of the license period or the customer has a copy of the intellectual
property from another transaction. For example, an entity would recognize revenue from a license
renewal no earlier than the beginning of the renewal period.

Connecting the Dots

Because revenue from customer renewals of licenses of IP cannot be recognized before both of
the conditions in ASC 606-10-55-58C are met, revenue from a renewal of a right-to-use license is
not recognized until the beginning of the renewal period, rather than when the parties agree to
the renewal.

2.10.4 Considerations for Determining Whether a License Is Predominant

Under the sales- or usage-based royalty exception to the revenue standard'’s general rule requiring an
entity to include variable consideration in the transaction price, if an entity is entitled to consideration

in the form of a sales- or usage-based royalty, revenue is not recognized until (1) the underlying sales or
usage has occurred and (2) the related performance obligation has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).
That is, an entity does not estimate the amount of a sales- or usage-based royalty at contract inception;
rather, revenue would be recognized when (or as) the subsequent sales or usage occurs (under the
assumption that the associated performance obligation has been satisfied or partially satisfied).

As explained in ASC 606-10-55-65A, the sales- or usage-based royalty exception applies “when the
royalty relates only to a license of intellectual property or when a license of intellectual property is the
predominant item to which the royalty relates (for example, the license of intellectual property may be
the predominant item to which the royalty relates when the entity has a reasonable expectation that the
customer would ascribe significantly more value to the license than to the other goods or services to
which the royalty relates)” (emphasis added).

In the life sciences industry, licenses are often included with R&D services, manufacturing services, or
both, with consideration in the form of a sales-based royalty. When the license and the services do not
qualify as separate performance obligations, an entity will need to use significant judgment to assess
whether the IP license is “the predominant item to which the royalty relates.”
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The revenue standard does not define “predominant.” However, ASC 606-10-55-65A notes that the
license may be predominant “when the entity has a reasonable expectation that the customer would
ascribe significantly more value to the license than to the other goods or services to which the royalty
relates.” Consequently, life sciences entities should consider the customer’s perspective of value and
the relative importance and value of the promised goods or services. For example, in a combined
license and R&D arrangement, an entity might consider the remaining clinical trial studies that need to
be completed and the expected size of the market upon approval. Since different interpretations may
arise in practice and the consequences of these differences could be significant to the timing of revenue
recognition, entities are encouraged to contemporaneously document the basis for their conclusion on
whether the license, rather than the other services, is predominant.

2.10.5 Applicability of the Sales- or Usage-Based Royalty Exception to Sales-
Based Milestones, Development-Based Milestones, or Guaranteed Minimum
Royalties

The sales- or usage-based royalty exception would apply to sales-based milestones because the
payment becomes due on the basis of the subsequent sales to the customer. However, the exception
cannot be applied to development-based milestone payments because these payments are not
contingent on the sales to or usage by the customer. In addition, the exception cannot be applied to
guaranteed minimum royalties because those payments are essentially fixed consideration. However,
the exception would apply to any variable royalty consideration that exceeds the fixed (guaranteed
minimum) portion.

Connecting the Dots

@ In certain license arrangements, a milestone payment is due upon the first commercial sale of
a product by the licensee. That is, such a payment does not represent a guaranteed minimum
since it becomes due and payable only upon the achievement of a sale. Accordingly, we believe
that an entity may (1) consider this type of milestone payment to be similar to a sales-based
milestone payment because it is payable only upon a sale of the drug and (2) recognize it in a
manner consistent with the guidance on sales- or usage-based royalties.

2.10.6 Interaction of Sales- or Usage-Based Royalty Exception With
Measuring Progress Towards Satisfaction of a Performance Obligation

When applying the sales- or usage-based royalty exception, an entity typically would recognize revenue
when (or as) the customer’s subsequent sales or usage occurs. However, if the sales- or usage-based
royalties accelerate revenue recognition as compared with the entity’s satisfaction (or partial satisfaction)
of the associated performance obligation, the entity may be precluded from recognizing some or all of
the revenue as the subsequent sales or usage occurs.

ASC 606-10-55-65 specifies that revenue from a sales- or usage-based royalty promised in exchange for
a license of IP is recognized only when (or as) the later of the following events occurs:

a. The subsequent sale or usage occurs.

b. The performance obligation to which some or all of the sales-based or usage-based royalty has been
allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).
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Accordingly, revenue should be deferred if, and to the extent that, recognition based on subsequent
sales or usage (i.e., criterion (a)) is judged to be in advance of satisfaction of a performance obligation
(i.e., criterion (b)). Royalty arrangements can differ greatly between entities and between contracts.
Further, the timing of the recognition of royalties can depend on the nature of the underlying IP

(i.e., right to access or right to use) as well as the structure of the royalty payments. Therefore, the
determination of whether revenue from royalties should be deferred will depend on an analysis of the
specific facts and circumstances.

Consider the example below, in which the parties agree to a variable royalty arrangement with declining
royalties in return for the license of functional IP.

An entity enters into a contract to provide a customer with a noncancelable license to the entity’s IP. The entity
determines that the license is a right-to-use license (i.e., a license for which revenue is recognized at a point

in time) for a three-year period. The customer’s estimated sales are expected to be approximately equal for
each of the three years under license. For the use of the IP, the agreement requires the customer to pay the
entity a royalty of 10 percent of the customer’s sales in year 1, 8 percent of the customer’s sales in year 2, and 6
percent of the customer’s sales in year 3.

The entity should account for the royalty payments in a manner consistent with the legal form of the
arrangement and in accordance with the exception to the variable consideration guidance for licenses of

IP that include a sales- or usage-based royalty. Consequently, the entity would include the royalties in the
transaction price on the basis of the applicable contractual rate and the customer’s sales in each year and
then, in accordance with ASC 606-10-55-65, recognize revenue at the later of when (1) the “subsequent sale or
usage occurs” or (2) the “performance obligation to which some or all of the sales-based or usage-based royalty
has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).” Because the license is a right-to-use license for
which control is transferred at the inception of the contract, the “later” of the two conditions is met when the
subsequent sales occur.

2.11 Presentation

2.11.1 Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities

ASC 606-10

45-1 When either party to a contract has performed, an entity shall present the contract in the statement of
financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship between the entity’s
performance and the customer’s payment. An entity shall present any unconditional rights to consideration
separately as a receivable.

45-2 If a customer pays consideration, or an entity has a right to an amount of consideration that is
unconditional (that is, a receivable), before the entity transfers a good or service to the customer, the entity
shall present the contract as a contract liability when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever
is earlier). A contract liability is an entity's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
entity has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

85



Deloitte | Life Sciences Industry Accounting Guide (2024)

ASC 606-10 (continued)

45-3 If an entity performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment is due, the entity shall present the contract as a contract asset, excluding any
amounts presented as a receivable. A contract asset is an entity’s right to consideration in exchange for goods
or services that the entity has transferred to a customer. An entity shall assess a contract asset for impairment
in accordance with Topic 310 on receivables. An impairment of a contract asset shall be measured, presented,
and disclosed in accordance with Topic 310 (see also paragraph 606-10-50-4(b)).

Pending Content (Transition Guidance: ASC 326-10-65-1)

45-3 If an entity performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration or before payment is due, the entity shall present the contract as a contract asset, excluding
any amounts presented as a receivable. A contract asset is an entity’s right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services that the entity has transferred to a customer. An entity shall assess a contract asset
for credit losses in accordance with Subtopic 326-20 on financial instruments measured at amortized cost.
A credit loss of a contract asset shall be measured, presented, and disclosed in accordance with Subtopic
326-20 (see also paragraph 606-10-50-4(b)).

A contract with a customer creates legal rights and obligations. The rights under the contract will
generally give rise to contract assets as the entity performs (or accounts receivable, if an unconditional
right to consideration exists); and contract liabilities are created when consideration is received (or
receivable) in advance of performance. Each reporting period, an entity is required to assess its financial
position related to its contracts with customers. Depending on the extent to which an entity has
performed and the amount of consideration received (or receivable) by the entity under a contract, the
entity could record a contract asset or a contract liability.

Receivables should be recorded separately from contract assets since only the passage of time is
required before consideration is due. That is, receivables are only subject to credit risk. In contrast,
contract assets are subject to more than just credit risk (i.e., they are also subject to performance
risk). For example, a contract asset would exist when an entity has a contract with a customer for
which revenue has been recognized (i.e., goods or services have been transferred to the customer),
but customer payment is contingent on a future event (i.e., satisfaction of additional performance
obligations or other events). As discussed in paragraph BC323 of ASU 2014-09, the FASB and IASB
believed that making a distinction between contract assets and receivables was important to financial
statement users.

ASC 606-10-45-5 addresses the use of alternative descriptions for contract assets and contract liabilities
as follows:

ASC 606-10

45-5 This guidance uses the terms contract asset and contract liability but does not prohibit an entity from using
alternative descriptions in the statement of financial position for those items. If an entity uses an alternative
description for a contract asset, the entity shall provide sufficient information for a user of the financial
statements to distinguish between receivables and contract assets.
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Paragraph BC321 of ASU 2014-09 notes the FASB's and IASB's observation that “some industries have
historically used different labels to describe contract assets and contract liabilities or may recognize
them in more than one line item either in the financial statements or in the notes.” ASC 606 does not
prohibit an entity from using alternative terms or from using additional line items to present the assets
and liabilities, but it requires an entity to provide appropriate disclosures that adequately describe the
assets and liabilities.

Terms that are commonly used in practice to describe contract assets and contract liabilities include, but
are not limited to, the following:

» Contract assets — Unbilled receivables, progress payments to be billed.

o Contract liabilities — Deferred revenue, unearned revenue.

Connecting the Dots

@ In the life sciences industry, CROs typically enter into long-term contracts with their customers
to perform clinical trial management services. Revenue from these services is generally
recognized over time. It is not uncommon for a CRO to perform under a contract in such a way
that performance to date exceeds the amounts of consideration received (or receivable) and
the CRO records a contract asset. For example, a CRO may have to meet certain contractual
milestones, such as patient enrollment metrics or investigator site approval, before having a
right to bill.

There is diversity in practice on how CROs present these amounts in the statement of financial
position and the descriptions used for these amounts. ASC 606 indicates that an entity should
provide sufficient information for a user of the financial statements to distinguish between
receivables and contract assets. One presentation option is to present accounts receivable,
unbilled services (i.e., services for which the right to bill is contingent solely on the passage of
time), and contract assets (contingent on a future event) as individual line items in the statement
of financial position. Alternatively, certain CROs may present one line item in the statement of
financial position for amounts that are contingent solely on the passage of time (e.g., accounts
receivable and unbilled services) and another line item for amounts that are contingent on
events other than the passage of time (e.g., contract assets), then disclose the composition of
the balance in the financial statement footnotes. Either approach is acceptable provided that the
disclosures are sufficiently clear to enable a financial statement user to understand the nature
and composition of the entity’s accounts receivable and contract assets, including whether
contract assets are conditioned on something other than the passage of time.

2.11.2 Government Grants

In the life sciences industry, it is common for an entity that is not an NFP to receive government grants
in support of R&D activities of the entity that are not associated with a customer-vendor relationship
and are therefore outside the scope of the revenue standard. Because there is no authoritative
guidance under U.S. GAAP on accounting for government grants received, life sciences entities have
considered applying sources of nonauthoritative accounting guidance and literature by analogy when
accounting for government grants. With respect to recognition, measurement, and income statement
presentation, some entities may have adopted an accounting policy of applying IAS 20 by analogy;
depending on the nature of the grant, such a policy may have resulted in accounting for a particular
grant as (1) a reduction of an asset, (2) an offset to an operating expense, or (3) income. In light of the
lack of authoritative U.S. GAAP related to the accounting for government grants, it is critical for an entity
to disclose its accounting policy for government grants when such amounts are material to the entity's
financial statements. See Section 13.71 for more information, including a discussion of recent standard-
setting activity related to disclosures about government assistance.

87



Deloitte | Life Sciences Industry Accounting Guide (2024)

2.11.3 Principal-Versus-Agent Considerations

As noted in Section 2.2.1, ASC 808 requires that each collaboration participant report costs incurred
and revenue generated from transactions with third parties in its income statement in accordance with
the principal-versus-agent guidance in ASC 606-10-55-36 through 55-40. The entity that is identified

as the principal in a transaction will recognize revenue based on the gross amount of consideration

to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for the specified good or service transferred. In
contrast, the entity that is identified as the agent in a transaction will recognize revenue based on the net
amount of consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for the specified good or
service transferred.

Application of the principal-versus-agent guidance that affects whether a life sciences entity recognizes
revenue based on gross or net amounts is not limited to collaborative arrangements. For example,
business development transactions in the life sciences industry frequently involve transition service
arrangements in which the seller performs certain transition services for the buyer (e.g., distribution,
billing, and collections) while marketing authorizations are obtained by the buyer to sell pharmaceutical
product in the jurisdiction. To determine whether the buyer should report revenues on a gross or a net
basis during the transition period, the buyer should assess whether the nature of the seller's promise to
the customer is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e., the seller
is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be provided by the buyer (i.e., the seller is an
agent), as indicated in ASC 606-10-55-36.

In accordance with ASC 606-10-55-36A, an entity should determine the nature of its promise by
identifying the specified goods or services to be provided to the customer and assessing whether it
controls each specified good or service before that good or service is transferred to the customer. When
making this determination under the revenue standard, the entity may be required to use significant
judgment.

Transition Services Agreement

Company X acquires Subsidiary Y from Company Z in exchange for cash consideration. The acquisition is
accounted for as a business combination under ASC 805. Subsidiary Y is a manufacturer of pharmaceutical
products, and Z is the distributor of those products. Company Z has the necessary licenses and authorizations
required to distribute the products, whereas X does not.

Companies X and Z enter into a transition services agreement (TSA) under which Z will continue performing
distribution services for Y's products for one year following the acquisition. Under the TSA, Z will hold legal title
to, and have physical possession of, the products before they are distributed to customers. Company X has
discretion in establishing the prices for the products, has the right to determine which customers the products
are sold to, and bears the risk of loss for the inventory of the products.

Company X determines that it is the principal in the TSA with Z because X controls the products before they
are transferred to customers. Company X has the right to direct the use of, and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from, the products.
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Example 2-14

Direct Title Arrangement

Company A recently received FDA approval for Product X but does not yet have all of the state distribution
licenses required to sell their product throughout the United States. While waiting to receive all of the state
distribution licenses, A enters into an agreement with a third-party logistics company (the “3PL") to use

the 3PL's distribution licenses to sell Product X. The 3PL will take legal title to, and physical possession of,

the product. However, A has the right to determine which customers Product X is sold to, has the right to
determine the price at which Product X is sold, and is primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide
Product X to its customers.

Company A determines that it is the principal in the arrangement with the 3PL because A controls Product X
before it is transferred to the customer. Company A has the right to direct the use of, and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits from, the asset (i.e., Product X).

2.12 Disclosure Requirements

As discussed in paragraph BC327 of ASU 2014-09, some of the main criticisms of the prior revenue
guidance from regulators and users of the financial statements were related to disclosure requirements.
Many entities' disclosures contained boilerplate language that, broadly speaking, regulators and users
found to be inadequate and lacking in cohesion with other disclosures, thus making it difficult for users
to understand entities’ revenues, judgments related to revenue, and how revenue was related to an
entity’s overall financial position. In addition, while disclosure has been a focus of the FASB and SEC in
recent years, that focus has been primarily related to disclosure overload and extensive disclosures
required on topics such as pensions, stock compensation, fair value, and income taxes. In response to
stakeholder feedback, the FASB has aimed to make disclosures more effective, better coordinated, and
less redundant. Although this has been an overall focus of the FASB and SEC, the lack of disclosure on
revenue was highlighted as a key area for improvement during the development of the revenue standard.

As a result, one of the goals of the FASB and IASB in the revenue project was to provide financial
statement users with more useful information through improved disclosures. ASC 606-10-50-1 outlines
the objective of the revenue standard's disclosure requirements as follows:

ASC 606-10

50-1 The objective of the disclosure requirements in this Topic is for an entity to disclose sufficient information
to enable users of financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue
and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. To achieve that objective, an entity shall disclose
qualitative and quantitative information about all of the following:

Its contracts with customers (see paragraphs 606-10-50-4 through 50-16)

b. The significant judgments, and changes in the judgments, made in applying the guidance in this Topic to
those contracts (see paragraphs 606-10-50-17 through 50-21)

C. Any assets recognized from the costs to obtain or fulfill a contract with a customer in accordance with
paragraph 340-40-25-1 or 340-40-25-5 (see paragraphs 340-40-50-1 through 50-6).

Some of the more common issues that life sciences entities have addressed when considering the
disclosure requirements of the revenue standard are discussed below.
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2.12.1 Level of Aggregation or Disaggregation

To comply with the “entity-wide” disclosure requirements of ASC 280, many life sciences companies
disclose revenues from products for major medical treatments, revenues from different types of
services (e.g., clinical development services vs. commercial services), revenues attributed to the entity’s
home country and foreign countries, and the individual customers (e.g., wholesalers) whose purchases
constitute 10 percent or more of the entity’s revenues. Entities are encouraged to document their
consideration of the disaggregation categories outlined in ASC 606.

2.12.2 Satisfied Performance Obligations

ASC 606 requires disclosure of the amount of revenue recognized in the current period that is related
to amounts allocated to performance obligations that were satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous
periods (e.g., because of changes in the variable consideration constraint). For example, development-
or approval-based milestone payments related to the delivery of a functional license of IP may have
been fully constrained because of the uncertainty of achieving the milestones. Once the milestone
payments are no longer constrained, an entity would be required to disclose the milestone payments
recognized in the current period that are related to amounts allocated to performance obligations that
were satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous periods.

2.12.3 Gross-to-Net Disclosures

Many pharmaceutical companies currently disclose a rollforward of gross-to-net balance sheet

reserves in MD&A. Some registrants also disclose a reconciliation of gross and net sales as reported

in the income statement. Some life sciences companies have considered including these types of
disclosures in the footnotes to the financial statements to meet certain variable consideration disclosure
requirements of the revenue standard, such as those related to disclosure of changes in estimates
associated with the transaction price and estimates associated with the variable consideration.

2.12.4 SEC Comment Letter Themes Related to Disclosures

The SEC staff's comments to registrants in the life sciences industry regarding revenue recognition have
primarily focused on (1) gross-to-net adjustments and (2) multiple-element arrangements.

2.12.4.1 Gross-to-Net Adjustments

Examples of SEC Comments

« To the extent that re-estimates of prior year gross-to-net variable consideration [are] significant in future
periods, please represent to us that you will disclose herein the impact on your product sales and operating
results and include in your financial statements the disclosure required by ASC 606-10-50-12A.

+ Please explain to us why adjustments to prior year estimates of gross-to-net variable consideration in the
aggregate of up to [X]% of total revenues are not material to your financial statements taken as a whole.
In this regard, [X]% of your total revenues for the first half of [year 2] equating to approximately $[X]
million appears that it could at least be quantitatively material to operating loss and pre-tax loss for the
first half of [year 2] and to your customer allowances liability at December 31, [year 1]. In addition, prior
period adjustments of that magnitude could significantly impact trends and explanation thereof could be
meaningful disclosure for investors.
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Examples of SEC Comments (continued)

« You identify product revenue recognition as a critical accounting estimate. Given the magnitude of your
net product sales and your gross-to-net adjustments as previously conveyed in your quarterly earnings
conference calls, please address the following:

o Provide us a roll forward of the accrual of each gross-to-net adjustment type (whether reflected as an
allowance against accounts receivable or a liability) that depicts the following for each annual period
from [date 1] to [date 2] and for the six-month period from [date 3] to [date 4]:
= Beginning balance;
= Current provision related to sales made in current period;
= Current provision related to sales made in prior periods;
= Actual returns or credits in current period related to sales made in current period;
= Actual returns or credits in current period related to sales made in prior periods; and

= Ending balance.

o Tell us the amount of and reason for significant fluctuations in the provision from period to period for
each type of gross-to-net adjustment, and the amount and reason that changes in your estimates of
these items had on your revenues and operations.

+ Please revise future filings to include all of the disclosures required by ASC 606-10-50, as applicable. For
example, provide the qualitative and quantitative disclosure about the significant judgments and changes
in judgments, including inputs and assumptions, related to your accounting for returns, rebates and
discounts, as set forth in ASC 606-10-50-1(b), 50-17, and 50-20, a description of the payment terms under
50-12, and disaggregated revenue under 50-5.

The recognition of revenue in the life sciences industry relies heavily on estimates and assumptions
related to returns, chargebacks, rebates, discounts, promotions, shelf stock adjustments, and other
adjustments to transaction prices that affect revenue. ASC 606-10-50-12A requires an entity to “disclose
revenue recognized in the reporting period from performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied)
in previous periods (for example, changes in transaction price).” The SEC staff has commented on
registrants’ disclosures of these types of changes in estimates in variable consideration, including the
magnitude and nature of any current-period adjustments to estimates made in prior periods. The

staff has also requested that registrants provide a rollforward of the accruals for each gross-to-net
adjustment in MD&A, including similar disclosures of current-period adjustments related to sales made

in prior periods.
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2.12.4.2 Multiple-Element Arrangements

Examples of SEC Comments

« You state that the development and manufacturing services for the [X] agreements are viewed as a
single performance obligation and therefore the upfront payments, future research and development
reimbursement payments and any potential additional development milestone payments under each
agreement will be deferred until the commencement of commercial manufacturing. Please address the
following:

o Identify for us each of the promised goods or services in these agreements including the transfers of
licenses and explain how you determined that you only had a single performance obligation under the
guidance in ASC 606-10-25-14.

o With reference to ASC 606-10-25-23 to 25-26, explain to us why revenue is deferred until
commencement of commercial manufacturing and how you considered that you have already
transferred the licenses and begun providing development services.

o Explain to us whether you intend to recognize revenue over time or at a point in time, and why with
reference to ASC 606-10-25-30 or 25-31, as applicable.

+ Please address the following as it relates to your determination that the performance obligations
represented a single performance obligation since the license, clinical development and manufacturing and
supply obligations were not distinct:

o [H]ow your statement . . . that [Customer X] was not granted any other rights to, or benefits from, the
intellectual property is consistent with . . . the agreements. The agreements appear to give [X] the right
to use [Product A] as necessary to . . . seek and obtain Regulatory Approval for the Licensed Product in
the Field in the Territory.

o [W]hy the license and research and development services, either alone or combined, are not capable
of being distinct from the manufacturing services pursuant to ASC 606-10-25-19a. In this respect,
the subcontracting and sublicensing rights . . . and step